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AFEH
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Financial Highlights

MR REE

2023 2022 Change
—E-=HF T EEY
RMB million RMB million %
AR®BEETR AREBEET %
Financial highlights MBME

Revenue Was 394.1 112.1 251.6
Gross profit E7 56.1 31.8 76.4
Profit (loss) for the year FREF (EE) 366.0 (57.0) N/A N R

Basic earnings (loss) per share FREARRBF (FE)

(RMB Cents) (ARES) 5.17 (0.84) N/A 73 B
Diluted earnings (loss) per share SlREEAT (EE)

(RMB Cents) (AR®ES) 5.08 (0.84) N/A 7~ R
Total assets BmEE 2,285.7 2,072.0 10.3
Total equity R faEa 397.6 44.5 793.5
Ratio highlights bR E
Gross profit margin RS 14.2 28.4 (50)
Working capital ratio (times) EBEESILE(F) 1.15 0.9 27.8
Quick ratio (times) REPLL () 0.07 0.1 (30)
Gearing ratio (%) BEXREELE (%) 74.0 92.0 (19.6)
Revenue (RMB million) Total equity (RMB million)

Wz (AREBET) EmeE(AREBEET)
1200 2500 23283
1000 2000
800
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2427 451.9
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200 [
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(Restated)
(g&E51)
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Chairperson’s Statement
FREHE

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of
Hua Yin International Holdings Limited (“Hua Yin International” or the
“Company”), | submit herewith the annual report of the Company and
its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) for the year ended 31 March
2023.

Going forward, the Group will continue to promote the in-depth
implementation of various projects based on “one core product strategy
coupled with a supplementary business”, whereby the Group will
accelerate the completion of the industrial layout of unique cultural
tourism and products such as ginseng, mineral water, etc. The Group
will proactively respond to the national strategy of “revitalizing the
northeast old industry base” and the “houses are built to be inhabited,
not for speculation” called for by the PRC Government, thereby steadily
completing the existing real estate projects while actively exploring new
models of real estate development, and seek new opportunities in the
establishment of the national real estate market system and security
system so as to form Hua Yin International's unique cultural tourism +
real estate development model.

With the advent of the post-pandemic era, people’s demand for healthy
food, health care products, healthy lifestyles, and enjoyment of a better
life and beliefs and spiritual levels has become stronger. Judging from
the domestic travel data during the Chinese New Year in 2023 and the
Labour Day holidays, domestic tourism and vacations have recovered
or even exceeded the level before the pandemic. In the first quarter
of 2023, the accumulated number of inbound and outbound tourism
exceeded 65 million and continued to show explosive growth. These
existing data and development trends will bring great benefits to the
Group’s existing and upcoming unique cultural tourism projects and help
the Group gain more development opportunities. Therefore, the Group
will closely focus on its core strategies, seize favorable opportunities
to develop unique cultural tourism and open up premium resources in
Changbaishan, accelerate strategies implementation progress, integrate
more resources, and make sufficient preparations for the upcoming
peak demand for tourism, vacation and big health products. The Group
will realize more benefits and returns for shareholders through the
development of unique cultural tourism industry and products made
with premium resources in Changbaishan such as ginseng, mineral
water, etc.

On behalf of the Board, | would like to express my deepest gratitude
to the shareholders, investors, business partners and customers who
have given us great support, as well as the directors, management and
employees who have worked hard with the Company. The continuous
and stable development of the Group is inseparable from your strong
support.

Cui Xintong
Co-Chairperson
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEEE WD AT

BUSINESS REVIEW

For the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group’s overall revenue
was approximately RMB394.1 million (year ended 31 March 2022:
approximately RMB112.1 million), representing an increase of 251.6%.
The Group recorded a gross profit of approximately RMB56.1 million,
(year ended 31 March 2022: approximately RMB31.8 million). Net profit
for the year was approximately RMB366.0 million (year ended 31 March
2022: net loss for the year of approximately RMB57.0 million).

Outlook

Looking forward, the Group will emphasise its development in (i)
unique cultural tourism property development; and (i) exploration of
resources within Jilin Province, such as ginseng and mineral water. The
Group’s management has carried out feasibility studies on potential
new opportunities and has obtained the Board’s approval to develop
an execution plan. This enables the Group to (i) enrich the Group’s
business portfolio; (i) create a sustainable business development model;
(iii) diversify the Group’s business risk from its property development
business; and (iv) most important of all, bring value to its shareholders,
employees and other stakeholders.

Property Development

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group’s project in Jiutai
District, Changchun City, namely Guangze Jiuxi Red House — Phase |,
was completed and delivered. The Phase Il of the project is currently
under construction.

In addition, the Group’s project in Baishan City, namely Guangze
China House continued its development for the year. After completion
and delivery of its Phase IA, the project is carrying out its Phase I
development, with its pre-sale commenced in fourth quarter of 2022.

HUA YIN INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED # ZEIEE#Z R B R A 7
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)
Property Development (continued)

In the coming years, the Group will continue to replenish its land reserve
on a prudent approach given the property market in the PRC remains
filled with uncertainties. The Group’s management will focus the land
replenishment within the Northeastern area of the PRC where the Group
has vast local experience. Up to the date of this report, the Group has
established a non wholly-owned project company with an intention
to auction a land parcel in Dunhua City to increase the Group’s land
reserve.

Properties completed, delivered and sale of properties
recognised during the year ended 31 March 2023

The Group recorded an increase in sale of properties by approximately
RMB284.1 million or 436.8% from the sales of approximately RMB65.0
million for the year ended 31 March 2022 to the sales of approximately
RMB349.2 million for the year ended 31 March 2023.

For the year ended 31 March 2023, the sales of properties (excluding
car park units) mainly related to two newly completed projects; Guangze
Jiuxi Red House — Phase | and Guangze China House — Phase IA.
Together with the sales of the remaining residential and commercial
units of the property projects that were completed in the previous years,
the total sales of properties (excluding car park units) amounted to an
aggregate of approximately RMB335.3 million and an aggregate GFA of
72,593 sg.m..

For the year ended 31 March 2022, the sale of properties (excluding
car park units) related to the remaining units of the completed property
projects in prior years, mainly from residential units of Guangze Tudors
Palace and Guangze Red House — Phase Il; and commercial units of
Guangze Amethyst City and Guangze Red House — Phase Il and Il with
an aggregate GFA of 10,056 sq.m..
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Management Discussion and Analysis
B ERwED AT

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)
Property Development (continued)

For car park units, the Group recognised sale of car park units of
approximately RMB13.9 million from the sale of 87 car park units for
the year ended 31 March 2023 as compared to approximately RMB7.8
million from 144 car park units for the year ended 31 March 2022.

Projects under development and held for development

As at 31 March 2023, the Group has two residential projects under
development, namely Guangze Jiuxi Red House - Phase Il in Jiutai
District, Changchun City and Guangze China House — Phase |l
in Baishan City. The expected time for completion and delivery is
2023/2024 financial year.

The Group also has a cultural tourism property projects located
in Changbaishan, Baishan City, namely Ground Pine Township
International Resort (“Fusong Property Project”). In prior years, the
Company had planned to divest the Fusong Property Project or to
offer for the government’s re-purchase. The management has obtained
approval from the Board to re-activate the development of the Fusong
Property Project during the year. Up to now, the work is still ongoing on
Phase | of the project and the remaining phases are under re-planning.

Property Investment

As at 31 March 2023, the Group’s self-owned investment properties
and leased investment properties are the retailing shopping units
at Guangze International Shopping Centre with respective GFA of
65,477 sg.m. and 20,306 sg.m. (At 31 March 2022: 65,477 sg.m. and
19,644 sg.m.). During the year ended 31 March 2023, the investment
properties had an average occupancy rate of 76% (year ended 31
March 2022: 77 %).

HUA YIN INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED # ZEIEE#Z R B R A 7
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FINANCIAL REVIEW Bt % [ g8
Key changes to profit or loss Bz TESH
Revenue g
Year ended Year ended
31 March 2023 31 March 2022
BE-=—-=% HE_T -4
=A=+—HILEE ZA=+—HLFE
RMB’000 % RMB’000 %
AR¥T T AREFIT
Sale of properties HEME 349,158 88.6 65,040 58.0
Rental income WA 12,103 3.1 14,052 12.5
Property management Y E IR RIS
service income 32,846 8.3 33,011 29.5
394,107 100.0 112,103 100.0

The Group’s revenue increased from RMB112.1 million for the year
ended 31 March 2022 to RMB394.1 million for the year ended
31 March 2023 or an increase by 251.6%, mainly due to the increase
in sale of properties by 436.8% or RMB284.1 million as compared with
the corresponding year. The increase in sales of properties during the
year ended 31 March 2023 was attributable to the completion and
delivery of the two newly completed property projects, namely Guangze
Jiuxi Red House - Phase | and Guangze China House - Phase IA with
an aggregate GFA of 72,141 sg.m.. In last financial year, the sales of
properties were mainly contributed from the sales of remaining properly
units completed in prior years; and no project was newly completed
and delivered.

Rental income decreased by 13.9% for the year ended 31 March 2023
as compared to last financial year mainly attributable to the rent free
period offered to tenants over the COVID-19 pandemic period during
the year ended 31 March 2023 and the decrease in average occupancy
rate during the year ended 31 March 2023 in respect of the shopping
mall units in Baishan City, the PRC.

REBEZWERBE T —F=A=1+—
HIEEE ARE 112,100,000 7T H1251.6%
EHE_Z-_ZF-ZA=Z+—HIEFEAR
#£394,100,000 7T * T EZHRYEHEER
X F L IN436.8% 3K A R 284,100,000 7T
e BHE—_T-_=ZF=-A=Z+—HLFE
ZUNESHEREILI - AR EENRLAF—
R EEM = — ABMERTER KXY
¥EEH BREEMBEAT2IMFET K. £
—REE MEREFTEREBAEFET
R FIBRMIE B REE - MEME TR
HH -

BE_ZT--F-A=+—ALFEZHS
WAR - BRFET®13.9%  TEHR
PREE-ZT - =F=A=+—RHILFE
AEER2019BRFBESREBEHERBL
REHEPHES URREBE-ZZT=_=F=A
=+—HALFE  PEALTEYTOEE
2R TR
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Management Discussion and Analysis
B ERwED AT

FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)
Key changes to profit or loss (continued)
Revenue (continued)

Property management service income remained stable at RMB32.8
million for the year ended 31 March 2023 (year ended 31 March
2022: RMB33.0 million) mainly attributable to the offsetting effect of (i)
increasing number of managed units from newly completed property
projects of Guangze Jiuxi Red House — Phase | and Guangze China
House — Phase IA; and (i) the reduction of monthly management fee
during the year ended 31 March 2023 in respect of the shopping mall
units in Baishan City, the PRC.

Br ¥ El A (4R)
BEcTELE (F)
W (&

BHE-_ZT-—F-A=+—RALFE 9%
EIERBUARFEZ AR 32,800,000
TBE-_ZE-_—F=A=1+—HIEE:
AR#33,000,0007T) © EEZHRTIIEIA
ZEETERY  (\BENRAN—BRE
EW S — AHFTER YT B IS NEIR BN
HE Ri)FERELUTEYRLEMZEA
MEERERANEBE _E_=F=A=+—
HIEFE T -

Gross profit and gross margin EFRERZE
Year ended Year ended
31 March 2023 31 March 2022
Bl—2-=fF B —T_—F
ZA=t—-HLEE ZA=+—-BLEFE
Gross profit Gross margin ~ Gross profit  Gross margin
E7 = ER ERZ
RMB‘000 % RMB‘000 %
ARBTT ARETTT
Sale of properties HEWE 40,682 1.7 17,170 26.4
Rental income HEBA 8,615 71.2 8,040 57.2
Property management MEERREWA
service income 6,804 20.7 6,613 20.0
Total k] 56,101 14.2 31,823 28.4

For the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group had a gross profit
of approximately RMB56.1 million (year ended 31 March 2022:
approximately RMB31.8 million) and a gross margin of approximately
14.2% (year ended 31 March 2022: 28.4%). The increase in gross
profit but the decrease in gross margin for the year was contributed
by the sale of properties which was attributable to the fact that, for the
year ended 31 March 2023, the Group sold units at Guangze Jiuxi Red
House — Phase | and Guangze China House - Phase IA at a lower gross
margin.

HUA YIN INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED # ZEIEE#Z R B R A 7
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)
Key changes to profit or loss (continued)
Other income and gains

The Group’s other income increased from RMB134.6 million for the
year ended 31 March 2022 to RMB550.5 million for the year ended 31
March 2023 which was mainly attributable to the reversal of write-down
of properties under development of RMB545.4 million, namely Ground
Pine Township International Resort in Changbaishan, Fusong County
(“Fusong Property Project”) (year ended 31 March 2022: RMB20.7
million) during the year ended 31 March 2023; and an exchange gain
of RMB3.6 million arising from a bank deposit of approximately USD8.4
million held by a wholly-owned subsidiary in the PRC as a result of the
recent strong US Dollars; and partially offset by the gain of disposal
of subsidiaries of RMB64.3 million upon completion of the disposal of
Ground Real Estate Group Company Limited and its project companies
in Jilin City in the corresponding period in last year.

Selling and distribution costs

The decrease in selling and distribution costs by approximately RMB5.0
million from approximately RMB11.4 million for the year ended 31
March 2022 to approximately RMB6.4 million for the year ended 31
March 2023 was primarily attributable to the decrease in promotion and
advertising expenses incurred as no promotion activities held in respect
of Guangze Jiuxi Red House in Jiutai District during the year.

Administrative expenses

The decrease in administrative expenses by approximately RMBS3.2
million from approximately RMB38.6 million for the year ended
31 March 2022 to approximately RMB35.4 million for the year ended
31 March 2023 was primarily attributable to the fact that the offsetting
effect of (i) the opening of the Group’s office in Dunhua City; (i) re-
allocation of personnel between offices within the Group; and (iii)
continual cost control measures implemented.

Br#5 El EE (4R)
B TELE (F)
H b A R s

AEBEMKARBE_ZT=_=_F=A
=+ —HB1EFE A K% 134,600,000 7T &
mEgz—_FT_=F=-A=+—HLFE
AR®550,600,0007t  TBHREBE_-Z
AT RALEFEEDERTY
¥ (BRI R ERGERA L Z BZRN/NER
BERN (ERYEEE ) 2 HIRA R
545,400,000 L (BE—T - —F=A=+—
HIEFE : ARK20,700,0007T) : &MKE
R—REAEEMNBRAREE —SL2EAD
8,400,000 % 7T #R 1717 X B FE 3T BASE s 08
i B A 2 T 5 5 49 A % 3,600,000 7T
WHAIEEEEFRPLEEREEEER
MERARREMNREMT ZHEE ARIFTE
£ 2 MEWEB Ak E A R 64,300,000

JC °
HER D HEAE

HERDHEKABRBE-_ZS-__F=A
=+—HIEFERLH AR 11,400,000 7T
D ARES5000,000 tEHE_T-_=4F
= A=T—HIEFEMHHARY6,400,000
T EZARFREERNLERELEEN
RAIT 2 ARSHEE) - AR RESERR

TBBA

TR E—_E-_—_F=A=+—H1t
FE R AR 38,600,000 LR D H AR
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HIFFERH AR 35,400,0007 © £EEH
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Management Discussion and Analysis
B ERwED AT

FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)
Key changes to profit or loss (continued)
Other expenses

The Group’s other expenses increased by approximately RMB4.7
million from approximately RMB6.6 million for the year ended 31 March
2022 to approximately RMB11.3 million for the year ended 31 March
2023 as there was an increase in impairment made on trade and other
receivables for the year ended 31 March 2023.

Br ¥ El A (4R)
BEcTELE (F)
H{thpi

AEENEMAYHABE_T-__F=A
=+—HILFENHARYE,600,0007T1E
MBOAREA4700000 LEHE-_T_=F
= A=+—HIEFEHARE 11,300,000
7L REBREIE 5 0R 5K &% A U IER
BERHEE T =F=A=+—HILtEEE
e

Finance costs BhE R AN
Year ended 31 March
BE=A=1+—HLFE
2023 2022
—E-=F T F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARBTTT
Interest on bank and other borrowings 817 R E M EEF| & 19,861 66,333
Interest on Convertible Bonds AR ESFE 6,130 3,427
Interest on lease liabilities HEBEFE 1,715 4,230
Interests on loan from a controlling — B R R E RF S
shareholder 475 -
28,181 73,990
Less: interest capitalised into W BRAYEZENMEFE
properties under development (11,485) (11,532)
16,696 62,458

The finance costs for the year ended 31 March 2023 decreased by
RMB45.8 million from approximately RMB62.5 million for the year
ended 31 March 2022 to approximately RMB16.7 million for the year
ended 31 March 2023, which was mainly attributable to a decrease in
interest on bank and entrusted loans as a result of (a) the repayment
of certain bank loans and entrusted loans during the year; and (b) a
reversal of interest of RMB43.9 million (year ended 31 March 2022:
RMB36.0 million) due to the finalisation of the re-financing arrangement
with lenders during the year.
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HE-_ZT-_ZF=ZA=Z1+—HBLFE &
BRARBE—_ZE-_—_€=A=+—AH1
FEH AR BG62,500,0007T 7P AR E
45,800,000 tEHE—T-_=F=H=+—
HIEFE 4 AR 16,700,000 EEMH
REFREETHPRITERRELER
RORAFEREFRERTEMELTH
i E 2z F 8 AR 43,900,000 T (B ZE =
T-—_F=A=+—HIFE : 36,000,000
TT) - BEERTTREFAERF SR o



FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)
Key changes to profit or loss (continued)
Change in fair value of investment properties

For the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group’s investment properties
stated at fair value had a further decrease in the fair value of RMB66.3
million mainly attributable to the deterioration of the market rent for
shopping mall units in Baishan City.

Change in fair value of derivative financial instruments

In December 2021, the Group issued CBs due in 2023 to the controlling
shareholder with an aggregate principal amount of HK$103,076,730.
The derivative financial instruments represented the Company’s early
redemption right feature of the CBs due in 2023. A loss in fair value
of approximately RMB8.2 million was recorded for the year ended 31
March 2023 as a result of the volatility of the Company’s share price
and deterioration of its time value.

Income tax

Br#5 El EE (4R)
BB TBRE (&)
RENEZNAEBEED

BE-_Z--—F-A=+—RALFE K&
BRANEBEINEZREMEAABEE -
FRA AR 66,300,0007T © TEHRAL
mZBMPLTIBHES BT -

TESRMTIRCZAREESD

RZBZ—F+=Z A  AEERIERRERE
TZZE=FHHRRES  AeBE
/103,076,730 » fTEE@MITEAARR
RIZZ = = FRE AR R E S AR AT AE O i
B o ARARFRERDRERHEEART
(e RBE-_Z-_=ZF-A=+—HLFE
SIS DA BEEELN AR S,200,0007T

Year ended 31 March
BE=A=+t—HLEE

2023 2022
—E_=F —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT AREFTT
Current tax BIEABE 18
PRC Corporate Income Tax PR ETSHR 5,376 974
PRC CIT over-provided BT FE R
in previous years By A B 1 25 FTISE = (7,094)
PRC Land Appreciation Tax A B B IE(E 4,389 14,190
PRC LAT over-provided BT FE R
in previous years #9 A B+ 3B E (234) (19,203)
9,531 ({5188
Deferred tax EELEHIE
Origination and reversal of e KBl 2
temporary differences TR ERR 86,695 (11,081)
Total charge (credit) bk () B35 96,226 (22,214)
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)
Key changes to profit or loss (continued)
Current tax

The Group’s current income tax represents Land Appreciation Tax (LAT)
and Corporate Income Tax (CIT). For the year ended 31 March 2023,
the Group’s current income tax related to LAT provision of RMB4.4
million (year ended 31 March 2022: RMB14.2 million) and CIT provision
of RMB5.4 million (year ended 31 March 2022: RMB1.0 million) were
made. The decrease in LAT for the year ended 31 March 2023 was
mainly due to fewer commercial properties units with higher profit
margin delivered and recognised during the period. The increase in
CIT provision for the year ended 31 March 2023 was mainly due to
the assessable profits arising from Guangze Jiuxi Red House — Phase |
during the year.

In addition, there was certain reversal of LAT and CIT provision relating
to prior years in last year upon the finalisation of tax returns with the
local tax bureau.

Deferred tax

During the year, the Group recorded a taxable temporary difference of
approximately RMB86.7 million which was primarily attributable to the
prior years’ write-down of Fusong Property Project that was reversed
for the year.

Key changes to financial position
Investment properties

As at 31 March 2023, the Group’s investment properties are certain
shopping mall units in Baishan City, Jilin Province, namely Guangze
International Shopping Centre, which include self-owned portion and
leased portion. These investment properties were stated at fair value
and were valued by Colliers Appraisal and Advisory Service Company
Limited (independent professional qualified valuers) at RMB550.4 million
(as at 31 March 2022: RMB615.8 million).
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Br ¥ El A (4R)
BEcTELE (F)
BEBiE

REBAHFEHIE L HIEER L OEHE
Re-BE_ZT-_ZF-A=+—RHILFE "
REBBE T HISERBRENREBRMERA
AR 4,400,000 (BEZEZT-__F=H
=+—HIFE : AR®¥14,200,0007T) &
TS TEE A A R 5,400,000 7T (&
E-E-"F=ZA=+—HLEFE: ARK
1,000,0007T) e BE-ZE-_=F=A=+—
HIEFEz T ERRD - EZEHRERD
EFBERES ZEEMEN IR RIER
HE -HE_T-_=F=-A=1+—HILFE
ZEERMSHBELN  TEARFAEE
FURAT T — BAFTEE 4 FERR B FIFTER o

RN - BEEMTT BRI R R
ETBEFEARN IR EHMERME
PR BN EFRE -

ELEBIE

RER > AEEZSAIRNERZE  ©8
REIANRE 86,700,0007T © F ZEFENEN
Y218 B B EF MR F BB -

MBRREERE
REMHE

R-ZE-_=F=ZA=+—8 ~EBEKREY
RN EMEOLUTZETHEYPLE
fL(BNEZBEEYHR L) EPREER
BORBEERD - ZZFREMELRAAEE
PIRR - WHABEEAERHER S IR
TiEHEEENEERARMERARKE
550,400,000 (R =_ZE=_—F=A=+—
H : AR¥615,800,0007T) °



FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)
Key changes to financial position (continued)

Properties under development and completed properties
held for sale

As at 31 March 2023, the Group’s properties under development
included mainly Fusong Property Project, Guangze China House —
Phase Il and Guangze Jiuxi Red House — Phase Il; and the completed
properties held for sale were mainly unsold units of Guangze Jiuxi Red
House — Phase | and the remaining residential and commercial units
and car parking spaces at projects completed in prior years.

The increase in the Group’s properties under development and
completed properties held for sale to approximately RMB1,597.8 million
as at 31 March 2023 (As at 31 March 2022: approximately RMB1,262.8
million) was primarily attributable to the reversal of write-downs of
the Fusong Property Project of approximately RMB545.4 million;
and partially offset by the transfer of the construction costs relating
to Guangze Jiuxi Red House — Phase | and Guangze China House —
Phase |A during the year.

According to the Group's accounting policy, the carrying values of
the Fusong Property Project was stated at the lower of cost and
net realisable value as 31 March 2023 and 31 March 2022. The net
realizable value of the Fusong Property Project was estimated based on
the valuation of the project carried out by an independent valuer.

As at 31 March 2022, the valuation of the Fusong Property Project was
carried out by an independent valuer. Given the management’s intention
to divest the project in a short period of time, the valuation was carried
out on a bare land basis and based on a direct comparison approach
by making reference to comparable land transactions available in the
market, followed by applying a discount factor on the appraised value
for the intended short term sale.

B 5 ol e (4&)
BBRRREELE) (F)
BRTPYRESFELEEERYR

R-ZB-_=F=ZA=1+—H AEEEEY
XEEOR/ENYREAR - BERS 80
FRNRAR—H : MEHELENEEKY
XTI ERBENRAN —HREEMIBE
FECRIBENFREETREBESEMLE

fi ©

R-ZE_=F=ZA=+—8 ~&EBEEY
ERBEHENEERMEENENHARE
1,597,800,000 L (R=ZEZZF=F=+—
B ©HARE1,262,800,0007T) EE2HM
W YIEETE B #8149 A R ¥ 545,400,000 7T
MURBETER : MEANEENEAN— S REE
BT — AR AR LI -

BEAEENGETECR - BRYEEERC
T =F=A=+—BMZ=ZZT==F=A
—+—BEEEER KA LR 237 FE
ZEBIREFE - MINYEIER MR 2RFE
EIRBR KB MEMEZYEREGHE
Hmi5EE -

R-F-_—F=ZA=+—H #RYXEEAER
M ERBEEEMET - ENEEER
EERHANBEZEAR  HEARESE
o WREMG LALLM T R Z RRBE
BULBOL - AREEEMLEMHFEER
BETEREZE -
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)
Key changes to financial position (continued)

Properties under development and completed properties
held for sale (continued)

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Board decided to re-activate
the development of the project after a detailed assessment on the
feasibility study. Accordingly, the valuation as at 31 March 2023 has
been carried out by an independent valuer, (i) for the land parcels under
development, on the basis of capitalisation of net income based on the
project plan by making reference to comparable market transactions
taking into account of the construction costs to be expended; and
(i) for the land parcels for future development, on the bare land basis
and based on a direct comparison approach, by making reference to
comparable land transactions available in the market; and the discount
factor was no longer applied on the appraised value to reflect the
change of the development plan of the Fusong Property Project. As
a result, a reversal of write-down of RMB545.4 million relating to the
project was made in the current year.

Trade and other receivables

Br ¥ El A (4R)
Bk 2 = B2 8 (&)

BRRTPYRRSEHESERYE (B)

BE-_Z-_—#-A=+—RHILFE EF
Y A TR TR AR 1R R E RN
BZEENMAE - Al RZZEZ=F=A
=+ A@EBL HEMETHEERIRAT
FUERAT ¢ (VE BB R EREER
EWFWABARIE - WRETLETHER S
RERBBEZIERE : () AR
s LRI AEERKAEERELESE - 2
EmMG LA ABNT R Z5E - METE
A EERITITREEZZ R - UREEL
YIEETE B R EIM S - Hit - ZBER
ANEE R AR 545,400,000 7T K9 Hifl R 18
[E] °

FE W & 5 Bk e H At FE WU R

As at 31 March

R=B=+—H
2023 2022
—E-=F —E-F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
MaE ARET T ARETTT
Trade receivables, gross U E 5 R AREE () 21,489 20,679
Less: Provision for impairment W R ERE () (14,537) (5,575)
Total receivables, net F R IB 4R %E 6,952 15,104
Other receivables Hoh e Y kIR
— Deposits for land development — T ERRAY CEE
expenditure (ii) 22,095 22,095
— Deposits for construction and — BERBEMFEIAER
pre-sale of property projects ki oia (i) 6,741 6,741
— Prepaid business tax and other taxes — TEfH e 357 & H b Fi 18 18,190 36,352
— Other receivables, prepayments — Hib s - A R0E
and deposits N&i&n 53,010 46,323
Less: Provision for impairment W OREE (70,934) (70,934)
29,102 40,577
36,054 55,681
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)

Key changes to financial position (continued)

Trade and other receivables (continued)

U

(i)

(i

Trade receivables were mainly related to rental receivable from tenants
and property management fee receivables from property unit owners. At
31 March 20283, the trade receivable gross balance increased by
approximately 3.9% as compared to that at 31 March 2022 primarily
attributable to the increase in managed units under the property
management service business; and the increase in provision for impairment
as at 31 March 2023 was primarily attributable to increased expected credit
loss from historical payment record and certain trade receivables were
considered as credit impaired.

Land development expenditure made by certain subsidiaries of the Group
represented monies advanced to the local government for land development
works at various land sites. The Group will be reimbursed for the amount
advanced to the local government in carrying out the land development
respective of whether or not the Group will obtain the land use rights of the
land in the future.

The balances represented various deposits paid directly attributable to
construction and pre-sale of property projects which would be refundable
upon completion of the property projects.

Trade and other payables

B 5 ol e (4&)
MBRR 2 EERE) (&)
FE K & 5 Rk e EL At FE KUK IR (4]

)

BB SEREBHEEWRAL ZHS LER
MEBNRBEAZHEEREEH N =%
—=HF=ZA=+—H8 EBRESERREHE
EHgE _—T - —F=- A=+ —HHELEN
#93.9%  FEFEANMEEERBEST
SERBMEMATE: RR-_ZE=-=F=A
—t+—BREREEN FTEREAREAES
MR BHEREBERENES TRIE
SERFWEBEELEERENE

REBE T B QB ATEL I B RS
TR z 13 R T2 7 BN 2
IR - B RARE B ERESZ L2
T e AR - NREBASEENNET LB
B2 B E IR T B S 2 FRIE o

(i) FAEERRERERAENEIRL ZEA

BEffRE - AIRYEIAR TTRRRE -

e B 5 MR R E b BRI FRIR

As at 31 March

M=A=+-8
2023 2022
—E_=F —E-—F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
PisE AR¥TR AREFTT
Trade payables FERE S RN () 48,099 57,870
Accrued construction costs TEIREEEA AR () 303,906 284,075
Interest payable FERTAILE (ii) 4,854 60,996
Other creditors and accruals H bR FRIE N ERTE 65,447 53,277
Other deposits received Bk HinE 25,843 25,678
448,149 481,876

(i)

The changes in trade payables and accrued construction costs from
RMB57.9 million and RMB284.1 million as at 31 March 2022 to RMB48.1
million and RMB303.9 million as at 31 March 2023 respectively were mainly
attributable to the construction costs incurred relating to the property
projects; and partially offset by the gradual settlement of construction cost
payable balances arising from the completed properties projects.

The decrease in interest payable from approximately RMB61.0 million as at
31 March 2022 to approximately RMB4.9 million as at 31 March 2023 was
primarily attributable to the reversal of interest accrual of RMB43.9 million
made in prior years and the settlement of interest payment during the year.

(i)

ENESERREREEXNADFH-T
——f#=ZA=+—H AR¥57,900,000 T &
AR¥284100,000 TE#E T - =F =
A=+—HB AK#¥48,100,0007t & A R #&
303,900,0007C * X ZEFERRYEEE BEEE
FERAMEE  WEHDZEEKXWEBE Z
FEREK AN F LS LB o

ENMER-_E-_—&F=A=+—HHY
AR ¥61,000000 P ETE-_=F=
A=+—B#4AR#4900,0007T TE2
FERFALBAEFETRASARE
43,900,000 T & &5 F 8 1+ -
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)

Key changes to financial position (continued)

Br ¥ El A (4R)
MHERREERE (&)

Contract liabilities BHAaE
As at 31 March
R=B=+—H
2023 2022
—E-=F —E-F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
FaE AR®T T ARBT T
Deposits from sale of properties HEWEZR® () 87,667 371,944
Receipt in advance from FEWERREE R
management services (ii) 14,760 12,025
102,427 383,969

(i)  Deposits from sales of properties represent contractual payments received
from customers in connection with the Group’s pre-sale of properties.
The deposit will be transferred to profit or loss upon the Group’s revenue
recognition criteria are met. The decrease in balance was mainly attributable
to the revenue recognition of pre-sale of Guangze Jiuxi Red House and
Guangze China House — Phase IA reached during the year.

(i) Receipt in advance from management services represent the property
fee received in advance for property management. The receipts will be
transferred to profit or loss upon the Group’s revenue recognition criteria are
met.

Liquidity and financial resources
Cash position

As at 31 March 2023, the carrying amount of cash and bank deposits
of the Group was approximately RMB69.9 million (as at 31 March
2022: approximately RMB93.2 million), representing a decrease of
approximately 24.9% as compared with that as at 31 March 2022
which was mainly attributable to the settlement of construction costs,
interests, operating expenditure partially offset by the cash receipt from
pre-sale.
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() HEVEZASERASBERENEARFP
WEZ BRI - LA R AEKERT S UK
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(i) HREERBEMREADEEERK 2 ME
B - FRFBRERAKER S KR
BUESE & ey ik

RBESRVBER
BEMR

RZEZ=F=A=+—H £5£ER&K
RITEH 2 BREE L A AR 69,900,000
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)

Liquidity and financial resources (continued)
Debt and gearing

The Group’s bank and other borrowings as at 31 March 2023

decreased by RMB36.9 million to RMB674.7 million which were payable
as follows:

B iR (4E)
RBESRMBER (&)
BEEREAREELR
RZZBZ=F=A=+—H  xEERTR
H v fEER A AR 36,900,000 T E AR

674,700,000 7T * EZA TERZAT

As at 31 March

R=BA=+—8
2023 2022
—EC=HF T
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®ET T AREFIT
Current BNER 445,696 420,697
Non-current JEENER 229,000 290,897
674,696 711,694
Analysed into: DA
Bank loans and entrusted loan AR THIHIEEEZRITER
payable: MEFTER
Within one year or on demand —FRHIREK 445,696 420,697
In the second year F-F 1,000 61,897
In the third to fifth year, inclusive FZEERF (BIEEEMRTF) 228,000 229,000
674,696 711,594

Bank and other borrowings decreased from RMB711.6 million as at
31 March 2022 to RMB674.7 million as at 31 March 2023 as repayment
was made during the year.

In addition, bank and other borrowings of approximately RMB360
million were either renewed or extended during the year.

BITREMEER S -_—F=A=1+—
HH AR 711,600,000 TRV EHRE-Z
—#=A=1+—H#& AR 674,700,000
7T RERBBERFERELER -

AN - FREHRNERARNIRITREMEEL
A AR 360,000,000 7T °
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)

Liquidity and financial resources (continued)

Debt and gearing (continued)

/\j%&@EE(II‘E)
RBEERUBER (&)
ERERERGELR(E)

The Group’s gearing ratio as at 31 March 2023 was as follows: REER-_ZE-=F=A=+—HZEXE
BEEAT
As at 31 March
R=A=+—H

2023 2022

—E-=F —E-F

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARET AREETTT

Loans from a controlling shareholder ~ — &3 IEER &K 354,490 234,819
Bank and other borrowings RITREMEE 674,696 711,594
Trade and other payables FETE 5 BR 51 I EoAth FE - 5RIE 448,149 481,876
Less: Cash and cash equivalents A ReRREEEY (69,939) (93,151)
Pledged and restricted deposits BHERRZRHITFR (6,335) (7,596)

Net debt BT 558 1,401,061 1,327,542

Liability component of AmRESFaEds

Convertible Bonds 90,052 79,267
Equity xS 397,612 44,541
Adjusted Capital KA ER 487,664 123,808
Capital and net debt BEARREEFEE 1,888,725 1,451,350
Gearing ratio BERE G R 74% 92%

The gearing ratio of the Group as at 31 March 2023 decreased as
compared with that as at 31 March 2022 was mainly attributable
to the increase in the Group’s equity as a result of the reduction in

accumulated losses.

Cash flows for the Group’s operating activities

For the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group recorded net operating
cash outflow of RMB67.1 million (year ended 31 March 2022: outflow
of RMB96.8 million). The outflow was mainly attributable to the gradual
settlement of construction cost payable balances arising from the

completed properties projects and the interest paid.
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COMMITMENTS FOR DEVELOPMENT EXPENDITURE

As at 31 March 2023, the Group had contracted but not provided for
commitments in respect of properties under development of RMB196.8
million (as at 31 March 2022: RMB7.3 million). The development
expenditure was to be funded by the Group’s internal resources and/or
project loans.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The principal risks and uncertainties that may cause the Group’s
financial conditions or results materially different from the expected or
historical results are described below.

Risks pertaining to the property development and
management business

The Group’s property projects are located in Jilin Province, the PRC
and the related assets accounted for 97.3% of the Group’s total assets
as at 31 March 2023 (as at 31 March 2022: 65.1%). The Group is
therefore subject to the risks associated with the PRC property market
both nationally and regionally. The Group’s property development and
management business in the PRC may also be exposed to the risks of
policy change, interest rate change, demand-supply imbalance and the
overall economic conditions, which may pose an adverse impact on the
Group’s business, financial conditions or results of operations. Given
the current condition and uncertainties in the PRC property market, the
Group is monitoring closely on the associated risks and focused on the
property market in the northeastern region of the PRC in the short-term
where the Group has vast local experience and knowledge.

Risks pertaining to the property investment business

The rental rates and the occupancy rates depend on various factors,
including but not limited to, prevailing supply and demand conditions,
economic conditions as well as the quality of the properties. There is no
assurance that the Group will be able to look for new tenants within a
short period of time or procure new leases or renew existing leases at
the prevailing market rates. The Group has other exit options to realise
the property as and when considered necessary.

BREMA AL

R-ZZB_=F=ZA=+—08 ~EEHREE
hYEZ BT RNERBEESERERARKE
196,800,000 (R =ZFE-=F=HA=+—
H : AR 7,300,0007T) * BHEMAZALRE
BABERR,HIEE BRE -

TEREBETHBAEE

A] BEBI B AR SR BB S 2k S AR B TR A B
EXELREAREZ TE2AMB KT
REE X -

BEMEREREEXEK 2Rk

REBE2MEEBMNRFPEENE - HAE
EEAEBR T -_=F=A=+—RH#%&
BEZI73% (R-_E-—#=RA=+—08:
65.1%) c NEBFZ HRE 2 R EY
EMISHEEZ AR - AEBNFE £
BREEBEBMATARRKNRE - FlRK
B SRR REECER R MAS R -
AR E T - MBSARARSEEEEE
AR o SRR RIS R KT
AAEZE - AEBIERYERABERR @ I
REANE TR ARETE M ES L EL5R
T ANk T B BR b R ) D 2 T 3 ©

BRYMEREXT 2 Ak

HeRkHBAXIARLZERE - BFEETR
RERESKIEN - RERARMEEE - I
MREREE R AN EHANERSHE, K
NERMmEESESHEONEEREA
% MAFE  AKEAEMBSZEERY
XER -
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES (continued)
Financial risks

As a matter of policy, the Group continues to manage the market risks
directly relating to its operations and financing activities and does not
undertake any speculative derivative trading activities. All treasury risk
management activities are carried out in accordance with the Group’s
policies and guidelines, which are reviewed as and when needed.

Currency risk

As at 31 March 2023, the Group was exposed to currency risk on
financial assets and liabilities that were denominated in Hong Kong
Dollars (HK$ and United States Dollars (US$)). At 31 March 2023,
approximately 0.6% and 72.9% of the Group’s total cash and bank
balance (including pledged bank deposit) were denominated in HK$ and
US$ respectively (as at 31 March 2022: 4.4% and 60.9%) and 100% of
the Group’s total borrowings were denominated in RMB (as at 31 March
2022: 100% denominated in RMB). The Group currently does not have
a foreign currency hedging policy in respect of foreign current assets
and liabilities. The Group will monitor its foreign currency exposure
closely and will consider hedging significant foreign currency exposure
should the need arises. The Group will continue to monitor the change
in the trend of interest rates and the potential causes that trigger large
fluctuation in the exchange rates of RMB against HK$ and US$, and will
consider hedging significant foreign currency exposure if necessary so
as to mitigate the foreign currency exposure arising from the Group’s
business operation and to minimise the Group’s financial risks.

Interest rate risk

As at 31 March 2023, the Group’s total bank and other borrowings and
interest-bearing loan from a controlling shareholder bore interest at fixed
rates ranging from 5% to 10% per annum. Therefore, the Group is not
exposed to significant interest rate risk.
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B RER
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES (continued)
Credit risk

As at 31 March 2023, the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk
which would cause a financial loss to the Group due to the failure to
discharge an obligation by the counterparties arising from the carrying
amounts of the respective recognised financial assets as stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to pledged bank deposits,
bank balances and cash and trade and other receivables. Substantially
all of the Group’s pledged bank deposits and bank balances and cash
were deposited in creditworthy global banks and stated-controlled
financial institutions in the PRC, which management considers they are
without significant credit risks. At the end of the reporting period, the
Group has minimal concentration of credit risk as the trade receivables
from the largest single customer represented less than 5% (as at
31 March 2022: 5%) of the total trade receivables.

In order to minimise this credit risk relating to trade and other
receivables, the management has established credit approvals and
other monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-up action is taken to
recover overdue debts. In this regard, the management considers that
the Group’s credit risk is significantly reduced.

Liquidity risk

The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor its liquidity requirements
and its compliance with lending covenants, to ensure that it maintains
sufficient reserves of cash and adequate committed lines of funding
from major financial institutions to meet its liquidity requirements in the
short and long term.

In addition, the Group is working closely with various existing and
potential financial institutions in order to manage the tenor, interest rate,
security pledge and other loan terms.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS HELD

Other than disclosed elsewhere, the Group did not have any other
significant investments held as at 31 March 2023.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Group has arranged bank financing for certain purchasers of
property units developed by subsidiaries of the Group that provided
guarantees to secure obligation of such purchasers for repayments.
As at 31 March 2023, guarantees amounting to RMB341.1 million
were given to banks with respect to mortgage loans procured by
purchasers of property units (as at 31 March 2022: RMB378.0 million).
Such guarantees terminate upon the earlier of (i) issuance of the real
estate ownership certificate to the purchasers and (i) the satisfaction
of mortgage loans by the purchasers of properties. Pursuant to the
terms of the guarantees, upon default in mortgage payments by these
purchasers, the Group is responsible for repaying the outstanding
mortgage principals together with accrued interest and penalty owed by
the defaulted purchasers to the banks and the Group is entitled to take
over the legal title and possession of the related properties. The Group’s
guarantee period starts from the dates of grant of the mortgages.
During the year, the Group did not incur any material losses in respect
of any of these guarantees. The Directors consider that the likelihood
of default in payments by the purchasers is minimal and therefore the
financial guarantee measured at fair value initially is immaterial. Also,
in case of default in payments, the net realisable value of the related
property units would be sufficient to repay the outstanding mortgage
loans together with any accrued interest and penalty, and therefore no
provision has been made in connection with the guarantees.

CHARGE ON ASSETS

As at 31 March 2023, the Group had the following assets pledged
against bank and other loans granted:
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As at 31 March

R=BA=+—8
2023 2022
—EBC=H —EF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%T R ARETTT
Investment properties LEMZE 393,619 442 931
Properties under development BERFPYIZE 1,210,000 665,600
Completed properties held for sale BIEHEE BN E 8,069 8,069
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EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 31 March 2023, the Group had 202 (as at 31 March 2022: 235)
full-time employees. Total staff costs (including directors’ emoluments)
incurred for the year ended 31 March 2023 amounted to approximately
RMB23.4 million (year ended 31 March 2022: RMB27.1 million); the
decrease was mainly attributable to the decrease in staff number from
natural staff turnover with no immediate replacement. The Group’s
remuneration policy is in line with prevailing market practice and
performance of individual staff. In addition to salaries, the Group also
offers other benefits to its staff, including share options, discretionary
bonus, training allowance and provident fund.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

On 31 May 2023, the Company entered into a placing agreement with a
placing agent, pursuant to which the Company has conditionally agreed
to issue and the placing agent conditionally agreed to procure, on a
best effort basis, not less than six placees to subscribe for convertible
bonds in an aggregate principal amount of up to HK$150.0 million.
On 23 June 2023, the convertible bonds with an aggregate principal
amount of HK$60.0 million was successfully placed by the Company
1o no less than six placees upon completion of the placing. Details of
the placing are set out in the Company’s announcements dated 31 May
2023 and 23 June 2023.

On 9 June 2023, the Company received a written confirmation from the
holder of the Convertible Bonds for its consent that the initial maturity
date of the Convertible Bonds (i.e. 14 June 2023) shall be extended (the
“Extension”) for another eighteen months to the third anniversary of the
date of issue of the Convertible Bonds (i.e. 14 December 2024). Details
of the Extension are set out in the Company’s announcement dated 9
June 20283.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EEReREEEREER

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Cui Xintong

Ms. Cui Xintong (“Ms. Cui”), aged 33, was appointed as an
executive Director and Co-chairperson of the Board, a member of the
Remuneration Committee, a chairperson of the Nomination Committee
and the Company’s authorised representative. On 29 June 2022, Ms.
Cui resigned as the chairperson of the Remuneration Committee but
remained as the member of the Remuneration Committee. She is also
the controlling shareholder of the Company and a director in various
subsidiaries of the Company.

Ms. Cui is responsible for exploring new business opportunities,
formulating business plans and executing systematic prospecting,
maintaining relationships with existing and potential business partners,
developing, coaching and managing a team to deliver professional
service and ensure business sustainability. Ms. Cui was an assistant
president of FEEIEEIZEREEFR/AF] (Ground Investment Holding
(Group) Limited®, a related company established in the PRC) from
September 2013 to February 2015. Ms. Cui obtained her Bachelor
degree of Science in Business Administration from Northeastern
University, Boston, USA in August 2013. Ms. Cui is the daughter of Mr.
Cui Mindong, the non-executive Director of the Company. She is also
the director of Ka Yik Investments Limited and Charm Success Group
Limited, each of which has interest in the shares and/or underlying
shares of the Company.

Li Junjie

Mr. Li Junjie (“Mr. Li”), aged 64, was appointed as executive Director
and chief executive officer of the Company.

Mr. Li has worked in various county and city government departments
in Yanbian Prefecture, Jilin Province for more than 36 years. He is
responsible for government general management, strategic policy and
decision-making, investment promotion, urban and rural economy, and
management in new development zone. Prior to joining the Company,
Mr. Li had joined the government department in Yanbian prefecture,
Jilin Province since December 1982 and held important positions in
different cities. He served as the Executive Deputy Mayor of Helong City
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Government of Yanbian Prefecture, Jilin Province from 1998 to 2005.
He served as Executive Deputy Mayor and District Director of Yaniji City
Government, Yanbian Prefecture, Jilin Province from 2006 to 2013. He
served as the Chairman of the Standing Committee of Yanji Municipal
People's Congress in Yanbian Prefecture, Jilin Province from 2013 to
2018. When he retired from the government in December 2018, he
worked as President in Yanji Chamber of Commerce of Enterprises until
now. Mr. Li graduated from the Physics Department of Jilin Provincial
Institute of Education in 1986 and completed the postgraduate course
of Peking University’s enterprise development strategy major in July
1999.

Cong Peifeng

Mr. Cong Peifeng (“Mr. Cong”), aged 46, was appointed as a
executive Director of the Company and has been a legal representative
in various subsidiaries of the Company.

Mr. Cong has over 21 years of experience in tourism management and
hospitality management. He has been the deputy general manager of
the administration and human resources department of /2K &%
& @ AR A& (Ground Investment Holding (Group) Limited*) since
2016, and has been a distinguished lecturer of tourism management
profession at Changchun Vocational Institute of Technology since
2014. Mr. Cong had served as supervisor, deputy manager or manager
of different departments in South Lake Hotel from 2002 to 2016. He
received a Bachelor degree in Economics from Changchun University
in 2000 and graduated from the postgraduate programme of Tourism
Economic of Shanghai Academy of Social Sciences in 2002.

Xu Yingchuan

Mr. Xu Yingchuan (“Mr. Xu”), aged 51, was appointed as an
executive Director of the Company and has been a director in various
subsidiaries of the Company.

Mr. Xu joined the Ground Real Estate Group (“Real Estate Group”)
in October 2009, as a design director, responsible for the design
management of Amethyst City in Jilin City. He was promoted to vice
general manager of research and development centre of the Real Estate
Group in November 2010 and responsible for the design management
of Amethyst City and Guangze International Shopping Centre of the
Real Estate Group. He was further promoted to the general manager
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of the research and development centre of the Real Estate Group in
September 2011 and responsible for design management of all projects
of the Group. Mr. Xu was appointed as project general manager of &
EHEEEMAEMZEAR AT (Yanji Huize Real Estate Development
Company Limited®) in May 2012. Mr. Xu is responsible for the overall
operation of the Guangze Red House. Prior to joining the Real Estate
Group, Mr. Xu was a chief project management officer of K&EHRE
HERZE AR AR (Changchun Zhongdong Real Estate Development
Company Limited*) from October 2007 to September 2009. Mr. Xu was
the officer of architecture department in EME &R EEBR D
&) (Jilin Jianyuan Design Group Company Limited*) from August 1994
to October 2007. Mr. Xu obtained his Bachelor degree of Science in
Architecture from Jilin Institute of Architecture and Civil Engineering (&
MIZEE T F2ER), the PRC in July 1994,

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Sui Guangyi

Mr. Sui Guangyi (“Mr. Sui”), aged 60, was appointed as
Co-chairperson and a non-executive Director of the Company.

Mr. Sui is a non-executive Director and honorary chairman of New
Concepts Holdings Limited (835 B (12/%) B R A R]) whose shares
are listed on the main board (“Main Board”) of the Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) (Stock code: 2221) with
effect from 15 October 2021. He served as the non-executive director
of China Investment Fund Company Limited (‘CIFCL”, R EH & H
B2 2 7]), whose shares are also listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange (Stock code: 612), from August 2015 to January 2020, and
as the Chairman of CIFCL from October 2015 to January 2020. Mr.
Sui obtained a bachelor's degree in Surveying and Mapping Engineering
from Yunnan Technology College (EERACERMEISET*) in 1990.
Upon Mr. Sui's appointment as the co-chairperson of the Board, he
will be responsible for overseeing the continuing evaluation of existing
business performance of the Group, and the expansion and business
diversification strategies of the Group.
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Cui Mindong

Mr. Cui Mindong (“Mr. Cui”), aged 57, was appointed as a non-
executive Director of the Company.

Mr. Cui has been the chairman of 21 &1L EE B R A7) (Guangze
Investment Holdings Group Company Limited*) from 2010 up to now.
For the period from 2001 to 2010, Mr. Cui was the chairman of &
EZ2EEAR AR (Jiin Province Guangze Group Company Limited®).
Mr. Cui was working as a manager of & M& R A R RED AR Jiin
Province Grain Reserve Company - Changchun Branch) for the period
from 1999 to 2001 respectively. Mr. Cui graduated from Jilin Agricultural
University major in agricultural studies in 1988; and obtained an EMBA
degree at Cheung Kong Graduate School of Business in 2008. Mr. Cui
is the father of Ms. Cui Xintong.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Tsang Hung Kei

Mr. Tsang Hung Kei (“Mr. Tsang”), aged 52, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director, a member and chairperson of
the Audit Committee, a member of the Nomination Committee and
a chairperson of the Remuneration Committee of the Company. On
29 June 2022, he has been appointed as chairperson of the
Remuneration Committee.

Mr. Tsang has more than 27 years of experience in financial
management and reporting and corporate governance. He is a Fellow
of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants, a Fellow of the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a Fellow of the
Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales. Mr. Tsang
had years of working experience in an international accounting firm
and is currently the chief financial officer of Pak Fah Yeow International
Limited (stock code: 239), a company listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange and an executive director of its major subsidiaries.
Mr. Tsang is also an independent non-executive director of China
Success Finance Group Holdings Limited (stock code: 3623). Mr. Tsang
was an independent non-executive director of Welife Technology Limited
(formerly known as Palace Banquet Holdings Limited) (stock code:
17083) from March 2021 to January 2022 and SoftMedx Healthcare
Limited (formerly known as China Wah Yan Healthcare Limited) (stock
code: 648) from July 2018 to January 2021. The issued shares of
all three companies are listed on the Main Board. Mr. Tsang holds a
Bachelor degree in computer science and accounting at the University
of Manchester, United Kingdom.
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Wang Xiaochu

Mr. Wang Xiaochu (“Mr. XC Wang”), aged 59, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director, a member of the Audit Committee,
a member of the Remuneration Committee and a member of the
Nomination Committee of the Company.

Mr. XC Wang has more than 24 years of experience in the legal
profession in business investment, financing and mergers and
acquisitions. He has served as corporate legal counsel for a number of
sizeable companies since 2007, such as Jilin Investment Group, Jilin
Agricultural Investment Group Co. Limited, etc. He is also currently
a legal advisor to the Jilin Provincial Government, a decision-making
advisory committee member of the Jilin Provincial Government, and a
member of the 13th CPPCC National Committee of Changchun. Mr. XC
Wang graduated from the China University of Political Science and Law
in 1985 and was qualified as a Chinese lawyer in 1988. He has also
published various academic theses on the theory and practice of Civil
and Commercial Law.

Wang Xueguang

Mr. Wang Xueguang (“Mr. XG Wang”), aged 48, was appointed
as an independent non-executive Director, a member of the Audit
Committee, a member of the Remuneration Committee and a member
of the Nomination Committee of the Company.

Mr. XG Wang has 26 years of working experience with main focus on
non-litigation businesses relating to finance and asset operation, as well
as equity investment and state-owned enterprise reform. Mr. XG Wang
was the Former Deputy Director and Secretary-General of the Financial
Securities Professional Committee of Changchun Lawyers Association*
(REMEMHEERESFEXLZES). Mr. XG Wang worked as a legal
consultant in the Agricultural Bank of China - Jilin Province Branch* (F
Bl 2 28R 175 & 9 17) from September 1997 to July 2006. He worked
as a lawyer in Jilin University School of Law Jida Law Firm (F#& K
2R 15FT) from November 2006 to March 2010. He worked at Jilin
Laurel Law Firm* (FMIEAREAIEHSAN) as a lawyer from March 2010
to April 2019. Since May 2019, Mr. XG Wang worked as a lawyer at
Beijing Guo Zhen Law Firm* (3L BEIRZRIEHFT). Mr. XG Wang
graduated from the Economic Law Department of the Law School of
Jilin University in 1997. In 2005, he obtained a master's degree in law
from Northeast Normal University (521t B &5 A £2%).
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT
Ng Man Kit Micky

Mr. Ng Man Kit Micky (“Mr. Ng”), aged 47, joined the Company as
the finance and investor relations director in January 2015, where he
was responsible for the Group’s financial management and general
management of operation in Hong Kong until he was appointed as
chief financial officer and company secretary of the Company in March
2016. Mr. Ng is also a director in various subsidiaries of the Company
and is responsible for advising the Board on corporate governance
matters. He reports to the chairperson of the Board directly and assists
the Board in ensuring effective information flow among the Board
members and that the Board policy and procedures are followed. Mr.
Ng has extensive auditing and accounting experience having been
with an international professional accounting firm for 15 years and is a
member of Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Ng
obtained his joint degree of Bachelor of Science in Mathematics and
Management Science from the University of Hull, United Kingdom in
July 1998 and a Postgraduate diploma in Business Administration from
the University of Birmingham, United Kingdom in June 1999. Mr. Ng
had duly complied with the relevant training requirement under Rule 3.29
of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on
the Stock Exchange.
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The Directors submit herewith their report together with the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31
March 2023.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND SEGMENT
INFORMATION

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. During
the year, the Group was principally engaged in property development
and management, including planning, designing, budgeting, licensing,
contract tendering and contract administration and property investment.
The principal activities and other particulars of the Company’s
principal subsidiaries are set out in note 1 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Details of the analysis of the performance of the Group for the year by
operating segments are set out in note 4 to the consolidated financial
statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A fair review of the business of the Group, including description of the
principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group, important events
since the end of the financial year, future development and analysis
of the Group’s key financial performance indicators are set out in
“Management Discussion and Analysis” on pages 6 to 25 to this annual
report; while the Group’s environmental policies and performance can
be found in “Environmental, Social and Governance Report” on pages
66 to 88 to this annual report. During the year, the Company has
complied with all the relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the Company.

In addition to the above mentioned, the Directors would like to maintain
the Group’s relationships with its stakeholders. The Group’s success
depends on, among other things, the support from key stakeholders
which comprise employees, customers and suppliers.

Employees

Employees are regarded as the most important and valuable assets of
the Group. The objective of the Group’s human resource management
is to reward and recognise performing staff by providing a competitive
remuneration package with appropriate incentives, and to promote
career development and progression by appropriate training.
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Customers

The Group maintains a good relationship with its customers. It is the
Group’s mission to provide excellent customer service whilst maintaining
long term profitability, business and asset growth. Various means have
been established to strengthen the communications between the
customers and the Group in the provision of excellent customer service.

Suppliers

Sound relationships with key suppliers of the Group are important in
supply chain, meeting business challenges and regulatory requirements,
which can derive cost effectiveness and foster long term business
benefits. We have developed long-standing relationships with a number
of our suppliers and take great care to ensure that they share our
commitment to quality and ethics.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2023 are set
out in the consolidated statement of profit and loss and consolidated
statement of comprehensive income on page 96 and page 97 to this
annual report respectively.

RESERVES

Movement in the reserves of the Group and the Company during the
year is set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity
on pages 100 and 101 to this annual report and note 35 to the
consolidated financial statements respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Distributable reserves of the Company as at 31 March 2023 calculated
under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (as amended) was Nil (2022:
Nil) subject to restrictions as set out in note 28 to the consolidated
financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movement in share capital of the Company during the
year are set out in note 25 to the consolidated financial statements.
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FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group
for the last five financial years is set out on page 236 to this annual
report.

BORROWINGS

Details of the Group’s borrowings as at 31 March 2023 are set out in
note 23 to the consolidated financial statements.

TAX RELIEF

The Company is not aware of any relief from taxation available to the
shareholders by reason of their holdings of shares of the Company.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s bye-
laws (the “Bye-laws”) or the laws of Bermuda, being the jurisdiction
in which the Company was incorporated, which would oblige the
Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to the existing
shareholders of the Company.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'’S LISTED SECURITIES

Other than disclosed elsewhere, neither the Company nor any of its
subsidiaries has purchased, sold or redeemed any listed securities of
the Company during the year ended 31 March 2023.

DIRECTORS

The directors of the Company who held office during the year and up to
the date of this report were:

Executive Directors

Ms. CUI Xintong (Co-chairperson)
Mr. LI Junjie (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. CONG Peifeng

Mr. XU Yingchuan

Non-executive Directors
Mr. CUI Mindong

Mr. SUI Guangyi (Co-chairperson)

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. TSANG Hung Kei

Mr. WANG Xiaochu
Mr. WANG Xueguang
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DIRECTORS (continued)

Mr. Li Junjie, Mr. Xu Yingchuan and Mr. Tsang Hung Kei shall retire from
office as Director by rotation at the forthcoming annual general meeting
and, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election in accordance
with the Bye-Law 84(1) of the Bye-laws.

Biographical details of Directors and Senior Management are set out on
pages 26 to 31 to this annual report, and details of the Directors to retire
and subject to re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting
of the Company are also contained in the circular to be despatched
together with this annual report.

The Company has received from each of the Independent Non-
executive Directors a written annual confirmation of their independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules on Stock Exchange. The
Company considers all the Independent Non-executive Directors are
independent.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors who are proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting has a service contract or a letter
of appointment with the Company which is not determinable within
one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.

MATERIAL INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed elsewhere in this report, (i) no other transactions,
arrangement or contracts of significance in relation to the Group’s
business to which the Company or any of its holding companies, or
any of their subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director or an entity
connected with the Directors had a material interest and (i) no other
contracts of significance between the Company, or its subsidiaries, and
its controlling shareholder or any of its subsidiaries, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisted during or at the end of the financial year.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

As at the date of this report, none of the Directors or their respective
associates are interested in any business which competes or is likely to
compete, either directly or indirectly, with the Group’s businesses.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Bye-laws, the Directors and other officers of the
Company shall be indemnified and secured harmless out of the assets
and profits of the Company from and against all actions, costs, charges,
losses, damages and expenses which shall or may incur or sustain by
or by reasons of any act done, concurred in or omitted in or about the
execution of their duties or otherwise in relation thereto. In addition, the
Company has appropriate liability insurance coverage for the Directors
and officers.

INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF THE
DIRECTORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES OF THE
COMPANY IN THE SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY
OR ANY ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

As at 31 March 2023, the Directors and chief executives of the
Company had the following interests or short positions in shares,
underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities
and Futures Ordinance (the “SFQO”)) as recorded in the register required
to be kept pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code
for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model
Codge”) in the Listing Rules:
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INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF THE
DIRECTORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES OF THE
COMPANY IN THE SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY
OR ANY ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS
(continued)

(a) Interests in ordinary shares of the Company (the

EERARARSTHRAEBRE
RNAREFEMEBEEBRAD -
RO RESZP2BER KR
(&)

@ RAEAQBAHER (RG] 2 #E

“Shares”)

Approximate
percentage of

Name of Directors/ Nature of No. of issued voting

Chief Executives interest Position Shares held Shares

KIS BT

BEx REER G

BSTHABHE ERME ¥R iR 8 AR Batt

(Note 1)

(MzE1)

Ms. Cui Xintong Interest in a controlled Long 2,259,101,065 31.36%
(“Ms. Cui”) corporation (Note 2)
EFEgt((Ext]) REEHER 2 e GERY

Mr. Sui Guangyi Interest in a controlled Long 1,042,000,000 14.46%
(“Mr. Sui”) corporation (Note 3)
FEEZESTE([FBEE] MREEGDER 2 e GEXR)

(b) Interest in the underlying shares of the Company

(b) RA A RIAAEE R 17 2 2

Approximate
percentage of

Name of Directors/ No. of issued voting
Chief Executives Nature of interest Position shares held Shares
KB BT
Bs Fr%s REERD
Be{THABHE ERME B¥E RBEE BatE
(Note 1)
(PM5E1)
Mr. Sui Interest in a controlled Long 1,000,000,000 13.88%
corporation (Note 4)
FEEE MNEEHER 2 s e GETY
Mr. Li Junjie Interest in a controlled Long 1,000,000,000 13.88%
corporation (Note 4)
FERERE REVESDER 2 HE GETY
Ms. Cui Settlor of a trust Long 264,299,307 3.67%
Bt FEE&FEA e (Note 5)
(H$3E5)
Mr. Xu Yingchuan Beneficiary owner Long 1,000,000 0.01%
S E=EAA e (Note 6)
(BizEe)
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INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF THE
DIRECTORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES OF THE
COMPANY IN THE SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY
OR ANY ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS
(continued)

Notes:

1.

The percentage is calculated on the basis of 7,203,638,808 issued voting
Shares as at 31 March 2023.

These 2,259,201,165 Shares consist of (i) 434,320,694 Shares held by
Charm Success Group Limited (“Charm Success”); and (i) 1,824,780,371
Shares held by Ka Yik Investments Limited (“Ka Yik”). Charm Success
and Ka Yik are companies wholly owned by Deep Wealth Holding Limited
(“Deep Wealth”), which is in turn held by TMF (Cayman) Ltd. as trustee of the
Ground Trust. The Ground Trust is a discretionary trust set up by Ms. Cui as
settlor and protector, and TMF (Cayman) Ltd. as trustee on 27 July 2016. By
virtue of the SFO, Ms. Cui is deemed to be interested in the securities of the
Company held by Charm Success and Ka Yik, and such interest duplicated
the interest of Charm Success, Ka Yik and Mr. Lee Ken-yi, Terence (“Mr.
Lee”) (Ms. Cui’s spouse) for the purpose of SFO.

These 1,042,000,000 Shares are held by Hong Kong Toprich Investment
Limited. Hong Kong Toprich Investment Limited, Final Destination Limited,
Eternity Sky Limited and Flying Goddess Limited are all wholly-owned
subsidiaries of China Investment Fund Company Limited (“China Investment
Fund”). China Investment Fund is a company incorporated in the Cayman
Islands, whose shares are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.
Mr. Sui a non-executive Director and co-chairperson of the Company, is
a substantial shareholder and holds approximately 22.26% of the issued
share capital of China Investment Fund, of which approximately 12.68% is
held through his 50%-owned company and approximately 9.58% is held by
himself. The interests duplicate each other.
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INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF THE
DIRECTORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES OF THE
COMPANY IN THE SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY
OR ANY ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS
(continued)

Notes: (continued)

4. Ka Yik entered into a sale and purchase agreement on 29 July 2022
pursuant to which Ka Yik agreed to sell 1,000,000,000 shares to Tianfeng
International Holding Ltd (“Tianfeng”). Jilin Province Wanding Holdings Group
Company Limited* (EM& & SIEREBARAR) (“Jilin Wanding”) is the
shareholder of Tianfeng. Jilin Wanding is owned as to () 90% by Mr. Sui,
a non-executive Director and the co-chairperson of the Company; and (ii)
5% by Mr. Li Junjie, an executive Director and the Chief Executive Officer
of the Company. The interest duplicate each other. The transaction is yet to
complete as at 31 March 2023.

5. As set out in note 2 above, Ka Yik is a company held under the Ground
Trust where Ms. Cui is the settlor and protector. Ms. Cui is deemed to
be interested in those Shares and underlying shares of the Company by
virtue of the SFO and such interest duplicated Ms. Cui's partial interest for
the purpose of SFO. As at 31 March 2023, those 264,299,307 underlying
shares consist of convertible bonds in an aggregate principal amount
of HK$103,076,730 (convertible into 264,299,307 Shares in total) to be
issued by the Company to Ka Yik pursuant to a subscription agreement
dated 7 September 2021 (supplemented by a supplemental letter dated
28 September 2021 and supplemental agreement dated 22 October 2021)
entered into between the Company and Ka Yik; and all of such underlying
shares are unlisted and physically settled under SFO. Mr. Lee is the spouse
of Ms. Cui, an executive Director and co-chairperson of the Board. Mr. Lee
is deemed to be interested in those securities by virtue of being Ms. Cui’s
spouse under the SFO and such interest duplicated to Ms. Cui’s interest for
the purpose of SFO. All of the relevant underlying shares are unlisted and
physically settled under SFO.

6. Those underlying shares are the share options granted by the Company
under the share option scheme of the Company, information of which was
shown in the section headed “Share Option Scheme” of this report. All of
such underlying shares are unlisted and physically settled under SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2023, none of the Directors

and chief executives of the Company had any interests or short

positions in any shares, underlying shares or debentures of the

Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning

of Part XV of the SFO) as recorded in the register required to be kept

pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the

Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

Save as disclosed above, at no time during the year was the Company
and any of its holding companies and subsidiaries, a party to any
arrangements to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means of
the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other
body corporate.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS IN FERRNBF 2R

SECURITIES

As at 31 March 2023, the interests or short positions of the parties e
other than the Directors and chief executives of the Company in the %%ﬁ

FZA=+—H EENAQT
81 $7|‘Z}\:|:E’\ZIK’& AR & AE
shares and underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the
register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of EE&STUE"

40

the SFO were as follows: BT
(a) Interests in Shares (a) R7 =

Approximate

percentage of

No. of issued voting

Name of shareholder Nature of interest Position Shares held Shares

HIEE BT

Fr%s REERG

REREH ERME Be RBEE BatE

(Note 1)

(BtzE1)

Charm Success Registered owner Long 434,320,694 6.03%
EK EREEA e (Note 2)
(BizE2)

Ka Yik Registered owner Long 1,824,780,371 25.33%
e Kot ZE DN e (Note 2)
(M$3E2)

TMF (Cayman) Ltd. Trustee Long 2,259,101,065 31.36%
ZEEA [S=) (Note 2)
(M$3E2)

Deep Wealth Interest in controlled Long 2,259,101,065 31.36%
Holding Limited corporation (Note 2)
(“Deep Wealth”) REZESERE 2 e (Ht&E2)

([Deep Wealth 1)

Mr. Lee Ken-yi Terence Interest of spouse Long 2,259,101,065 31.36%
(“Mr. Lee”) (Notes 2, 7)
FoaRiE((FERE]D A B es HE (HfEE2 -~ 7)
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS IN FERRNBS 2= (F)
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SECURITIES (continued)
(a) Interests in Shares (continued) (a) R #Ez= (48)
Approximate
percentage of
No. of issued voting
Name of shareholder Nature of interest Shares held Shares
KB R1T
P REER®A
RRERE ERME gk ¢E| Eband
(Note 1)
(F5E1)
Mr. Sui Interest in controlled 1,042,000,000 14.46%
corporation (Note 4)
B4 ZAESIEE 2 s GEDS)
China Investment Interest in controlled 1,042,000,000 14.46%
Fund Company Limited corporation (Note 4)
FREEEESHRAR] SR HEE 2 s (HizE4)
Flying Goddess Limited Interest in controlled 1,042,000,000 14.46%
corporation (Note 4)
AR GIERE 2w (K3 4)
Eternity Sky Limited Interest in controlled 1,042,000,000 14.46%
corporation (Note 4)
AR SIEE 2 s GEDS)
Final Destination Limited Interest in controlled 1,042,000,000 14.46%
corporation (Note 4)
SR HEE 2 s (KtsE4)
Hong Kong Toprich Registered owner 1,042,000,000 14.46%
Investment Limited (Note 4)
BERERERRAR EiHEAA (Hf3E4)
Integrated Asset Beneficial owner 647,398,307 8.99%
Management (Asia) (Note 5)
Limited
NEEEEE (M) EnEEA (KF3E5)
BRAT]
Mr. Yam Tak Cheung Interest in controlled 647,398,307 8.99%
(“Mr. Yam”) corporation (Note 5)
FEEAE(EEED AR BIEE 2 s (BfsE5)
Mr. Jiang Jinbo Interest in controlled 630,000,000 8.75%
(“Mr. Jiang”) corporation (Note 6)
and beneficial owner
ZeRAE(ZERE]D (Kf3E6)
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS IN
SECURITIES (continued)

(b) Interest in the underlying shares of the Company

FTERRNES 2 Em ()

(b) RA X B HEEE MR 17 2 #E 52

Approximate

No. of percentage of
underlying issued voting
Name of shareholder Nature of interest Position shares held Shares
LT BT
FrEiaRe REERSG
RRAERE fEEME B2 RHEE Bk
(Note 1)
(BF3E1)
Ka Yik Registered owner Long 264,299,307 3.67%
(Note 3)
e BREEA S~ (Bt=E3)
TMF (Cayman) Ltd. Trustee Long 264,299,307 3.67%
(Note 3)
ZEEA 5] (Bt=E3)
Deep Wealth Interest in controlled Long 264,299,307 3.67%
corporation (Note 3)
REZEERE 2 S~ (Bt=E3)
Mr. Lee Interest of spouse Long 264,299,307 3.67%
(Notes 3, 7)
oA Ao B s S~ (BzE3 - 7)
Notes: M5 -

1. The percentage is calculated on the basis of 7,203,638,808 issued
voting Shares as at 31 March 2023.

2. These 2,259,101,065 Shares consist of (i) 434,320,694 Shares held by
Charm Success; and (i) 1,824,780,371 Shares held by Ka Yik. Charm
Success and Ka Yik are companies wholly owned by Deep Wealth,
which is in turn held by TMF (Cayman) Ltd. as the trustee of the Ground
Trust. The Ground Trust is a discretionary trust set up by Ms. Cui as
settlor and protector, and TMF (Cayman) Ltd. as trustee on 27 July
2016. By virtue of the SFO, Ms. Cui is deemed to be interested in the
securities of the Company held by Charm Success and Ka Yik, and such
interest duplicated the interest of Charm Success, Ka Yik, Mr. Lee (Ms.
Cui’s spouse) for the purpose of SFO.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS IN
SECURITIES (continued)

Notes: (continued)

3. As set out in note 2 above, Ka Yik is a company wholly-owned by Deep

Wealth, which is in turn held by TMF (Cayman) Ltd. as trustee of the
Ground Trust where Ms. Cui is the settlor and protector. Each of TMF
(Cayman) Ltd., Deep Wealth and Ms. Cui is deemed to be interested in
those Shares and underlying shares of the Company by virtue of the SFO.
As at 31 March 2023, those 264,299,307 underlying shares consist of
convertible bonds in an aggregate principal amount of HK$103,076,730
(convertible into 264,299,307 Shares in total) to be issued by the Company
to Ka Yik pursuant to a subscription agreement dated 7 September 2021
(supplemented by a supplemental letter dated 28 September 2021 and
supplemental agreement dated 22 October 2021) entered into between
the Company and Ka Yik. All of such underlying shares are unlisted and
physically settled under SFO.

These 1,042,000,000 Shares are held by Hong Kong Toprich Investment
Limited. Hong Kong Toprich Investment Limited, Final Destination Limited,
Eternity Sky Limited and Flying Goddess Limited are all wholly-owned
subsidiaries of China Investment Fund Company Limited (“China Investment
Fund”). China Investment Fund is a company incorporated in the Cayman
Islands, whose shares are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.
Mr. Sui, a non-executive Director and co-chairperson Company, is substantial
shareholder and holds approximately 22.26% of the issued share capital of
China Investment Fund of which approximately 12.68% is held through 50%
owned company and approximately 9.58% is held by himself. The interest
duplicate each other.

Integrated Asset Management (Asia) Limited is a company wholly and
beneficially owned by Mr. Yam. Mr. Yam deemed to be interested in those
Shares by virtue of being its controlling shareholder under SFO. The interests
duplicate each other.

These 630,000,000 Shares consists of (i) 330,000,000 Shares held by Mr.
Jiang himself; and (ii) 300,000,000 Shares held by Yuanhui International
Holding Limited* (JUFEBIER 12 A% B R /A F]), which is in turn wholly-owned
by Shenzhen Dingxin Holding Group Company Limited* (Z3IITH & #7i%
BB R A F]) (“Shenzhen Dingxin”). Shenzhen Dingxin is wholly and
beneficially owned by Mr. Jiang. Mr. Jiang is both interested in and deemed
to be interested in those Shares by virtue of being its controlling shareholder
under SFO. Accordingly, Mr. Jiang is deemed to be interested in a total of
630,000,000 Shares by virtue of Part XV of the SFO.

Mr. Lee is the spouse of Ms. Cui, an executive Director and co-chairperson
of the Board. Mr. Lee is deemed to be interested in those securities by
virtue of being Ms. Cui’s spouse under the SFO and such interest duplicated
to Ms. Cui’s interest for the purpose of SFO. All of the relevant underlying
shares are unlisted and physically settled under SFO.

FTERRNES 2 Em

( i} )

BifeE - (8

3.

AN STHEFE2FT & 0 2R 72 f Deep Wealth
2 & % A Deep Wealth 8l Fi Ground Trust
K] % 3 ATMF (Cayman) Ltd. £ » & 2 +
£ Ground Trust K ZEFEA RREA © IBRIBE
% N HR & & 5] - TMF (Cayman) Ltd. * Deep
Wealth R EX T & B WR AR AR RZER
DRBAROPESES RZTEZ=F=
A=+—H8 ' 264,299,307 BRABFAMRS £21E
RARRBANRBREFITINBHA=
T —FNALENRERZ (KEHA=T
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T —Ft+A-t-_BOHRERBERT) AR
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EEERE

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS IN
SECURITIES (continued)

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2023, none of the parties
other than Directors and chief executives of the Company had any
interests or short positions in the Shares or underlying shares which
would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of
Division 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO as recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Details of the share option scheme of the Company and the movements
in the share options are set out in note 27 to the consolidated financial
statements.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Group were entered
into or existed during the financial year.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save for disclosed in the sections headed “Share Option Scheme”
and “Issue of Shares, Convertible Preference Shares and Convertible
Bonds” in this report, the Company did not enter into any equity-linked
agreements during the financial year.

ISSUE OF SHARES, CONVERTIBLE PREFERENCE
SHARES AND CONVERTIBLE BONDS

Details of the shares, convertible preference shares and convertible
bonds issued by the Company and their movements during the year
ended 31 March 2023 were set out in notes 25, 26 and 24 to the
consolidated financial statements respectively.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the five largest customers of the
Group accounted for less than 30% of the Group’s total revenue. The
five largest suppliers of the Group accounted for less than 30% of the
Group’s total purchases.
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DIVIDEND

The Directors do not recommend the payment of any dividend for the
year ended 31 March 2023 (2022: Nil). The Board, at its sole discretion,
declares or proposes payment of dividends after taking into account
a number of factors, including the results of operations, financial
conditions, working capital, capital requirement and other factors the
Board may deem relevant.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has maintained
sufficient public float of not less than 25% of the Company’s total
number of issued shares as required under the Listing Rules throughout
the year ended 31 March 2023 and up to the date of this report.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the financial year ended 31
March 2023 were audited by Mazars CPA Limited (“Mazars”) who would
retire at the conclusion of the forthcoming annual general meeting
and being eligible, offer itself for re-appointment. A resolution will be
proposed in the forthcoming annual general meeting to re-appoint
Mazars as the auditor of the Company.

Save as disclosed above, there has been no other change in auditor of
the Company in the preceding three years.

On behalf of the Board
Cui Xintong
Co-Chairperson

Hong Kong, 27 June 2023
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The Board recognises the importance of good corporate governance
and is committed to maintaining a good governance standards within
the Group. The Board adopts and continuously develops a set of
internal guidelines, practices and policies on the corporate governance.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company adopted the principles in the applicable code provisions
of the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) as set out in
Appendix 14 to Listing Rules on the Stock Exchange and complied with
all the applicable code provisions during the financial year, except for a
deviation specified below:

Under Rule 3.25 of the Listing Rule, an issuer must establish a
remuneration committee (the “Remuneration Committee”) chaired by
an independent non-executive Director and comprising a majority of
independent non-executive Directors.

The Company had Ms. Cui, the chairperson of the Board, as the
chairperson of the Remuneration Committee which is deviated from
the Listing Rule. On 29 June 2022, Ms. Cui Xintong resigned as the
chairperson of the Remuneration Committee and remained to be a
member of the Remuneration committee; and Mr. Tsang Hung Kei,
our Independent non-executive Director, has been appointed as the
chairperson of the Remuneration Committee in place of Ms. Cui with
effect from 29 June 2022.

Code provision A.6.7 of the CG Code requires that independent non-
executive Directors and other non-executive Directors, as equal board
members, should give the board and any committees on which they
serve the benefit of their skills, expertise and varied backgrounds and
qualifications through regular attendance and active participation.
Generally, they should attend general meetings to gain and develop
a balanced understanding of the views of shareholders. Due to the
COVID-19 pandemic, certain of the independent non-executive
Directors and executive Directors were unable to physically attend the
Company’s annual general meeting on 7 September 2022, but attended
these meetings by means of video conference.
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DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set out in Appendix
10 to the Listing Rules as the Company’s code of conduct for dealings
in securities of the Company by the Directors. All Directors have
confirmed, following specific enquiries by the Company, that throughout
the year ended 31 March 2023 they complied with the required
standard as set out in the Model Code.

THE BOARD
Composition

During the financial year and up to the date of this report, the Board
comprised the following Directors:

Executive Directors

Ms. CUI Xintong (Co-chairperson)
Mr. LI Junjie (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. CONG Peifeng

Mr. XU Yingchuan

Non-executive Directors
Mr. CUI Mindong
Mr. SUI Guangyi (Co-chairperson)

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. TSANG Hung Kei

Mr. WANG Xiaochu

Mr. WANG Xueguang

During the financial year, the Board maintained a balanced composition
of executive Directors and non-executive Directors which generated
a strong independent element to the Board. All Directors are subject
to retirement by rotation and re-election at the general meeting of
the Company (in case of filling a casual vacancy) or at the annual
general meeting of the Company (in case of an addition to the Board)
following their appointment and at least once every three years in
accordance with the Bye-laws. A list of the Directors identifying their
role and function is published on the Stock Exchange’s website and
the Company’s website. The biographical details of the Directors in
existence during the financial year are set out on pages 26 to 31 to this
annual report.

Other than disclosed in this report, the Board members have no
financial, business, family or other relationships with each other.
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THE BOARD (continued)
Composition (continued)

The Board has established mechanisms to ensure that independent
views are available to the Board. A summary of Mechanism on
independent views to the board is set out below:

(i) Composition

The Board ensures the appointment of at least three Independent
Non-executive Directors and at least one-third of its members being
Independent Non-executive Directors (or such higher threshold as
may be required by the Listing Rules from time to time), with at least
one Independent Non-executive Director possessing appropriate
professional qualifications, or accounting or related financial
management expertise. Further, Independent Non-executive
Directors will be appointed to Board Committees as required under
the Listing Rules and as far as practicable to ensure independent
views are available.

(if) Independence Assessment

The Nomination Committee strictly adheres to the Nomination Policy
with regard to the nomination and appointment of Independent
Non-executive Directors, and is mandated to assess annually the
independence of Independent Non-executive Directors to ensure
that they can continually exercise independent judgement.

(iii) Compensation

No equity-based remuneration with performance-related elements
will be granted to Independent Non-executive Directors as this
may lead to bias in their decision-making and compromise their
objectivity and independence.

(iv) Board Decision Making

Directors (including Independent Non-executive Directors) are
entitled to seek further information from the management on the
matters to be discussed at Board meetings and, where necessary,
independent advice from external professional advisers at the
Company’s expense. A Director (including Independent Non-
executive Director) who has a material interest in a contract,
transaction or arrangement shall not vote or be counted in the
quorum on any Board resolution approving the same.
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THE BOARD (continued)
Composition (continued)

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Board at all times met
the requirements of the Listing Rules relating to the appointment of
Independent Non-executive Directors as mentioned in item (i) above.

The Board received from each of the Independent Non-executive
Directors a written annual confirmation relating to their respective
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company
considered all of the independent non-executive Directors were
independent.

Responsibilities of and Support for Directors

The Board nourishes the Company’s culture and strives to promote
the desired culture at the Company, and ensures it aligns with
the Company’s purpose, values and strategy. The Board has the
responsibility for managing the Company, which includes formulating
a corporate strategy and a long term business model, directing and
supervising the Company’s affairs, approving the Company’s financial
reports and the relevant results announcements, considering dividend
policy and approving the issue, allotment or disposal, or grant of
options, in respect of securities or debentures of the Company. It is
also responsible for performing the corporate governance duties and
reviewing the effectiveness of the risk management and internal control
systems which include reviewing the adequacy of resources and budget
of the Company’s accounting, financial reporting functions, as well as
those relating to the Company’s environmental, social and governance
(“ESG”) performance and reporting. In addition, the Board has various
Board committees and delegates to these committees various
responsibilities set out in their respective terms of reference.

The day-to-day management, administration and operation of the
Company are delegated to the management team. The Board gives
clear directions to the management as to their powers of management,
and circumstances in which the management should report back.
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THE BOARD (continued)
Continuous Professional Development

All Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills so as
to ensure that their contributions to the Board remain informed and
relevant. Every newly appointed Director shall be given an induction
package covering, inter alia, the Group’s business, the statutory and
regulatory obligations and duties of a director of a listed company.
In addition, all Directors are provided with monthly updates on the
performance and position of the Group to enable the Board as a whole
and each Director to discharge their duties. Furthermore, all Directors
are updated from time to time on the latest changes and development
regarding the Listing Rules, corporate governance practices and other
regulatory and statutory regime with reference materials in order to
ensure compliance and provide their advice on corporate governance.

Directors are requested to provide the Company with their respective
training record pursuant to Code Provision A.6.5. During the financial
year, the Directors participated in continuous professional development
through reading materials on regulatory updates, director’s duties and
responsibilities and corporate governance matters and/or attending
relevant seminars or courses provided by professional bodies. The
Directors have provided the Company with a record of the relevant
training undertaken during the financial year as summarised below:
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Attending briefing/

Directors seminars/courses Reading Materials
HEZENE

B maeg RE BB R

Executive Directors HITES

Ms. CUI Xintong EFELL v v

Mr. LI Junjie XS v/ v

Mr. CONG Peifeng Mg ST v v

Mr. XU Yingchuan eI e v v

Non-executive Directors FHITES

Mr. CUI Mindong ERREE v v

Mr. SUI Guangyi BERLE v v

Independent Non-executive Directors BN IEHTES

Mr. TSANG Hung Kei BIEEL A v/ v/

Mr. WANG Xiaochu FERAE v/ v

Mr. WANG Xueguang E=T e v/ v/
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THE BOARD (continued)

Board Meetings, General Meetings and Attendance of
Directors

During the financial year ended 31 March 2023, the Company held four
regular Board meetings held at approximately quarterly intervals, and an
annual general meeting (“AGM”). The attendance of each Director is as
follows:

E2g (&)
EEZ2E8 RRASRESLHE
=P

HE T -_ZFZA=Z+—BHULFHFE
W ARRHBITOATHESTESRE (K
HNEZE-R)RE—XREBEFAE ((RE
BFERE])  SEZZEEREHINOT :

Attended/Eligible to attend

HEAERERE

Board Meeting AGM

Exges REBFRE

Ms. CUI Xintong BEFELT 4/4 1/1
Mr. LI Junjie TG 4/4 1/1
Mr. CONG Peifeng HEMIE ST A 4/4 1/1
Mr. XU Yingchuan eI B 4/4 1/1
Mr. CUI Mindong ERRTE 4/4 1/1
Mr. SUI Guangyi BEEZLE 4/4 1/1
Mr. TSANG Hung Kei EISE A 4/4 1/1
Mr. WANG Xiaochu FREFISEE 4/4 1/1
Mr. WANG Xueguang FEXEE 4/4 1/1
Apart from the said Board meetings, routine/operational matters R FiEFES RN FTEEFSHEZD

requiring Board approval were arranged by means of circulation
of written resolutions with supporting materials, supplemented by
additional verbal and/or written information from the company secretary
of the Company as and when appropriate. The Chairperson of the
Board attended the AGM and invited the chairpersons of the audit,
remuneration, nomination committees to attend. In case of absence of
committee chairperson, the Chairperson invited another member of the
committee attended to answer questions at the AGM.

7/ BEEEL2FHETEBERRERS
NERMAX RN AR ERBARBZA
A ERHEIIAER REBHTERRN
EREFENEMEHNEE -EFSTFY
FRRBFAE  WHFER  #HM - 24
ZEQZIFHFE - HRBZEEEF X
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CO-CHAIRPERSON AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE
OFFICER

According to the Code Provision C.2.1, the role of the Chairman and the
Chief Executive Officer (the “CEQ”) should be separated and performed
by different individuals to ensure a balance of power and authority so
that power is not concentrated in any one individual.

The Co-chairpersons, Ms. Cui Xintong and Mr. Sui Guangyi are
responsible for overall corporate planning and strategic policy making
and the effective functioning of the Board in accordance with good
corporate governance practices. Mr. Li Junjie was appointed as an
executive Director and chief executive officer of the Company. He is
responsible to execute the corporate planning and strategic policy.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Pursuant to Rules 3.10(1), 3.10(2), 3.10(A) and 3.21 of the Listing Rules,
every board of directors of a listed issuer must include at least three
independent non-executive directors, at least of three independent non-
executive directors must have appropriate professional qualifications or
accounting or related financial management expertise, an issuer must
appoint independent non-executive directors representing at least one-
third of the board, and the audit committee must comprise a minimum
of three members.

During the financial year ended 31 March 2023, the Group had at least
three Independent Non-executive Directors at all times. The Company
was in compliance with the requirements under Rules 3.10(1), 3.10(2),
3.10(A) and 3.21 for the Listing Rules during the year.

All of the Independent Non-executive Directors have entered into letters
of appointment with the Company for a specified period of one or three
year (renewable), subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at the
annual general meeting of the Company at least once every three years
in accordance with the Bye-laws.
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has three Board committees, including the Remuneration
Committee, the Nomination Committee and the Audit Committee to
help with the discharge of its responsibilities.

Remuneration Committee

As at 31 March 2023, the Remuneration Committee comprises Ms.
Cui Xintong, Mr. Tsang Hung Kei (chairperson of the Remuneration
Committee), Mr. Wang Xiaochu and Mr. Wang Xueguang. On 29 June
2022, Ms Cui Xintong resigned as the chairperson of the Remuneration
Committee but remained as a member of the Remuneration Committee;
and Mr. Tsang Hung Kei had been appointed as the chairperson
of the Remuneration Committee in replace of Ms. Cui Xintong. The
Remuneration Committee’s duties as set out in its terms of reference
include, inter alia, to make recommendations to the Board on the
Company’s policy and structure for the remuneration of all Directors
and senior management, making recommendation to the Board
on the remuneration packages for individual Directors and senior
management, and administering and overseeing the Company’s share
option scheme(s). No Director or any of his/her associates is involved
in deciding his/her own remuneration. The terms of reference of the
Remuneration Committee setting out its role and responsibilities are
available on the Stock Exchange’s website and the Company’s website.

The Board adopted a remuneration policy for directors and senior
management to provide guidelines for structuring all remuneration of
directors and senior management. The remuneration policy is reviewed
annually by the Board and the Remuneration Committee. The policy
sets out, among others, the remuneration structure which mainly covers
director’s fee, basic salary, discretionary bonus, other benefits in kind,
pension scheme, share option scheme(s) and termination payments,
and determination or review of remuneration packages. The Directors’
and senior management’s remuneration packages are determined,
or reviewed annually, taking into consideration the criteria such as
experience, responsibilities, workload, time commitment, individual’s
and the Company’s performance as well as the prevailing market
conditions. Meetings of the Remuneration Committee shall be held at
least once a year.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)
Remuneration Committee (continued)
The Remuneration Committee held two meetings during the financial

year ended 31 March 2023. The attendance of each member is set out
as follows:

EEZRE (A

FHEESE (H)
BE_F-=F=A=1+-BILHBEE
FMERGHBOIMAGH - SREZHRE

KEFIAT

Number of meetings attended/
Eligible to attend

HEEEREESRRE
Mr. TSANG Hung Kei (Chairperson)!  &ieE 4 (£/E) ! 2/2
Ms. CUI Xintong (Chairperson)? EFEZE (FE)? 2/2
Mr. WANG Xiaochu FBERAE 2/2
Mr. WANG Xueguang FEXEE 2/2

Note:

1) Appointed as Chairperson on 29 June 2022
2) Ceased to be Chairperson on 29 June 2022

The work performed by the Remuneration Committee during the year
are summarised as follows:

(@) reviewed the remuneration policy and structure of all Directors and
senior management;

(b) reviewed the terms of reference in compliance with the prevailing
CG Code;

(c) reviewed and recommended the Board on the remuneration
packages of all Directors and senior management; and

(d) administer and oversee the share options granted under the share
option scheme of the Company.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)
Nomination Committee

As at 31 March 2023, the Nomination Committee comprises one
Executive Director and three Independent Non-executive Directors,
namely Ms. Cui Xintong (Chairperson of the Nomination Committee),
Mr. Tsang Hung Kei, Mr. Wang Xiaochu and Mr. Wang Xueguang. The
Nomination Committee’s duties as set out in its terms of reference
include, inter alia, formulating, reviewing and implementing nomination
policy for Directors, reviewing the structure, size and composition of
the Board, identifying individuals suitably qualified to become Board
members, receiving nominations from shareholders or Directors,
assessing the independence of the Independent Non-executive
Directors and undertaking an annual performance evaluation of the
Board. The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee setting
out its role and responsibilities are available on the Stock Exchange’s
website and the Company’s website. The Board adopts a nomination
policy for Directors to provide guidelines for effective functioning in the
course of director’s nomination process. The policy sets out, among
others, the selection procedures and evaluation criteria for selecting
and recommending the candidates for directorship. The Nomination
Committee first assesses the needs of the Board in respect of its
structure, size and composition, identifies potential candidates by
considering, among others, their personal ethics, integrity, skills,
professional knowledge and experience and time commitment and then
develops a short list of potential appointees for recommendation to the
Board.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)
Nomination Committee (continued)

The Nomination Committee held two meetings during the financial year
ended 31 March 2023. The attendance of each member is set out as

i%;ﬁ% (nlﬁ)
REZEE (&)

BE_T_=—F=-A=t—HULMBFE
REZEGERHITMAGH - SKEZHE

follows: REFNAT -
Number of meetings attended/
Eligible to attend
HE SEREFEERRE
Ms. CUI Xintong (Chairperson) EFELT(FE) 2/2
Mr. TSANG Hung Kei BIEE LA 2/2
Mr. WANG Xiaochu FREYISESE 2/2
Mr. WANG Xueguang FEXEE 2/2

The work performed by the Nomination Committee during the year are
summarised as follows:

(@ nominated the incumbent Directors for re-election;

(b) reviewed the nomination policy for Directors;

(c) reviewed the Board Diversity Policy;

(d) reviewed the terms of reference in compliance with the prevailing
CG Code;

(e) reviewed the structure, size and composition of the Board; and

() assessed the independence of the Independent Non-executive
Directors.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)
Nomination Committee (continued)
Board Diversity Policy

The Board also adopted a board diversity policy (the “Board Diversity
Policy”) from 2013 which sets out its approach to diversity on the Board.
The Board recognises and embraces the benefits of board diversity to
enhance the quality of performance and endeavours to ensure that the
Board has a balance of skills, experience and diversity of perspectives
appropriate to the requirements of the Company’s business. The
Company seeks to achieve board diversity through the consideration of
a number of factors, including but not limited to, gender, age, cultural
and educational background, ethnicity, professional qualification and
experience, skills, knowledge and length of service. As at the date of
this report, the Board comprises nine Directors, one of which is female.
The Board considers that it is not necessary to set numerical targets
and timeline for Board gender diversity for the time being. The Board
will strive to improving gender diversity as and when suitable candidates
are identified. The Nomination Committee will consider candidates
on merit and contribution that they will bring to the Board and then
recommended the appropriate person(s) to the Board for consideration.
The Nomination Committee will review, as appropriate, and monitor the
implementation of the Board Diversity Policy to ensure its effectiveness.
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Age Group FirAE R

31-40 31-405% 1
41-50 41-50 5%, 2
51-60 51-60 5% 5
60 or above 60 BREIA 1
Gender 4 5

Female g ;
Male B 8
Composition of Board EEEAK

Executive Director HITES 4
Non-executive Director IFEITES 2
Independent non-executive Director B IFSITE S 3

Diversity at Workforce Level

As at 31 March 2023, 51.48% of the Group’s employees (including
Directors and senior management) were male and 48.52% were female.
The Company considers that gender diversity in respect of the Group’s
workforce is achieved.

BIZ{t

R—ZE=_=F=A=+—H'AKEE
T(ERESkAATERE) P BSMHM
51.48% @ M5 48.52% » ANAFIR AR
SEEIEERMRIZTIL -

Annual Report 2022/23 4

57



58

Corporate Governance Report
TEER®E

BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)
Audit Committee

As at 31 March 2023, the Audit Committee comprises all the
independent non-executive Directors namely Mr. Tsang Hung Kei
(Chairperson of the Audit Committee), Mr. Wang Xiaochu and Mr.
Wang Xueguang. One of the three Committee members possesses
appropriate professional accounting qualifications and expertise. The
Company was in compliance with the requirements under Rule 3.21 of
the Listing Rules.

The Audit Committee’s duties as set out in its terms of reference
include, inter alia, reviewing and monitoring the financial reporting,
overseeing and reviewing the Company’s financial reporting system,
risk management and internal control systems and the Group’s financial
and accounting policies and practices with the management and the
external auditor and considering the appointment, re-appointment and
removal of the external auditor and the external auditor’s remuneration
and terms of engagement. The terms of reference of the Audit
Committee setting out its role and responsibilities are available on the
Stock Exchange’s website and the Company’s website.

The Audit Committee held two meetings during the financial year ended
31 March 2023. The attendance of each member is set out as follows:

EEZEE (&)
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Number of meetings attended/
Eligible to attend

HEGEREESRRE
Mr. TSANG Hung Kei (Chairperson) WISEILLE (FE) 2/2
Mr. WANG Xiaochu FESAE 2/2
Mr. WANG Xueguang TFEXEE 2/2

The work performed by the Audit Committee during the financial year
are summarised as follows:

(@) reviewed the annual results for year ended 31 March 2022 and the
interim results for six months ended 30 September 2022 and the
reports from external auditor, management representation letters
and management’s response in relation thereto;

(b) reviewed the respective reports on the Group’s continuing
connected transactions and internal control;
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)
Audit Committee (continued)

(c) reviewed the accounting policies and practices as well as the
financial reporting system and risk management and internal control
system of the Group;

(d) reviewed the terms of reference in compliance with prevailing CG
Code;

(e) reviewed the continuing connected transactions of the Group
pursuant to Rule 14A.55 of the Listing Rules; and

(f) reviewed the effectiveness of financial reporting system and internal
control system of the Group.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board is responsible for performing the following main corporate
governance functions as set out under the written responsibilities of the
Board:

(@) To develop and review the Company’s terms of reference, policies,
practices, codes and guidelines on corporate governance and to
make recommendations thereof;

(b) To review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management;

(c) To review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

(d) To develop, review and monitor the code of conduct applicable to
employees and Directors; and

(e) To review the Company’s compliance with the code and disclosure
in the corporate governance report. During the reporting year, the
Board has reviewed and performed the said corporate governance
functions.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

For the year ended 31 March 2023, the Company’s external auditor,
provided the following services to the Group:
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Total 5T 1,319
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RESPONSIBILITY FOR PREPARATION AND
REPORTING OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
consolidated financial statements of the Group which give a true and
fair view, and were prepared in accordance with the relevant statutory
requirements and applicable accounting standards in force, and were
published in a timely manner. The Directors of the Company are also
responsible for selecting appropriate accounting policies and applying
them consistently, ensuring timely adoption of Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. The Directors of the Company acknowledge their
responsibility for preparing the consolidated financial statements of the
Group and report that the Company has announced its annual and
interim results in a timely manner after the end of the relevant period as
laid down in the Listing Rules.

Save as disclosed in the “Independent Auditor’s Report” of the auditor
under the heading “Material Uncertainty Relating to Going Concern”, the
Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to event or
conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern.

The Directors wish to make the following statement with regard to the
Material Uncertainty Related to Going Concern in the independent
auditor's report:

The Group’s current portion of bank and other borrowings amounted
to RMB445,696,000 while its unrestricted cash and cash equivalents
amounted to RMB69,939,000. The Group may take longer time than
expected to realise cash from the sale of its properties and/or have the
cash from external financing to meet its loan repayment obligations.

These conditions indicate the existence of a material uncertainty which
may cast significant doubt about the Group's ability to continue as a
going concern and, therefore, the Group may be unable to realise its
assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal course of business.
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RESPONSIBILITY FOR PREPARATION AND
REPORTING OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(continued)

Given the above conditions, the Company's directors have prepared a
cash flow forecast covering a period up to June 2024 after taking into
account of the following arrangements:

(i) the Group is expected to generate adequate cash flows to maintain
its operations;

(i) the Group is expected to obtain continuous financial support from
the Group's controlling shareholder, and the controlling shareholder
has confirmed that it will not demand the Group for repayment of
the loans from controlling shareholder within the next twelve months
should the Group not be in the financial position to make such
repayment; and

(i

=

the Group is actively reviewing its debt structure and looking
for funding opportunities. It is actively negotiating with financial
institutions to extend or renew existing borrowings and to secure
new sources of financing at reasonable costs.

Based on the above, the directors are of the opinion that the Group
will have sufficient working capital to meet its financial obligations as
and when they fall due within the twelve months from 31 March 2023.
Accordingly, the consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on a going concern basis. The Audit Committee has reviewed the
Group's audited consolidated financial statements and annual results
for the year ended 31 March 2023; and are of the opinion that the use
of going concern basis in the preparation of the financial statements is
appropriate.

The statement of the auditor of the Company about its reporting
responsibilities is set out in the “Independent Auditor’'s Report” on
pages 89 to 95 to this annual report.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
SYSTEMS

The Board has overall responsibility for maintaining an adequate system
of risk management and internal control and reviewing its effectiveness.
The system is designed to facilitate the effectiveness and efficiency of
operations, safeguard assets against unauthorised use and disposition,
ensure the maintenance of proper accounting records and the truth and
fairness of the financial statements, and ensure compliance with relevant
legislation and regulations. It provides reasonable, but not absolute,
assurance against material misstatement or loss and management,
rather than elimination of risks associated with its business activities.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
SYSTEMS (continued)

During the year, the Board, through the Audit Committee, conducted
an annual review on the effectiveness of both the design and
implementation of the risk management and internal control systems
of the Group during the year, covering all material controls, including
financial, operational and compliance controls, such as () the changes
in the nature and extent of significant risks since the last annual review,
and the Group’s ability to respond to changes in its business and the
external environment, and (i) the scope and qualify of management’s
ongoing monitoring of risks and the internal control systems, with a view
to ensuring that resources, staff qualifications and experience, training
programme and budget of the Group’s accounting, internal audit and
financial reporting functions are adequate. In this respect, the Audit
Committee will communicate any material issues to the Board.

During the year, the Group had performed internal control review
and assessed effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and
internal control systems. The results of the review and assessment
were reported to the Audit Committee and the Board. Moreover,
improvements in internal control and risk management measures to
enhance the risk management and internal control systems of the
Group and mitigate risks of the Group were adopted by the Board.
Based on the findings and recommendations as well as the comments
of the Audit Committee, the Board considered that the internal control
and risk management systems of the Group are effective and adequate.

The procedures and internal controls of the Company for handling and
dissemination of inside information includes conducting the affairs of the
Company with close regard to the Guidelines on Disclosure of Inside
Information published by Securities and Futures Commission and the
Listing Rules and reminding the Directors and employees of the Group
regularly about due compliance with all policies regarding the inside
information.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Ng Man Kit Micky, the Company Secretary of the Company, is a full-
time employee of the Company and has confirmed that, in compliance
with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules, he took no less than 15 hours of
relevant professional training during the reporting year.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

(a) Procedures for convening special general meetings
and putting forward proposals

Pursuant to the Bye-laws (as amended and restated), subject to the
Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (as amended), shareholders of the
Company holding at the date of deposit of the requisition holding not
less than one-tenth of the paid-up capital of the Company carrying
the right of voting at general meetings of the Company shall at all
time have right, by written requisition to the Board or the secretary
of the Company, to require a SGM to be called by the Board for the
transaction of any business specified in such requisition; and such
meeting shall be held within two months after the deposit of such
requisition. If within twenty-one days of such deposit the Board fails
to proceed to convene such meeting, the requisitionists, or any of
them representing more than one half of the total voting rights of all
of them, may themselves convene a meeting, but any meeting so
convened shall not be held after the expiration of three months from
the said date.

Shareholders may put forward proposals for consideration at a
general meeting in accordance with the Companies Act 1981 of
Bermuda (as amended), while the procedures for a shareholder
to propose a person other than a retiring director of the Company
for election as a Director at a general meeting are available on the
Company’s website.

(b) Procedures for sending enquiries to the Board

Shareholders may send their enquiries and concerns to the Board,
together with their contact information, by post to the principal
place of business of the Company or by fax for the attention of the
company secretary of the Company.

COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTORS

The Board recognises the importance of maintaining an effective
communication with the shareholders and investors of the Company. A
shareholders’ communication policy adopted by the Board is to ensure
the promotion of effective communication. The principal communication
channels with shareholders and investors are established as set out
below.

In view of the below measures in place, the Company considers that
the shareholders’ communication policy was effectively implemented for
the year ended 31 March 2023.
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COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTORS (continued)

General Meetings

Shareholders’ meeting, including AGM or other general meeting, of the
Company provides a communication channel between the Shareholders
and the Board that the Shareholders are encouraged to participate in
such meeting for expressing their views and raising enquiries about the
Company’s performance while the Board members who attended such
general meeting shall reply and answer the enquiries and questions
raised by the Shareholders.

Any vote of shareholders at a general meeting is taken by poll except
where the chairperson, in good faith, decides to allow a resolution
which relates purely to a procedural or administrative matter to be voted
on by a show of hands. The poll results are published on the Stock
Exchange’s website and the Company’s website after the conclusion of
the general meeting.

Other Communication Channels

The Company will provide corporate communications, including annual
and interim reports, notices of meeting and circulars, to shareholders
in printed form by post and on the website of the Company to facilitate
the shareholders’ understanding.

The Company also maintains a website at www.huayininternational.com,
as alternative communication channel for the shareholders of the
Company and investors, for posting the corporate communications,
disseminating information and updates on the Company’s business
developments and operations, financial information, corporate
governance practices and other shareholders information as well as
other corporate communications in a timely and convenient manner.

For enquiries about shareholdings, the shareholders of the Company
may contact the share registrars of the Company and for other
enquiries, the shareholders, the investors, media or the public may
contact the Company directly, contact details of which are posted on
the Company’s website.
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WHISTLEBLOWING AND ANTI-CORRUPTION
POLICY

In accordance with provision D.2.6 of the CG Code, the Company
has adopted a whistleblowing policy (the “Whistleblowing Policy”). The
Whistleblowing Policy provides guidance and reporting channels for
employees and the relevant third parties who deal with the Group to
report any suspected impropriety in any matter relating to the Group
directly and confidentially to the designated person in the Human
Resources and Administration Department. The nature, status and
outcome of complaints received under the Whistleblowing Policy are
regularly reported to the Audit Committee.

In accordance with the new provision D.2.7 of the CG Code, the
Company has adopted an anti-corruption policy (the “Anti-Corruption
Policy”). It sets out the guidelines and minimum standards of conduct,
all applicable laws and regulations relating to anti-corruption and anti-
bribery, the responsibilities of employees to resist fraud, to assist the
Group in defending itself against corrupt practices and to report any
reasonable suspicion of fraud and corruption or any attempt to do so to
management or through an appropriate reporting channel. The Group
will not tolerate any form of fraud or corruption among all employees
and those acting in an agency or fiduciary capacity on behalf of the
Group and in its dealings with third parties.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

The memorandum of association and the Bye-Laws of the Company
are available on the website of the Stock Exchange and the website of
the Company.

By order of the Board
Cui Xintong
Co-chairperson

Hong Kong, 27 June 2023
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RIE - HERERRE

1. ABOUT THE COMPANY 1. REHE

Hua Yin International Holdings Limited (“Hua Yin”, together with
its subsidiaries, the “Group”) (Stock Code: 989), is a property
development company established in Hong Kong and has been
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) since 1997. The Group also invests
in property development, management and investment to customers
in various sectors in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”).

2. REPORTING APPROACH 2.

2.1. Reporting Period and Boundary

This Environmental, Social and Governance (“ESG”) Report
(the “Report”) covers the financial reporting period from 1
April 2022 to 31 March 2023 (the “Reporting Period”). The
Group’s operation in its Hong Kong Office and eight property
management premises in Jilin are also included in the scope of
the Report.

2.2. Reporting Standard and Principles

The Report is prepared in compliance with Appendix 27 —
Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide (the
“ESG Guide”) issued by the Stock Exchange. The Group
adhered to the principles of materiality, quantitative, balance and
consistency in reporting on measures and performances during
the Reporting Period. A content index has been enclosed at the
end of the Report for readers to browse the specific ESG topics.
With reference to Appendix 14 of the Main Board Listing Rules,
more detailed information on corporate governance has been
disclosed in the corporate governance section of the annual

report.

FERRERARAR(TEE ) REM
BomE - gE(AEE])  E—REE
BRIMYEERLDR - B—NNEF
EEBMERZMERAE (BT
TR E (AR 5E - 989) - AREB TR
FEREARAME ([HE ) REEYEE
& BERRENTRXEGEE -

BEFRN
21, SR EE

RIRE - g RER([ESG) WA
([AREDRE-_E-__FMNA—H
E-T-_ZFZA=Z+—HU#HE
H D MBS RE B o IREHEIRER
SEREBNPAZE R BRI E M
B2 EIE o

22 EERIRIEA

7R3 E Th AR 1B B X P B R B Y 8%
“HEMRE e RERAHREE
311 (TESGHE3I)) Frm il - ANEEE
BEZME - 2t FEM—RENR
AfE R EHAH KB OB EMNE
B o NREREMBRBTRS| - HiF#
EPEHEENESGEE - AL E
BRMEZEMEREER ETRA
MR+ EFERETNEEE R

PR -

Materiality Material environmental and social issues were identified by the Board. The
BE2M relevant content was prioritised and disclosed in this Report.

EE2HR TEARBNEEHE - HEATEEARETRELKE -

Quantitative The Group recorded and disclosed key performance indicators in
21t quantitative terms where appropriate.
REETEENIER T AR/ 08k R B FARETUER -

Consistency Where feasible and unless stated otherwise, the Group adopted consistent
— B measurement methodology to facilitate comparison of ESG data.
ERTEOERT - BRIFSEHA - BRIRKERA —BHTE7R% - UE

HESGRURETTHER -
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3. OUR SUSTAINABILITY GOVERNANCE APPROACH

3.1, Board Statement on ESG Governance

The board of directors (the “Board”) firmly believes that
sustainable development is one of the keys to the success of the
long-term development of companies. The Group is committed
to integrating ESG considerations into the business operations
and is committed to improving sustainability performance by
optimising resource use during operations. The Board, as the
highest governance committee, manages the overall direction
and decision making related to ESG governance and appoints
top management to coordinate ESG initiatives and reporting. The
Board regularly reviews and discusses the ESG performance,
progress, opportunities and risks based on stakeholder
engagement and materiality assessments.

3.2. Governance Structure for Sustainable Development

The Board oversees the Group’s ESG governance and complies
with the Stock Exchange Listing Rules. The Environmental,
Social and Governance Committee (the “ESG Committee”)
as well as its constitution and duties has been established by
the Board. The chairman, secretary and members of the ESG
Committee shall be designated by the Board. The responsibilities
of the ESG Committee are as follows:
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ESG Committee

ESGZEE stakeholders’ interests

BRIHAEEE LK EMIFNEEESGHHENNEEE

— Identify ESG-related issues that greatly affect the Group’s operation or other

FENEREER

— Adopt and update the Group’s policies on production safety, environmental
protection, social responsibility management and corporate governance as
required
BEFERANENAEERNLEEE  RRRE LEEEEEREERE
JERIER

— Review and adopt risks assessment of the Group’s health, safety, environmental
and social impacts
ELWRARRAEREER 22  RENL S ENARTE

— Monitor the Group’s ESG activities
ERAEENESGES

— Review the Group’s annual report or special reports (if any) related to ESG
EHAEEBNESGHFERE RIS (0F)

— Report findings and recommendations of the ESG Committee to the Board on a
regular basis
EHREEEMEESCEZEGNATERLER

— Continue to exercise the Group’s articles of association
BETEAEE SR
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3. OUR SUSTAINABILITY GOVERNANCE APPROACH 3. M AT & R 5 & (&)

(continued)

33.Stakeholder Engagement and Materiality
Assessment

As the opinions of stakeholders are critical to the Group’s business
operations, the Group maintains effective communication with
stakeholders through emails and meetings. The Board has
identified and confirmed the following material issues, both
environmental and social, that are related to the commercial
activities of the Group, based on the stakeholders’ concerns:

W HFHESENEZME

HRFNENEREAEENESS
EBERER  AEEBBETHHM
W EMEEE MBI B R AR
DRFEFNENBRER - EFE
REFHENBIBRILER T IAT
AR B RSN EAREAN

HEmRE :

* Energy saving e Labour standards
ERIBER w1 T sg

e Greenhouse gas (“GHG”) emission control e Training and development
B = RS HE R e R

e \Water conservation e QOccupational health and safety
EZI 7K BEERNLE

e \Waste management e Employees’ wellbeing
REEYER BTE

e Supply chain management

HrERE e

e Quality assurance

HERE

e Anti-corruption

RES

e Community investment

HEIE

e (Customers’ privacy and data protection

BB MBIERRE
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4. PRESERVING OUR ENVIRONMENT

4.1. Climate Change

Climate change is a common issue across all sectors and
regions. As a service-oriented property developer, climate issues
are both short- and medium-term issues of the Group. Climate
risks can be classified into physical and transition risks.

Physical climate risks

Physical climate risks are risks resulting from more frequent
and intense extreme weather events and chronic environmental
change (such as sea level rise). The Group’s property
developments are easily affected by extreme weather events
(such as more frequent and intense typhoons) and changes in
climate patterns (such as higher humidity). Hence, the Group
will explore and take measures to further reduce the vulnerability
of the development projects to severe weather conditions.
The Group will also explore potential market opportunities by
upgrading and developing more sustainable and climate resilient
projects.

Transition climate risks

The evolution of the regulatory, technological and market
landscape creates transition climate risks as a consequence of
climate change action. In consideration of Hua Yin’s business
operations, the GHG emissions and consumption of resources
from the Group’s property development business may receive
strict regulatory enforcements. To reduce our property
developments’ carbon footprint, in line with the increasing
demand for green building certifications, sustainable and more
resource-efficient property development designs are potential
approaches to mitigating climate risks.
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4. PRESERVING OUR ENVIRONMENT (continued)

4.2, Environmental Policy

To accomplish the Group’s sustainability goals and satisfy
the expectations of the Group’s stakeholders, the Group has
developed and implemented a set of environmental policies.
While promoting economic growth and social welfare, the Group
is committed to conserving the environment and incorporating
the concept of sustainability into its business operations.

The Group complied with all relevant environmental laws and
regulations during the Reporting Period, such as the Air Pollution
Control Ordinance in Hong Kong and the Environmental
Protection Law of the PRC.

Our Environmental Targets

The Group aims to operate in a sustainable manner to protect
the environment, while promoting economic growth and
social welfare. In view of this, the Group has set the following
environmental goals to help achieve the above visions:
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4. PRESERVING OUR ENVIRONMENT (continued) 4. fRERMHWVIRIE (&)

4.2. Environmental Policy (continued) 42 RRBUR ()

The Group aims to maintain its energy use and reduce long-term energy use where
feasible. The implementation of the target will enable the Group to further reduce its
GHG emission from its operations.

AEENERERFEERER - LEAITTHER RO RPERER - BENE
hith AR B — DR A H L EP R R =R -

The Group aims to achieve the above-mentioned energy efficiency and GHG
emission reduction goals through the following measures:
REBEERBATHERER Dl RAENRZEREBRFERIR

— Maintain air conditioning temperature to maintain efficient energy use; and

REFEDREARTRRERER © &

— Continue energy management across assets and prevent unnecessary energy
usage.

BETE TYFRETRRER - UM IETUENRRER -

The Group aims to maintain its water consumption efficiency and increase long-term
water efficiency where feasible.
REER B R REREAKRE - WERMTHER TRERBAKERE -

The Group aims to achieve the above-mentioned water efficiency goals through the
following measures:

AEBEEEEBNATHEBRER DRRKEEER

— Continue the upgrade of water fixtures at the Group’s properties to water-saving
facilities such as dual flush toilets, sensor faucets and other water-saving devices.
BEABAEEETYENKEE - FARABEKRE - HINEHKER - KE
IKBESR R H M EIKEE o

The Group aims to maintain its waste generation and reduce long-term waste
generation where feasible.
AEBWERERFEBMELSE - WERTHER VRO RPBEYELS -

The Group aims to achieve the above-mentioned waste generation goals through the
following measures:

AEBSEEBNATERER DIEMELRR

— Continue the implementation of green office concept in the office; and
BECHAZTEBRZEHAES R

— Provide recycling facilities in the properties and offices to encourage waste
sorting.

EMEMPAEREOWRNE - ASBEDSHE -
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4. PRESERVING OUR ENVIRONMENT (continued)

43. Management of Energy Conservation and GHG

Emission

The Group aspires to reduce major GHG emissions through
the improvement of energy efficiency in its daily operations.
The Group has implemented a set of electricity consumption
management policies, as electricity consumption is the most
significant GHG emission source of the Group. Employees and
tenants are encouraged to turn off all lighting, air conditioning,
computers and other electronic appliances that are not in use.
Inspections and equipment maintenance are conducted regularly
by the administration department to monitor energy efficiency
and ensure equipment safety. The indoor air conditioning

temperature is also kept at 25°C or above to conserve energy.

Environmental, Social and Governance Report
BIE  HERERHE
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Unit

B
Total Energy Consumption kWh in 000
BENHERE '000 TR

Total Energy Consumption Intensity

MREERR SRR

kWh in ’000/RMB’M revenue
‘000 TR SEEARERA

2023 2022
6,881 8,298
17.46 80.61

(Note 1)
GGE1)

Note 1: The total energy consumption intensity decreased significantly due to a significant increase in the Group’s revenue

during the Reporting Period.
1 RIBREHNERREREREBRZ R B RSB ARBEZEIEM -

Unit
BAL
Total GHG Emissions

R EREBHER W — ALK E

Total GHG Emissions Intensity

HREREBEIRARE e —

tonnes of CO2 equivalent (1COe")

tCO,e/RMB’M revenue
fitigE SaBARBRA

2023 2022
4,542.73 5,293.70
11.53 51.42
(Note 1)
GE1)

Note 1: The total GHG emissions intensity decreased significantly due to a significant increase in the Group’s revenue during

the Reporting Period.
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4. PRESERVING OUR ENVIRONMENT (continued)

44. Conserving Water Resources

The Group strives to reduce water consumption in its daily
operations, as water scarcity is one of the most prominent global
problems. Employees’ daily water use accounts for the majority
of the Group’s water consumption. As the Group’s water
supply comes from the municipal water supplier, the Group
does not encounter any serious problems on water sourcing.
Nevertheless, the Group strives to improve water efficiency
through the installation of water-saving facilities such as dual
flush toilets, sensor faucets and other water-saving devices. In
future, the Group aims to maintain and improve its water use
performance across all of its assets.

4. RERMNVERE (F)
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Unit

Bz
Total Water Consumption m?
HEHAKE AV PN

Total Water Consumption Intensity
BRKERE

m3/RMB’M revenue

MFK/FEEBARKKRA

2023 2022

(Note 1)
(1)

63,294 127,001

160.60 1,233.69

Note 1: Shopping centre was temporarily closed during the Reporting Period due to the COVID-19 pandemic, resulting
in reduced business hours for catering and entertainment businesses. Therefore, the total water consumption
decreased significantly. The total water consumption intensity decreased significantly also due to a significant

increase in the Group’s revenue during the Reporting Period.

i1 X2019BMEESRRIETE  BYTORBEHALERFLEE  SRERNREB P LXRERD - WER
IKEBRZRD - NREHARERKERERZ R TR/ EBUATEZEM -

4.5. Waste Management

The Group’s waste mainly comes from tenants, daily operations
of customers, domestic waste of residents and construction
waste of properties. The Group has minimised waste generation
through the incorporation of various waste management
measures into its corporate operations. The Group has
embedded the concept of green office into practice to increase
the staff members’ environmental awareness and reduce paper
consumption at the office. The Group has also promoted waste
sorting practices by placing recycling facilities in the properties
and offices. Non-recyclable waste is collected and handled by
licensed waste treatment companies. In future, the Group aims
to maintain and improve its waste performance across all assets.

45 BERYERE

AEBNEZEMIZREHES - FP
MEREE  EPHNEIERIRARY
FEHEREER - AEEBRBH TR
BEEVEERBAARTEE BN
BABRYMESL - AEBERREH
NENESMAMRLREFAEGET
BRBILBIOPAERRE - KE
BB REME RPN AERE CR
e - HEEEM S BER -  AREZRIK
Frie BE YRR 12 1 R SR MR 2 A
EREEEEY) - AEEH BIREER
KRR M ERAEENERENE
Foeg
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4. PRESERVING OUR ENVIRONMENT (continued) 4. iREEMVIRIE (F)

45. Waste Management (continued) 45 BREYIERE (&)

Unit 2023 2022
BAI

Total Non-Hazardous Waste tonnes 0.15 0.02

BEEEREY) U

Total Non-Hazardous Waste Intensity tonnes/RMB’M revenue 0.0004 0.0002

BEEERYRE W, FAEBARBHA

5. OUR SUCCESSFUL WORKFORCE 5. B 1M A RK Zh B X
5.1. Growth of the Workforce 5. BMERAER

The Group believes that its workforce is the key to its long- AEERGEAEETEREER KK
term success. Therefore, the Group is keen to employ talented THHEESE - At - AEERRNER
personnel to advance its sustainable business growth. AT B E IS EEBIER -
Besides recruiting suitable candidates, the Group has set out BRERGEAZEI)N  AEBEERTEHR
policies on promotion, working hours, remuneration, other BEA - TERE - B - HaEF
benefits and well-being to enable the continuous growth and NABHHIBOR - BRAEEE TR
development of the employees. The Group reviews promotion BREKE  AEBRBEREZ
and remuneration adjustments on an annual basis under EEES) BFHEIMNEANE
the “Performance Assessment Management Guidelines”. AR ETTEZ - BLEMNERA
Employees also benefit from the company’s meal allowance, RIMER R - HERE - BERRE
social insurance, medical care, and festival presents. Any action ETAEY) o NREBBUREE I EIE
of involuntary overtime work is prohibited based on the Group’s BREMIEITA o
policy.
The group conducts a fair employment policy to prohibit any REBETAFHREBSR - 21—
forms of discrimination. Each candidate has equal opportunities PIERRER - SFEIFEATESF
during the recruitment process and is objectively evaluated Ete  NEERER/ETSREH
based on their skills, experience and potential, regardless of RRE - KBAE ET RS - T
gender, age, religion, nationality and ethnicity. Moreover, the AR - Fhe - R - BIEMNER
Group strictly prohibits child labour and forced labour. The BEAN - REE RS A E T AL
Human Resources (“HR”) department verifies the identity and &) o ANER( HR]) e FHx
age of the selected candidate carefully. The Group has complied EREANGDMEHR - MEHA -
with the PRC labour law and other relevant labour laws and RNEEET T RS BA Rt IER
regulations, and there was no record of child labour and forced BENEAEER R BRSAMEET
labour during the Reporting Period. ogiA L EFEBERIRMF -
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5. OUR SUCCESSFUL WORKFORCE (continued)

5.2. Protecting our Employees

The Group’s business operations prioritise occupational health
and safety of its workers. The Group dedicates itself to providing
a healthy and safe workplace.

To minimise any potential occupational health and safety hazards
in the workplace, the Group has developed and implemented
a safety management strategy. The project management
department and procurement department are responsible for
assessing the safety measures of the contractors during the
tendering process, such as occupational accident insurance and
the number of safety officers involved. The project management
department also conducts daily on-site inspections and regular
safety management meetings to ensure all works comply with
the applicable laws, regulations and standards.

The Group has complied with all relevant health and safety
laws and regulations. There was no record of any work-related
fatalities during the Reporting Period.

5.3. Nurturing our Employees

The Group fosters a culture of continuous training and
development to support the professional growth of its employees
by offering various training and development programmes
that fit their roles. For every new hire, an orientation training
was conducted to introduce the Group's policies, culture,
organisation and standard procedures. Specialised trainings in
customer service, data protection and security were provided for
the property management team while professional trainings on
legislation and regulations, lending procedures, risk management
and relevant financial issues were provided for the financial
guarantee service team.

To maximise the effectiveness of the training programmes, the
HR department is responsible for formulating and implementing
customised training courses based on the business
development and work needs. Upon completion of the training
programmes, the HR department evaluates the effectiveness of
training through training assessments and reviews the training
plans to make improvements if necessary.

5. TR h BBk (&)
5.2, R FE 3% 179 9 B B

AEENEFLERBEREREL S
EREN - AEEBNRERENREZ
TR -

BRLTIESHNBERERRRY

2EB  AEEERTIERTEE
R - ERIZRFH - JBEBTEI
IR B & EREENL R
BiE - PN EEIMRBETIZEZ B A
- HEERINSRITABHRSR
ENERLEEEEE  BRIER
FESFEARER  JRRMRE o

AEEETHARBNREMZ 20X
RER - NBEHNL B IR
TRHRRAMSE T F 4t -

53 IZERMBERX

AEBERBEFESBEMEROL -
BRREERESEET AN
MBRESIEBETHNEREKE
REEHE TETABEI - NEE
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HRYEERER - NEBEREHRES
RIS~ BIBRREMZ 2T E A EEE
A IR B ERRGE SRR
ERER - BRER - RREENME
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RERREMIRE 8 THEHIFEIH
@ HREFIBERBEHERMT
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6. OUR QUALITY SERVICES

6.1. Supply Chain Management

At Hua Yin, the quality of suppliers and contractors is an
essential criterion of selecting the potential business partners.
The Group adopts a comprehensive approach to procurement
and bid management to select suppliers and contractors that
aligns with the Group’s sustainable values. The approach is
based on two dimensions, including the safety precautions,
such as accidental injury insurance, machinery safety, and
safety certificates, and environmental performances, such as
the preference of using sustainable construction materials and

implementation of environmental management plans.

To minimise the potential environmental and social operational
risks along the supply chain, the Group has implemented
monitoring procedures and conducted frequent performance
evaluations to ensure that all suppliers and contractors comply

with the social and environmental laws and regulations.

6.2. Assuring our Best Quality

“Customer-focused” is one of the core values of the Group. The
Group believes that customer satisfaction is the benchmark
for assessment of success. As a result, the Group strives
for ensuring the service quality to meet client expectations
by developing a quality assurance framework for choosing

reputable suppliers and contractors.

The security of data is the key to build trust and loyalty with the
customers. At Hua Yin, all employees must obtain consent from
the customers before collecting any personal information. The
Code of Conduct also clearly states that access to personal
customer data is restricted to authorised personnel only. The
Group also regularly reviews the security of information systems
to ensure no data leakage. During the Reporting Period, the
Group has complied with all applicable data protection laws and

regulations.

HUA YIN INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED # ZEIEE#Z R B R A 7

6. RPN BER®
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6. OUR QUALITY SERVICES (continued)
6.3. Responsible Operation

The Group has a comprehensive anti-corruption policy to
prohibit any misconduct related to bribery and corruption.
Employees are forbidden from soliciting or offering benefits
from/to third parties without management approval. To raise
employees’ anti-corruption and integrity awareness, the Group
continues to provide anti-corruption training on a regular basis.
During the Reporting Period, the Group continued to provide
related training to employees at all levels (including members of
the Board).

Hua Yin focuses on ethical business practices to demonstrate
integrity. To eliminate corruption cases, the Group encourages
employees to report suspicious activities anonymously by
establishing a whistleblowing mechanism. The Group would take
immediate disciplinary and legal action in the event of confirmed
corruption cases. During the Reporting Period, the Group
has complied with laws and regulations related to corruption,
extortion, fraud and money laundering. No relevant litigation
was identified, and no corruption charges were filed against the
Group or its employees during the Reporting Period.

7. GIVING BACK TO THE COMMUNITY

As a property developer, the community is an integral part of
the business development of Hua Yin. The Group is strongly
motivated to contribute to society and create a positive atmosphere
by caring for others and maintaining a harmonious relationship
with the community. The Labour Union of the Group arranges
community activities and volunteer services on occasion to continue
making valuable contributions to society and commit to social
responsibilities.

6. BMNEER® (&)
63 BEEENEESR
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8. LOOKING FORWARD 8. REARRK

Looking forward, the Group will continue to prioritise the
improvement of its ESG performance to commit to the vision of
“Create a better life and bring dreams to duration”. The Group
strives to continue its commitment to sustainable development
through stronger stakeholder engagement. The Group also pledges
to consistently deliver high quality services to its customers and
encourage sustainability ideas in its daily operations.

REARR » NEBEBABEIAIRTTESGHE
MREPRZE - UWHAOER[RIEELT
R BERUKE MBS - AERES
BIGRFENSE - BER IR
BER - AEETARFBERTPREM
BERY - WEBESETREAHE
BRED -

9. SOCIAL PERFORMANCES INDICATOR 9. HERBILE

Total Workforce Persons
BES A
By Gender Male Persons
RIEBIED = A
Female Persons
z A
By Employment Type Management Persons
RERELES EIRE A
Senior Persons
E{E A
Junior Persons
MF/ET A
By Age Group 30 or below Persons
RERAERE D 30BRE AT A
31 -50 Persons
31 73%-50 3% A
51 or above Persons
51 Rk bA £ A
By Geographical Region Hong Kong Persons
iR E 5 BB A
China Persons
H A
By Contract Permanent Persons
RESEHNES o A
Part-time Persons
Feu A

HUA YIN INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED # & BB R A R A

104 136
98 99
12 19
28 29

162 187
26 26

147 176
29 33

6 5
196 230
202 235

0 0



9. SOCIAL PERFORMANCES INDICATOR 9. HEXRBIEE (&)

(continued)
Employee Turnover Rate Mo ") 18.72 30.98
BEEREE //lugiﬂf,_i_ (1)
By Gender Male % 47.73 28.16
ZIRIE D 3
Female % 52.27 34.87
2z
By Age Group 30 or below % 22.73 52.83
BERAERE D 30BRIIAT
31-50 % 54.54 30.81
315X -50 5%
51 or above % 22.73 12.90
515k bA £
By Geographical Region Hong Kong % 0 54.55
i A B 5 B
China % 18.72 30.37
H
Note 1: Turnover is defined as employees who leave the company voluntarily 1 HMBERAEEBSKERK - BESK
or due to retirement, dismissal or other reasons. The turnover rate HiRABFAARMET - BBX =
is calculated based on the following formula: Turnover % = NELDY/ NELDY/((NEBY+NEEY)/2)
(NEBY+NEEY)/2)
Where: B EBEUTARXGE -
NELDY = Number of Employees who Left During the Year NELDY = ZFBEHAI 8 T A
NEBY = Number of Employees at the Beginning of the Year NEBY = FHIE T AH
NEEY = Number of Employees at the End of the Year NEEY = FREB T A
Total Number of Work-related Fatalities Note No. of People
HTERREMIT A=Y A
Work-related Injury Cases 0 1
TYERBEm X BB ES])
Lost Days Due to Work-related Injury Days 0 40
ERCE=PR:IEE: H

Note 1: The work-related fatalities for the past 3 years (including the Reporting Period) were 0.
g1 BESF(BEHREH) BETERENETCARAE -
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9. SOCIAL PERFORMANCES INDICATOR 9. HERRIEBE(E)
(continued)

Percentage of Employee Trained Nete )
SBEME TR D ED

Average training hours of employees Note2) Hours 0.30 0.29
ERe S /N
By Gender Group M3
RIERIBI S
Male % 80.00 77.78
==
>
Hours 0.24 0.37
AN
Female % 20.00 22.22
z
Hours 0.06 0.17
AN
By Employment Type
RERERES
Management Hours 2.5 1.78
ERE 1 NBEF
Senior Hours 1.07 1.21
FE /N
Junior Hours 0 0
MF/ETL N
Note 1: Percentage of employees trained = number of employees trained/total number of employees x 100%.
1 ZAETEDL = ZHETAZ BT x 100% °
Note 2: Average training hours of employees = the training hours of employees of the category/total number of employees
of the category.
FE2: 8 T FI9E0IR e = % AARI8 TIFFIRE AR B TRH -
Note 3: The proportion of the category among trained employees = number of employees trained of the category/number
of employees trained x 100%.
FE3: SAUE TR = ZBARZINE AR ZHNETAZ <100% °
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10. ESG CONTENT INDEX

10. ESGRRBES|

SUBJECT AREA (A) ENVIRONMENT
Bi5
A1: EMISSIONS BER#)

General disclosure | Information on: 4. Preserving our

— P E (@) the policies; and Environment
(o) compliance with relevant laws and 4. REHRMAIRE

regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer.
BRABERIORERBBYN - MK KL
s AELRBEERREVHNELSH
(@) B+ &
b) BFHETABERZENEREE
R -

Al The types of emissions and respective | 4.3 Management of Energy
emissions data. Conservation and GHG
PERU e LR AR R B IR BUE Emission

SEREFIAE REBHENE IR

A1.2 Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope | 4.3 Management of Energy
2) greenhouse gas emissions (in tonnes) Conservation and GHG
and, where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per Emission
unit of production volume, per facility). B ETRERE E RSP E IR
B (HBE1) RpREE (BE2) AER
BHME (AMEETE) & (ER) BE (10

Al INEEEBM - BERMEAE)

A1.3 Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) | The Group did not generate
and, where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per hazardous waste during the
unit of production volume, per facility). Reporting Period. Therefore,
Fﬁ?’fﬁ%ﬁ‘ﬁ%ﬁ@i (AMBETE) K (40 data on generation of

FA)ZE (WMAEESEMN - EREST hazardous waste was not
&) o disclosed in the Report.
WEA - AEERELER
RREEY) o Bt - |mEFILE
BER el R E £ O BUE -

Al.4 Total non-hazardous waste produced (in 4.5 Waste Management
tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity ABEEEYER
(e.g. per unit of production volume, per
facility).

FIESEEREEYEE (UAEGE) & (1
HR)RE (MABES B - HRME
")

A1.5 Description of measures to mitigate 4.3 Management of Energy
emissions and results achieved. Conservation and GHG
HMAET M BERE B E R RERE LR Emission
IRPTEREREY T BR - SRR E REEHEE IR
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SUBJECT AREA (A) ENVIRONMENT

RE
A1: EMISSIONS B
A1.6 Description of how hazardous and non- 4.5 Waste Management
hazardous wastes are handled, reduction 4.5 BEEYEIR
A1 initiatives and results achieved.
HARIEEERBEEEYNFE - &HE
WMPRETSZ VRS B IR R RES| B B IR
FRERE 205 o
A2: USE OF RESOURCES &R F
General disclosure | Policies 4. Preserving our
—MRBEEE BEREAER (BIEEIR - KREAMRM Environment
B B BER 4, REZMEIRER
A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption | 4.3 Management of Energy
by type (e.g. electricity, gas or oil) in total Conservation and GHG
(kWh in '000s) and intensity (e.g. per unit of Emission
production volume, per facility). 4.3 ENRERR E R EEHEE R
RENESNEE R HEEER(WE -
Roh) BFEE (LN TETREFE) RE
E(WABES SR - BERMEAE)
A2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity 4.4 Conserving Water
(e.g. per unit of production volume, per Resources
facility). 4.4 EiIKEIR
BFKERRE (WUESESEN - §ER
MEEtE) ©
A2.3 Description of energy efficiency initiatives 4.3 Management of Energy
AD and results achieved. Conservation and GHG
PR BV RE IR FA R e B AR R ARE S Emission
B B IRPAERER R AP RE o 4.3 EpEFR EREBHINER
A2.4 Description of whether there is any issue in | 4.4 Conserving Water
sourcing water that is fit for purpose, water Resources
efficiency initiatives and results achieved. 4.4 EiKIKE IR
HAREGER AR R B E R ERE - AR
FRETSI AR e B IR R i BiE L B AR
FRERER #9558
A2.5 Total packaging material used for finished The Group did not use
products (in tonnes) and, if applicable, with | packaging material during the
reference to per unit produced. Reporting Period. Therefore,
RN MATABEMENRE (LAMEETE ) & | data on consumption of
(Em) BEEEMES - packaging materials was not
disclosed in the Report.
WERAN - AEEREAE
MK o Bt - ARERK
BEREMBEERESIE
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RE

SUBJECT AREA (A) ENVIRONMENT

A3: THE ENVIRONMENT AND NATURAL RESOURCES BRER X AER

A3

General disclosure

I

Policies
BIEBEITAHRBERRAABEREXNEAF
EMBER

4. Preserving our
Environment

4. IREHPINVERE

A3.1

Description of the significant impacts of
activities on the environment and natural
resources and the actions taken to manage
them.

B EBEBERBERANERNEA
EREOERRNEEEELENTE -

4. Preserving our
Environment

4. REHMNRE

A4: CLIMATE CHANGE ®1x& 1L

Ad

General disclosure

—MRREE

Policies
HAREH ORI EEHBEITAELEY
ENEAREEEEENBR

4.1 Climate Change
4.1 FIREAL

A4 .1

Description of the significant climate-
related issues which have impacted, and
those which may impact, the issuer, and
the actions taken to manage them.
B RIS HBITAELETENE
RRMBEAEAEE - REHTH -

4.1 Climate Change
4.1 RIREL

HE

SUBJECT AREA (B) SOCIAL

B1: EMPLOYMENTEER % T ER

B1

General disclosure

—MRFEE

Information on:

(@) the policies; and

(b) compliance

BRAH M R E - BIEREA - TR

B RE - TERE - STt RN

NEMARE RABTE

(@) BX: &

(o) BTHEHETATERZENHBERE
RARBIEER} o

5. Our Successful
Workforce

5. AFIRIRCTH EFX

B1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment 9. Social Performances
type, age group and geographical region. Indicator
BRI EERE (R BEERE) - Fik | 9. HERIER
ERI KRB D EE BB

B1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age 9. Social Performances

group and geographical region.
RIER - FdR kiR E D mESR
PLEK o

Indicator
9. HERIEFIEZ
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implemented and monitored.
R PR B R R R 248 - AR
HERITRERTE -

SUBJECT AREA (B) SOCIAL
HE
B2: HEALTH AND SAFETY ZEEZ 2
General disclosure | Information on: 5.2 Protecting our Employees
—RIE (@) the policies; and 5.2 (REEF P9 &9 B Bx
(o) compliance
BHARMEZ 2 TIERE LREE SRR
EtfEE
@ Bx: &k
(b) BTHEHEITAGERZENHBEE
KRB ERS -
B2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities. 5.2 Protecting our Employees
52 BE=4 (REERTE) SERTTRN | 5.2 RERFHEK
ABUREEE o
B2.2 Lost days due to work injury. 5.2 Protecting our Employees
ATEEIIEEE - 5.2 (RS FH 80 B Bk
B2.3 Description of occupational health and 5.2 Protecting our Employees
safety measures adopted, how they are 5.2 {REEF P &9 B Bx

B3: DEVELOPMENT AND TRAINING 2 & & 3% 3

General disclosure

— MR

Policies
ERRAEEB BT IERE MM K HEE
RIERER o HEaIE3IES) -

5.3 Nurturing our Employees
5.3 BB HMaVEK

B3.1

B3

The percentage of employees trained by
gender and employee category (e.g. senior
management, middle management).
ZURREEEN(WEREERE BRE
BE)ESNXIEEBDL -

9. Social Performances
Indicator
9. HERFIER

B3.2

The average training hours completed
per employee by gender and employee
category.

RURREERMNED - BREBTTHKS
) T RFEY o

g

b

9. Social Performances
Indicator
9. HERBIEEZ
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SUBJECT AREA (B) SOCIAL
HE

B4: LABOUR STANDARDS % T %8|

General disclosure

I

Information on:

(@) the policies; and

(o) compliance

AR IEE T aoaHI5 T -

@ BER: &

(o) BTHEEITATERZENHBERE
RRBIEER o

5. Our Successful
Workforce

5. HAFIHIAIHE R

B4.1
B4

Description of measures to review
employment practices to avoid child and
forced labour.

Rt RSB BB e AR R E T o8
HIBT -

5.1 Growth of the Workforce
5.1 HMEXAIE R

B4.2

Description of steps taken to eliminate
such practices when discovered.

H a7 3 IR B RGN B R B IS LR ER
ERE) AP EE o

5.1 Growth of the Workforce
5.1 HZMExAE K

B5: SUPPLY CHAIN MANAGEMENT {f g2 & 38

General disclosure

—ARIKEE

Policies
ERMHERNIRE e RBBR

6.1 Supply Chain
Management
6.1 HERER

B5.1

B5

Number of suppliers by geographical
region.

iR By MR EREE -

The Group currently does
not report the information
of number of suppliers by
geographical region.
However, the Group plans
to disclose the information in
the future.

RNEE B AN\ SR E
Elo B HEREE -
TR SE TR )i B R 27
BEMER -

B5.2

Description of practices relating to engaging
suppliers, number of suppliers where the
practices are being implemented, how they
are implemented and monitored.
GBI RHERNES  mERTAE
BEOINHEEEE - LARAEREIITRE

BITA °

6.1 Supply Chain
Management
6.1 HEEER
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SUBJECT AREA (B) SOCIAL
HE

B5: SUPPLY CHAIN MANAGEMENT {3t fi& 8 & 38

environmentally preferable products and
services when selecting suppliers, and how
they are implemented and monitored.

R RE M RN R EZRRRER K
BRAGHIIE G - LA RABRARRTT MEER VK ©

B5.3 Description of practices used to identify 6.1 Supply Chain
environmental and social risks along Management
the supply chain, and how they are 6.1 fEsEEIE
implemented and monitored.

R B R R R B EIR AT OV IR 5 St
. 2RMEED - ARABBEITRER A -
B5.4 Description of practices used to promote 6.1 Supply Chain

Management
6.1 HEEER

B6: PRODUCT RESPONSIBILITY Efm

B

complaints received and how they are dealt
with.

BEERADOE m M RIS VIR R B B LA KRS
J0E

General disclosure | Information on: 6.2 Assuring our Best Quality
— R FE (@) the policies; and 6.2 TR M EL IR
(b) compliance.
BRMRHERMBREOREREELZS &
& BEELEEEARMERTED
@@ BUR: &
(b) BEBFHETABERZENERERE
KIRGIEER -
B6.1 Percentage of total products sold or Product responsibility is not a
shipped subject to recalls for safety and material issue to the Group’s
B6 health reasons. operation. Thus, it is not
EENEEXERRET AR EERIE | disclosed.
mimALRKSN A D - EmEEHARENESEM
ETEEAME Al - &
REBEWAR °
B6.2 Number of products and service-related Product responsibility is not a

material issue to the Group’s
operation. Thus, it is not
disclosed.
EmBETHAEENEEM
ETEEAME Al - &
REBWAR -
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HE

SUBJECT AREA (B) SOCIAL

B6: PRODUCT RESPONSIBILITY ERE1E

B6

B6.3 Description of practices relating to Product responsibility is not a
observing and protecting intellectual material issue to the Group’s
property rights. operation. Thus, it is not
it B L ARIE AR ERE B RARY (] - | disclosed.

EmBETHARENEEM
ErhEEAME Al - B
RBEWAF °

B6.4 Description of quality assurance process 6.2 Assuring our Best Quality
and recall procedures. 6.2 FEREPIBEE T
S SRE BENERBUWIER ©

B6.5 Description of consumer data protection 6.2 Assuring our Best Quality

and privacy policies, how they are
implemented and monitored.

ftUE B E ERHRE RFLBBUR - ARAE
FRITRERTE -

6.2 R FIREE AR5

B7: ANTI-CORRU

PTION R&E’5

General disclosure

—MRFEE

Information on:

(@) the policies; and

(b) compliance.

BRAPT ILBRRS - B%

(@) B &

(b) BFHEHEITABERZENHAEEE
RARGIE RS o

HEF RO R

6.3 Responsible Operation
6.3 B8EENEZLFR

B7

B7.1

Number of concluded legal cases regarding
corrupt practices brought against the
issuer or its employees during the reporting
period and the outcomes of the cases.
%Eﬁ%ﬁ%?“AiEEE%ﬁEE%
REVBEISIR AR BIE REFFAG

6.3 Responsible Operation
63BEENELRN

B7.2

Description of preventive measures and
whistle-blowing procedures, how they are
implemented and monitored.

A rE b KRB ERAR T - A RABREBAT

REFETTE -

6.3 Responsible Operation
6.3 BEENEZL A

B7.3

Description of anti-corruption training
provided to directors and staff.
ftmES KB TRENRESFEI -

6.3 Responsible Operation
6.3 B8EENEZLFR
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RIE - R ERRE

SUBJECT AREA (B) SOCIAL

HE

B8: COMMUNITY INVESTMENT #E#& &
General disclosure | Policies

7. Giving Back to the

88

—MRBLEE BT E2ERTREEMEHERTE Community
MRREEXBEDHEERLENRNEE | 7. LELS
B8.1 Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education, | The Group currently does
environmental concerns, labour needs, not report the information of
health, culture, sport). the resources on community
HIEREE(HE  BEFEH  HTF | investment.
ko R b - B2EF However, the Group plans
to disclose the information in
the future.
AEBEBAIARREHRIRE
BRER -
B8 AT - AEEFERBER
BEBEER -
B8.2 Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) | The Group currently does

to the focus area.

EFEISRBMPMER(MEEKEHE) -

not report the information of
the resources on community
investment.

However, the Group plans
to disclose the information in
the future.
AEEBAIARETREE
BIRER °

AT - REEGFEIN B R
BEMER -
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Independent Auditor’s Report
BY 2R RS

mazars

To the shareholders of
Hua Yin International Holdings Limited
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Hua Yin
International Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(together the “Group”) set out on pages 96 to 230, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March 2023, and
the consolidated statement of profit or loss, the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in
equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a
summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the financial position of the Group as at 31 March 2023, and
of its financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”)
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the
“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance with the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSASs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the “Auditor’s Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements” section of
our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and
we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the
Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Mazars CPA Limited

HERIR (F8) SETMEEMERLAT
42nd Floor, Central Plaza,

18 Harbour Road,

Wanchai, Hong Kong

BB BB EEBE18EPIBE S22

Tel EE: (+852) 2909 5555

Fax fHE: (+852) 2810 0032

info@mazars.hk

www.mazars.hk

HETERZERERAT
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=R

BMPEEZINENFEBEFE2B0EMNES
BERZERERARATHBIERA]) &
HMBAR (ATHEEEE ) OEEe M
Bl BSEAMBHREEER T _=F
ZA=1+—BENEEUBHIRAREREZR
IFEFENGEERR FE2HRAR £
EREDEHRMEABRTRER  UR&EA
MBEHmARINGE - BRIBZSHBRME -

BMRE - ZFGREUBHRREREETES
AR ([BESMAS ) BEANEE
MHEREEAN(EEVBREEANDEE
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(BEEMERTADCATEME A -
BBIR BEKE - XCEITTRIFHE
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BEREREREMNEEWARMNEZER
R
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Independent Auditor’s Report
BY 2 EEh RS

MATERIAL UNCERTAINTY RELATING TO GOING
CONCERN

We draw attention to the “Going concern basis” section in note 2.1 to
the consolidated financial statements concerning the adoption of the
going concern basis on which the consolidated financial statements
have been prepared, which states that the Group’s current portion of
bank and other borrowings amounted to RMB445,696,000, while its
unrestricted cash and cash equivalents amounted to RMB69,939,000.
The Group may take longer time than expected to realise cash from
the sales of its properties and/or have cash from external financing
to meet its loan repayment obligations. These conditions, along with
other matters as set forth in note 2.1 to the consolidated financial
statements, indicate that a material uncertainty exists that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern
and, therefore that it may be unable to realise its assets and discharge
its liabilities in the normal course of business. The directors, having
considered the measures to be taken by the Group as disclosed in note
2.1 to the consolidated financial statements, are of the opinion that
the Group would be able to continue as a going concern. Accordingly,
the directors have prepared the consolidated financial statements on
a going concern basis. The consolidated financial statements do not
include any adjustments that would result from a failure of achieving the
measures. We consider appropriate disclosures have been made in this
respect. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements for the current year. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters. In addition to the matter described in the
“Material Uncertainty Related to Going Concern” section, we have
determined the matters described below to be the key audit matters to
be communicated in our report.

HUA YIN INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED # ZEIEE#Z R B R A 7
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

HRELSE(E)

Key Audit Matter
HRELEE

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
HREZBHTERDRIAEEE

Net realisable value of properties under development and
completed properties held for sale

BRPYFRIFEL ECEH YRS T Z T FE

At 31 March 2023, the Group’s properties under
development and completed properties held for sale were
stated at RMB1,416,013,000 and RMB181,773,000
respectively, and they were carried at the lower of
cost and net realisable value. The determination of
the net realisable value is based on the management
judgement and estimation or the valuation performed by
external independent valuer (the “Valuer”) which is highly
dependent on management’s judgement and estimates,
such as assumptions of the expected selling price and,
if applicable, costs to be incurred until completion and
sale; or the valuation basis and methodology used and
the assumptions applied by the Valuer. The assumptions
adopted in the estimation and valuation are affected by
expectation of future market or economics conditions.
RZZEZ=F=A=+—0  BSRENZEERTPVERS
ERE D EZRMED R B/ARK 1,416,013, 000 L AR
#181,773,000 7T » K ANE L A #35 )%H 2 WIEE T
BR - EEE A B IR EENE IR B 6 A BT & b ET s ONE SR
SAEERD ([EERD]) FTETTRE - SEBURNEERERN
B R fhE - MR EEHEERT MIHEHEEN
PRARBIRER ¢ b ERMFT ARG EREER T AU RFTER
BRa% o st RIAEMRANRHZT B M5 EERR
HTEERFT & -

We identified the net realisable value of properties under
development and completed properties held for sale
as a key audit matter because of its significance to the
consolidated financial statements and the judgement and
estimation involved in determination of the net realisable
value.

HPRBERTVERFELEEEKYENRIEEF
ERAREZEE  DHRNEUGSUBEREAMSBE

Related disclosures are included in notes 2.4, 3 and 17
to the consolidated financial statements.
R BN R A IS mEMT2.4 - 317 ©

Our key procedures in relation to management’s
assessment on net realisable value of properties under
development and completed properties held for sale
included:

B EREHERTMERBFELEEEKYELNA]
BRFENTENFTERFEIE

e (Checking the expected selling price to the prices
of the Group’s similar properties presold recently or
adjacent properties sold or subsequently sold on a
sample basis;

ML RTA R E B T TE S A P&
B BEREEVFEENYEER

HHREE

Obtaining and evaluating the net realisable value
calculations prepared by management and assessing
the qualifications and experience of those individuals
who prepared the calculation;
BISkaEhERERAEN A EIVHESNER © WaT
HIERERAIET B R A THER AL

Understanding, evaluating and validating the
assumption in estimating the costs to be incurred
until completion and sale on a sample basis;
BT SRR BT EER T RHERIIESE
FRAHIRER

For the net realisable value based on the valuation
performed by the Valuer,
RENHEMETHHEMSHNTERFENS -

=
=

Reviewing the valuation report from the Valuer and
discussing with management and the Valuer to
understand the valuation basis and methodology
used, and underlying assumptions applied;
EHAEMNGERS - WEREIRE R EERD A
THRPT R EEER AR PTEAEERAREER

(i) Evaluating the objectivity, capabilities and competence
of the Valuer; and
FHEEERMMN RS eI RERE &

(i) Obtaining, on a sample basis, the underlying data
including comparables of market transactions being
used and assessing the appropriateness.

ThECE ER BT A T 35 2 5 B0 AR B B0 (B 45 7T EL B[
) - WAHHEE M
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises the information in the 2023 annual
report of the Company but does not include the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information, and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that
fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee in

discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process.

HUA YIN INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED # ZEIEE#Z R B R A 7
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you, as
a body, in accordance with section 90 of the Bermuda Companies
Act 1981 of Bermuda, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the
contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.
We also:

e |dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

e (Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

e FEvaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.

BB BERERE
HEFE

Pr RS R ANE

BMNBR  RHEREUHERRE
TrHE KR SRR RR T B B E A HRANS
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ENATAEMEMALE ESRARERNE
£

E@E'ZTZ:

BIEREERKFHRE - BTEREFRR
(BEABZRENETOER EX—EAH
BN AR EIE - MR AR REF IR
51 - MRA BRI TP E B E Z IR AT
EFERAMBWMRERERBLE S YR
RFTTEL BV ECRTE - B BE &Y 86 S A) 4R
EEX -

ERB(EBEZEADETEZHBRES -
BAHERTERAE R TEXRRRE
B o TAIIR -

o BRIMFHEBRRAFFRERMEBEE
MM FEEREROVER - [R5 &
MITELIE T AL G LR - LR
BT RAE E MEZRRE  (FRRME
REER - RFFATRE S R BRR - 3
- BRER ERRL - HEBERA
BRES 2 £ Rt REEEIRRMEME
BHBEA#EHNER SR REEHR AR
RMEHHBRBROER

o THREBECMEBNABDES - UARFHE

EMBERREF 1555’713F¥T ﬁ;‘%l
MEBEGINBRIEERER

o FEEEMHRASHABRNREMLRIE
SEHEET AR EN AR -

Annual Report 2022/23 4

93



94

Independent Auditor’s Report
BY 2 EEh RS

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

e Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.

e FEvaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

e Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities and business activities within the Group
to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We
are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

HUA YIN INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED # ZEIEE#Z R B R A 7
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

Mazars CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong, 27 June 2023

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is:

Chan Wai Man

Practising Certificate number: P02487
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss

= A 2 32
,%/T\ (=] Tﬁﬁﬁ

For the year ended 31 March 2023 #Z—

FoSFSASt+—ALER

2023 2022
—E-=F —ZE-F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
BT ARBTR ARBTT
Revenue W= 5 394,107 112,103
Cost of sales and services $HE RARTER AR (338,006) (80,280)
Gross profit EF 56,101 31,823
Other income and gains H AU R s 5 550,510 134,610
Selling and distribution expenses $HE R SR (6,424) (11,382)
Administrative expenses TRER (35,429) (38,613)
Finance costs B E KA 7 (16,696) (62,458)
Other expenses HitAx (11,326) 6,561)
Change in fair value of investment REMENDAEEE
properties 14 (66,293) (81,714)
Change in fair value of derivative TEEBMIEANDAEEED
financial instruments 24 (8,208) (44,879)
PROFIT (LOSS) BEFORE TAX BB ADEF (F58) 6 462,235 (79,174)
Income tax PRISH 10 (96,226) 22,214
PROFIT (LOSS) FOR THE YEAR FraFl (E8) 366,009 (56,960)
Attributable to: PEfh
Owners of the parent RAEEBA 366,009 (56,960)
EARNINGS (LOSS) PER SHARE BRAEHEAEEER
ATTRIBUTABLE TO BF (E18)
OWNERS OF THE PARENT 12
Basic BEWIN RMB5.17 cents RMB(0.84) cents
AR¥5175 AR (0.84) 2
Diluted BE RMB5.08 cents RMB(0.84) cents
AR¥5.08% AR (0.84) 5
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

=]
mETHEWAR
For the year ended 31 March 2023 #HEZE=—Z=-_=F=A=+—HIFE
2023 2022
—E-=F —E -
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T AREFIT
PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR FREA(FE) 366,009 (56,960)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE Ht2mE (iE) kA
(LOSS)/INCOME
Other comprehensive (loss)/income — EH&# [k EF 7B E 1828
that are/may be reclassified to profit = H b2 E (EHE) WA :
or loss in subsequent periods:
Exchange differences on translation 88 INERSEE 2 1E K E5E
of foreign operations (12,938) 6,132
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE (LOSS)/ F£REMEMm (BE) WA -
INCOME FOR THE YEAR, MBRBIE
NET OF TAX (12,938) 6,132
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/ FRZMEW A~ (E8) 85
(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR 353,071 (50,828)
Attributable to: PEAE
Owners of the parent ISYNEIE V=N 353,071 (50,828)
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e IR R

Asat 31 March2023 W-ZE-=#=A=+

2023 2022
—E-=F —E-—F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
MaE ARET T ARBTTT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Property, plant and equipment M - R R 13 574 261
Investment properties HEMZE 14 550,400 615,800
Right-of-use assets FREEE 15 4,174 332
Deferred tax assets RIEFIAE = 16 10,124 17,363
Total non-current assets IRBEELE 565,272 633,756
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Properties under development and BRAVERBELE
completed properties held for sale BRI 17 1,597,786 1,262,844
Trade and other receivables JEUE SRR
R H A FE YRR 18 36,054 55,681
Prepaid income tax TEET SRR 8,025 9,257
Derivative financial instruments PTEEMTA 24 2,310 9,709
Pledged and restricted deposits BB R R 19 6,335 7,596
Cash and cash equivalents RENRREEEY 19 69,939 93,151
Total current assets REBEEHAE 1,720,449 1,438,238
CURRENT LIABILITIES piE =R
Trade and other payables FERE S IRNK
R H A T FIR 20 448,149 481,876
Contract liabilities BHBE 21 102,427 383,969
Lease liabilities HEBE 15 10,010 12,646
Loans from a controlling shareholder ~ — & IER IR E R 22 354,490 234,819
Bank and other borrowings RITREMEE 23 445,696 420,697
Liability component gRESFaES
of the Convertible Bonds 24 90,052 -
Income tax payable FE{SFT1S TR 48,802 42,753
Total current liabilities RBAGEHEE 1,499,626 1,576,760
NET CURRENT REEE(BR)
ASSETS (LIABILITIES) A 220,823 (138,522)
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2023 2022

—E_=F —E-—F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
BT AR®FT T AREFIT
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT X EHERABERE
LIABILITIES 786,095 495,234
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES ERBAR
Liability component of the AMERESBES D
Convertible Bonds 24 - 79,267
Bank and other borrowings RITREMBER 23 229,000 290,897
Deferred tax liabilities EEHIBRE 16 131,498 52,042
Lease liabilities HEaE 15 27,985 28,487
Total non-current liabilities FRBEEEEE 388,483 450,693
NET ASSETS EEFE 397,612 44,541
EQUITY =
Share capital &N 25 311,453 292,554
Convertible preference shares A A RRAE SE 26 - 299,515
Equity component of the Convertible I EHE S50
Bonds 24 60,276 60,276
Reserves s 28 25,883 (607,804)
TOTAL EQUITY RERBEE 397,612 44,541

These consolidated financial statements on pages 96 to 230 were £ 96E 2308  ZEHR AU BHRER T
approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 27 June ~ —=ZF/NA-++tHEESTSIERRESR

2023 and signed on its behalf by: B WHNATATREES
Cui Xintong Li Junjie
EfE 03
Director Director
BF BF
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
meEag ek

For the year ended 31 March 2023 HZ—Z-_=F=A=+—HItFEF

Reserves
il
Equity
component
Convertible of the Share
Share preference Convertible Share  Exchange Contributed option Other ~ Statutory  Retained Total
capital  shares Bonds  premium  reserve  surplus  reserve  reseves  reserve  earnings  Sub-total equity
TRR TERES ERE Bt

ke BXR ZBE¥S RHEE NERE AAE% BE EEEE  iERE  REEA it 48
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARRTR ARMTR ARBTR ARBTR ARBTR ARMTR ARMTR ARMTR ARBTR ARBTR ARMTR ARMTR
(Note 25)  (Note26) ~ (Note 24) (Note 28 (i) (Note 28 (i) (Note 28 (ii)) (Note 28 (iv)) (Note 28 (v)) (Note 28 (vi)

(WiFo5)  (Wiroe)  (M&Fod) (WEros(y) (Wsfosfi)) (Wskos(i)) (Wirosiy) (MzFos() (Kisroswi)

At April 2021 RZEZ-FMmA-A

As previously stated BEER 200,054 299515 40368 4439318 (04983) 184,684 20623 (3263782 045 (2013049 (646,144 (13707

Prir year reclassficafion ARSI

adjustment - - - - 48800 - - - - - 48800 48800

As restated EL] 292,554 40,368 20623 045 2013049  (597,344) 35,003

Loss for the year FRER - - - - [6%0 (6960  (56960)

Other comprehensiveincome ~ EREMZAKA

for the year

Bxchange diferences arsng ~ E)NEHEL B EE

from foreign operations - - - - - 6,182 6,132

Total comprehensive ERPENALE

income for the year - - - - [(663%0)  (B0828  (50,828)

Transaction with owners: BEEARS

Controution and distribuons & RAE

Issuance of comveriole Bonds ~ H{THARES - 60,276 - - - - 60276

Transfer upon maturty REHREETARER

of convertible bonds - (40,368) - - 40368 40,368 -

Disposal of subsidiares HENELR - - - (8311 48311 = =
- 19,908 - (48311) 88,679 40,368 60276

At31 March 2022 W3- F=f=1-A 29,554 60,276 2062 NI (1981330 (07804 445
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Reserves

i
Equity
component
Convertible of the Share
Share  preference  Convertible Share  Exchange  Contributed option Other  Statutory  Retained Total

capital shares Bonds  premium reserve surplus fesene  1esenves reseve  eamings  Sub-total equity
T TERES
Rr BER cEEES  RhEE  ERE SAER BRERE ApBE  AeEE RERA Gt ERgE
RMB000  RMBOO0  RMB'O0  RMB'0OO  RMB'OO0  RMB'000  RMB'OO0  RMB'0O0  RMB'000  RMBO00  RMB'00  RMB'O00
ARET ARBTR ARMTT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETR ARETR ARMTR ARETR ARETL ARETI
Note25) ~ (Note26) ~ (Note24) ~ (Note28() (Note26(i) (Note 28(il) (Note 28)) (Note 28(v) (Note 28(v)
(Mros)  (Witos)  (Msrod)  (Mistos)) (Wfstosm) (Misrosi) (Risosp) (Wstosy) (Hiaosu)

At Apri 2022 H-§-=EME-A ME M55 6026 A4NME (005 164G 2062 (2T 2% (196130  (GUEN 454
Proft for the year R - - - - - - - - - 366009 366,000 366,009
Other comprehensive income ~ EREH2EMA

forthe year

Exchenge diferences arisng BN S BELZEREE

from foreign operations - - - - (1293) - - - - - (129%) (1293
Total compreensive ER2ENNEE

income for the year - - - - (12.9%) - - - - 366009 353011 353,07
Transaction with owners: EREARS:

Contrbuton and distioutions ~ ¥ERAE
Shares issued upon conversion @ A SR EHEEE TR

of convertible preference
shares 18,899 (299,515 - 280,616 - - - - - - 280616 -
Lapsefforfeiture of share options - E&IEL /R - - - - - - (291) - - 21 - -
Tansfertostatutoryreserne.  BAZETHE - - - - - - - - 2569 (2569) - -
18899 (299515 - 20816 - - ) - 259 G 20616 -
At 31 March 2023 W-E-ZE=f=1-A 311,453 - 60276 4719934  (52,989) 184,684 20332 (3253782 25308 (1617,599) 25,883 397,612
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

n/T\ IE%UILE’IEE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 #HEZE—ZT=-—=F=A=+—HIFE
2023 2022
—EC-=F T F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
iz AR¥T T AREF T
OPERATING ACTIVITIES REXER
Profit (loss) before tax BrEERT R A (E5E) 462,235 (79,174)
Adjustments for: PTYSBEELR A
Finance costs BERA 7 16,696 62,458
Reversal of over-provision of BoBERE BT
interest expenses (43,855) (835,980)
Bank and other interest income $RIT R E AR EUA (1) 1
Reversal of write-down of properties [0 3 R )3
under development and completed MEEHEDEX
properties held for sale, net MR - JFE 6,17 (537,307) (19,941)
Impairment on trade and other FEUNE S ER R R EAth
receivables FEWGRIBRE 8,962 6,539
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HENB AR Z WS - (64,348)
Loss on derecognition of derivative RIEERTTESm T A
financial instruments ki = 21
Change in fair value of investment WEMERAAEBEELE)
properties 14 66,293 81,714
Gain on revaluation upon transfer KB MEERRE 2 S
of investment properties & 5 - (48,181)
Change in fair value of derivative PTHELRIEAREE
financial instruments 28 24 8,208 44,879
Depreciation e 3,006 1,766
(15,763) (50,248)
Decrease/(increase) in properties under 2 E % RIFEL S
development and completed BEERBER L (3Eh0)
properties held for sale 213,850 (104,057)
Decrease/(increase) in trade and other JEJ%ZT%@E R B A FE LK
receivables RIER AL, (E) 10,665 (12,713)
Increase in trade and J‘ﬁ“ﬁf’f%ﬁﬁ 0 K L A FE A<
other payables FRIEHE AN 68,886 24,954
Decrease in pledged and EHEE R EZ R IR
restricted deposits Vo 1,261 2,772
Decrease/(increase) in contract liabilites & £ & &R 4, (3 h0) (281,542) 149,019
Cash (used in)/generated from BB (FTA) FBzHE (2,643) 9,727
operations
Interest received BFE 1 1
Interest paid ERFE (61,895) (90,288)
Tax paid: EAHIE
— The People’s Republic of China - BT E AR M
(the “PRC”) corporate income ([HEL) (EEMBH
tax paid (1,020) (12,000)
— PRC land appreciation tax paid - BB L ER (1,500) (4,325)
Net cash flows used KEEBFTRA RS
in operating activities mE 5 (67,057) (96,885)
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2023 2022

—E-=F B
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
PisE ARET ARETFT
INVESTING ACTIVITIES BEEE
Purchases of items of property, plant B E ¥ - #E LR EEE
and equipment (537) (24)
Net cash outflow from HEMBARZRE
disposals of subsidiaries T F R = (2,074)
Net cash flows used in investing WEEENFTR
activities 2R REFEE (537) (2,098)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES BMEER
Proceeds from new bank and other ~ ¥TIZIRTTREMEE
borrowings Z P13 5RI8 580,000 260,000
Repayment of bank and other ERRITREMER
borrowings (616,898) (348,496)
New loans from a controlling PERRAR R AT E R
shareholder 107,528 213,041
Repayment of a controlling BEERRREER
shareholder’s loan (15,482) (36,161)
Payment on lease liabilities HEBEMNK (10,795) (14,452)
Net cash flows from financing activities FE RSS2 & RE/FRA 44,353 73,932
NET DECREASE IN RERREEEYZ
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 4548 (23,241) (25,051)
Cash and cash equivalents at the FURERREEEYD
beginning of the year 93,151 118,334
Effect of foreign exchange rate RSB E TR
changes, net 29 (132)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FRZEHERELZEY
AT THE END OF THE YEAR 19 69,939 93,151
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e SRR M

For the year ended 31 March 2023 #HEZE—ZT=-—=F=A=+—HIFE

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1. RARIREEER

Hua Yin International Holdings Limited (the “Company”, together
with its subsidiaries referred to as the “Group”), is a limited liability
company incorporated in Bermuda. The registered office of the
Company is located at Clarendon House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton
HM11, Bermuda and its shares are listed on the Main Board of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Company was principally
engaged in investment holding and the Group was principally
engaged in property development and management, including
planning, designing, budgeting, licensing, contract tendering and
contract administration and property investment.

Information about subsidiaries

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries at 31 March

Hua Yin International Holdings Limited &
FRRERBR AR ([RAF] - ERHE
MEARSHE [AER]) AR BERESM
R ZBRAT - KRR ZEMPFER
fiZ 7 Clarendon House, 2 Church Street,
Hamilton HM11, Bermuda *© E &5 R &
AR ZERAR ([BRZAT]) 1R
Lo

BE_ZT_=F=A=+—HItFE"
ARAEBREREZEMARE T E
HEYEERNEE (BERE - &R
BE B AOBERANEENR
MERE) -

TEME AR ZER

RZZB_=F=A=+—B  KRAF

2023 are as follows: EMBARZFBENT
Place of
incorporation/
registration and
business; and legal Issued ordinary Percentage of
form if established share/registered equity attributable to the
Name in the PRC capital Company Principal activities
AMBL B
BRI
R (ASE BRITZER/ KRR
£ ) EEER R BEEAL TEED
Direct Indirect
E# BF:
Ground Holdings Limited British Virgin US$100 100% = Investment holding
Islands (‘BVI") 100%T REER
SRAERRHE
(EB#BRES])
Hua Yin International Holdings Limited Samoa US$1 100% = Investment holding
BED 1% REER
Hua Yin International Holdings The PRC, wholly foreign RMB100,000,000 = 100% Investment holding
(Dunhua) Limited* owned enterprise AR®100,000,0007C REER
EZERER () ERAR mEl - ASNERER
Ka Yun Investments Limited (Note) BV US$10,001 = 100% Investment holding
FEREERAR (M) EBABRES 10,001 7T REER
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(Continued)

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

Information about subsidiaries (Continued)

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries at 31 March

2023 are as follows: (Continued)

1. ARREEER (F)

TEMBEAR2ER (&)

RZE_=F=A=+—8 ' ARFF*

ZMBARZFBWT - (F)

Place of
incorporation/
registration and
business; and legal Issued ordinary Percentage of
form if established share/registered equity attributable to the
Name in the PRC capital Company Principal activities
AL/ LR
sk
R (WRHE BRAEER/ NG i3
£ RI) EEFR ZRBRE EREESL TEEE
Direct Indirect
BB EF:
Baishan Ground Real Estate The PRC, wholly RMB50,000,000 - 100% Property development
Development Company Limited* domestically AR®50,000,0007C business
ALTEERHEREER AR owned enterprise NELRED
hE - RERE
VYanji Huize Real Estate The PRC, wholly RMB50,000,000 - 100% Property development
Development Company Limited* domestically AR®50,000,0007C business
CEMEERHEREERAR owned enterprise MEBRER
hE - BRERE
Fusong Ground Real Estate The PRC, wholly RMB110,000,000 = 100% Property development
Development Company Limited* domestically AE®110,000,0007T business
BLEERMEREERAR owned enterprise MEBEER

hE - AREDE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e SRR M

For the year ended 31 March 2023 HZ—Z-_=F=A=+—HItFEF

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1. RFAREEESR (&)

(Continued)
EBEMBARZER (&)

Information about subsidiaries (Continued)

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries at 31 March RZEBEZ=F=fA=+—H ' ARF=E

2023 are as follows: (Continued)

ZMBRRZFBELT - (8)

Place of
incorporation/
registration and
business; and legal Issued ordinary Percentage of
form if established share/registered equity attributable to the
Name in the PRC capital Company Principal activities
FRAL/ LR
BRI
R (WRHE BRAEER/ NG i3
£ i) EERR ZRBE EHEASL TEEE
Direct Indirect
BB &
Fusong Changbaishan Ground Tourism The PRC, wholly RMB10,000,000 - 100% Tourism development and
Development Company Limited* domestically AK®10,000,0007C management business
BINRAILEEREFREERAR owned enterprise RERRRERER
hE - ARERE
Baishan Ground Business The PRC, wholly RMB500,000 - 100% Real estate rental
Management Company Limited* domestically AR®500,0007 management
AUmEEHEERERAA owned enterprise FHERKER
hE - BRERE
Jilin Ground Property Services The PRC, wholly RMB3,000,000 - 100% Real estate property
Company Limited* domestically AR®3,000,0007 management
ENTEENEREERAR owned enterprise FHENEER
PR - BRERE
Jilin Province Xisheng Real Estate The PRC, wholly RMB30,000,000 - 100% Property development
Development Limited* domestically AK®30,000,0007C business
EMEREEEREERAR owned enterprise MELRED

*

For identification purpose only

E - ARELR
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1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION
(Continued)

Information about subsidiaries (Continued)

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries at 31 March

2023 are as follows: (Continued)

Note:

Pursuant to a sale and purchase agreement (as amended
by a supplemental agreement dated 3 July 2015, a second
supplementary agreement dated 22 December 2015 and an
extension letter dated 31 March 2016) dated 26 May 2015 entered
into among Frontier Power Investments Limited (“Frontier Power”,
a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company), Ka Yik Investments
Limited (“Ka Yik”, a company wholly owned by Ms. Cui at those
dates) and Ms. Cui, Frontier Power agreed to acquire and Ka
Yik agreed to sell the entire equity interest in Ka Yun Investments
Limited (“Ka Yun”) for a consideration of HK$4,650 million (the “Ka
Yun Acquisition”). The Ka Yun Acquisition was completed on 26 July
2016.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in the

opinion of the directors, principally affected the results for the year or

formed a substantial portion of the total assets of the Group. To give

details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors,

result in particulars of excessive length.

RAREEER (&)

TEMBEAR2ER (&)

RZE_=F=A=+—8 ' ARFF*
ZWBARZFBET : (B)

GEX

R ¥ Frontier Power Investments Limited
([Frontier Power] » A"NA G2 2 &M &
DA RERBEERARTRZ]
EXTRZEEBE2ERB 2 AA])
REZTHIIVBHA—T—RFH
AZ+ R RBZzEERH(ERARAR=
T-hFLRA=AZHExHHE - A H
RIE-—RFTAZTZHRAZEZ=
AR R_ZE—RF=H
=+ —BZEER R HFT{EET) - Frontier
Power AIEWEMKEFRELERHE
REBRAT(RE]) 2 2 5RHE -
X185 4,650,000,00078 7T ([ RE U
FHE]) REKBBEER T —RF
tAZ+REEK -

ERBEARARZMBERR  EERRB
ZEMBRARUAFEXEETERE
KEXAGEEREESZRRND - EFR
REHREMHBARZFBERETRIE
BRI o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e SRR M

For the year ended 31 March 2023 #HEZE—ZT=-—=F=A=+—HIFE

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs”), which include all Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and
Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”), accounting principles generally accepted
in Hong Kong and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong).
These consolidated financial statements also comply with the
applicable disclosure provisions of the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”). They
have been prepared under the historical cost convention, except
for investment properties and derivative financial instruments which
have been measured at fair value. These consolidated financial
statements are presented in Renminbi (“RMB”) and all values are
rounded to the nearest thousand except when otherwise indicated.

Going concern basis

The Group had net current assets of approximately
RMB220,823,000 as at 31 March 2023. However, the Group’s
current portion of bank and other borrowings amounted to
RMB445,696,000 while its unrestricted cash and cash equivalents
amounted to RMB69,939,000. In addition, in view of the current
condition of the property market, coupled with the limited source of
financing from the capital market, the Group may take longer time
than expected to realise cash from the sale of its properties and/
or have the cash from external financing to meet its loan repayment
obligations. These conditions indicate the existence of a material
uncertainty which may cast significant doubt about the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern. Therefore, the Group may be
unable to realise its assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal
course of business. Notwithstanding the aforesaid conditions, the
consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a going
concern basis on the assumption that the Group is able to operate
as a going concern for the foreseeable future. In the opinion of
the Directors, the Group can meet its financial obligations as and
when they fall due within the next twelve months, after taking into
consideration of the measures and arrangements made by the
Group as detailed below:

HUA YIN INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED # ZEIEE#Z R B R A 7

21 RBLIE %

AIEEMBRRDBRBELEGIMLE
(IEEGEI RS ]) B 2B BMBER
SR (TEBMBREEL]) - taehE
EREEMETEMHREER - BEE
APERI(TEBGRTER ) ket - BR
ERERAzEHRAURFBATGD (&
BAEPIF 6228 ) Z WBEREMARS] o &
RAEVBHRRMERNABRMES
mARA(TETRA) 2 BRI ERZ
BRE - BRRARBEAEZREVER
TESRT A RERAMBREE
TIABESE B ANE Rt ERE - IR BT
BEUARETARED 27 BR2H
BN ESBRYERBREREO T
2o

BEKSEREE
R-TB-_=ZF=ZA=+—8  A&£Ex
MEVE EFELY A AR 220,823,000
7T BASBRITREMEE R B
2o B A R #445,606,0000T 0 M EH
EREReMReSEMARARE
69,939,0007T ° It 5h - & B Al Hb E
MISHEBERL - MERBEARTISAR
BHRBRAER  AEBETETEELTEHE
ROBHEANEEEMESZRBSR %
RINBIMEBHREBMENBITEEREE
B - ZEMARAFTCHEELEE
BECEENREKRREZEATEER
oAl AEERRER—MEBB
BAPZREEERBREAR - BEH
B/ EMAMR - SREFBREEDRFBEL
EEERR  WEREANEEEMNAR
RIS B - KERAEEFTERILZ
SHERLZHE  BERA - AEEAR
KRTZEANBITEMBEMT - Fit
AT



2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

Going concern basis (Continued)

U)

(i)

(i)

the Group is expected to generate adequate cash flows to
maintain its operations;

the Group has obtained continuous financial support from the
Group’s controlling shareholder, and the controlling shareholder
has confirmed that it will not demand the Group for repayment
of the loans from controlling shareholder within the next twelve
months should the Group not be in the financial position to make
such repayment; and

the Group is actively reviewing its debt structure and looking
for funding opportunities. It is actively negotiating with financial
institutions to extend or renew existing borrowings and to secure
new sources of financing at reasonable costs.

The Directors have prepared a cash flow forecast covering a period

up to 30 June 2024 on the basis that the negotiation with financial

institutions for the renewals of the Group’s borrowings and credit

facilities would be successful and would obtain continuous financial

support from the Group's controlling shareholder. The Directors are

satisfied that the Group will have sufficient working capital to meet

its financial obligations as and when they fall due within the twelve
months from 31 March 2023.

Accordingly, the Directors of the Company are of the view that it is

appropriate to prepare these consolidated financial statements on a

going concern basis.

21 RBLEXE (48)

FREEEE(HE)

() AEEBHEELERMRS RENSE
FHEE

(i) AEEEEE ﬁﬁl¢kh$mif
MHSE - MIERRREHER - 54
SEMBRATMEMBEEEEER
%h%%$@EA$%l#$%+:
BAREEIERREER

(i) ANEREIEHER A AEEIL A
BEWE AREEGED REEER
REBBNRARES - RAREN
RAZRFHORE -

%%E%%%EE$QIWFE&EQ

MEDREEET ARSI A
& BB SIS R A IR R MO R B 15 52

B MEREREEZE_ZT_NFAXA
—THIEHENRERETER - EEE
MEEEREBERHEEESBITER
BT =F=A=+—HEi+=@E
AREEHI KR -

At ARREZRR  BHHELLER
EREMEGREMBHRRBEE SR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e SRR M

For the year ended 31 March 2023 #HEZE—ZT=-—=F=A=+—HIFE

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries. A subsidiary is an
entity (including a structured entity), directly or indirectly, controlled
by the Company. Control is achieved when the Group is exposed, or
has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee
and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the
investee (i.e. existing rights that give the Group the current ability to
direct the relevant activities of the investee).

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than a majority
of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group considers all
relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power
over an investee, including:

(@) the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the
investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

(c) the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the
same reporting year as the Company, using consistent accounting
policies. The results of subsidiaries are consolidated from the
date on which the Group obtains control, and continue to be
consolidated until the date that such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income
are attributed to the owners of the parent and to the non-controlling
interests, even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a
deficit balance. All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between members
of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if
facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or
more of the three elements of control described above. A change
in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is
accounted for as an equity transaction.

HUA YIN INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED # ZEIEE#Z R B R A 7

21 RBEXE (48)

maRE

FEVBBRREERARRLENBAR
ZHEHER - MBRRARNRBEENK
FEEHzER(RREEETESR) - &
AEBEAXREAZEKRRE T X
BrrgmsE Bt @ BYHRIRESTZ
B (AT AKEREENTERKE
TS 2 BEERERN) R EZF LR
By - BDEUSIE S -

HARRERABEER LR EIRET
REBZRELAURERN - AARER
AHAEERHEAHRIREN 2N
SEE—YINHEBEERIER 8

(@) EERETEMREFEAZENR
738

b) SR HMEL 2N K&
0 AEEZREELBERTE -

B B8 R B) 2 BA M R Th Bk B AR A RIAR ]
MRS FRERA BT BORER -
B A RIM AR ASERGEFES
REAHIE  YEBESH HEEX
SRR -

BN S B B s 1 IR B AR A BR -
Ba REMEE A Z S A ED D)
SRBEBNERRHA ARIHERE -
ESEEANRHEEREE  #= -
Wt FXAREAREERE RABR
FERZIRER - SRR AREEREE -

HEENERBR ZHEANENE 2T
ERA AU L TRBELES  AIX
SEBEFNFHEERTEFZBIRE
77 e RMB AR AR 28 (L&
RARIEHE) MARR RS



2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises (i) the
assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary, and (i) the
carrying amount of any non-controlling interest and recognises (i)
the fair value of the consideration received, (i) the fair value of any
investment retained and (jii) any resulting surplus or deficit in profit
or loss. The Group’s share of components previously recognised
in other comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or loss or
retained earnings, as appropriate, on the same basis as would be
required if the Group had directly disposed of the related assets or
liabilities. Any investment retained in the former subsidiary and any
amounts owed by or to the former subsidiary are accounted for as a
financial asset, associate, joint venture or others as appropriate from
the date when control is lost.

22CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The Group has applied, for the first time, the following new/revised
HKFRSs that are relevant to the Group:

Amendments to HKAS 16 Proceeds before Intended Use

Amendments to HKAS 37 Cost of Fulffiling a Contract

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual
Framework
Annual Improvements to 2018-2020 Cycle

HKFRSs

Amendments to HKAS 16: Proceeds before Intended
Use

The amendments clarify the accounting requirements for proceeds
received by an entity from selling items produced while testing an
item of property, plant or equipment before it is used for its intended
purpose. An entity recognises the proceeds from selling any such
items, and the cost of those items, in profit or loss and measures
the cost of those items applying the measurement requirements of
HKAS 2.

The adoption of the amendments does not have any significant
impact on the consolidated financial statements.

2.1 R BLEZE (4])

mEEE (&)

MAEEKENB AR ZIEHE - Ble
RIFBERONZHNBARZEE(BER
B)MEE R)EMIEERERZE
A : WHERNSWREZAAEE : (i)
FERBIRE 2 AREE  Ki)HA
MELFABRZ AL E - &
AEREMEERARRZ NEEEN
B NERASEEERELESHRBEEE
IEERARECHRESE TEES
ATEFHEEBEIREBRF - BIF
HEAEE AR RAMBRFREH
EfRIEE R RS RAT BT B A B 8 1E
MeBARASRMEE BEQ R &
ENEIREM AT (REA) °

228 TR ET

AEBECEHEREAATEREEEM[2
A/ IERT BB MBI EER

BEGTAER BT AgAlZ
E165% 2185 FTi8 A

BB AL BITAHIZ A
FEITHZIBET

BEVBEHREEL HESEENRL
FE IR 2IBET

EEPHHREEN —T-\F2
ZEFENE ik Sk S LG

ERETERE16 5% 2185 : 4
BT RBRR 2 TER0E

HRYE  HEIRERBIERERE
AETAANMERLEMEL AR
MER ZFASRIEA  ZFETEFEH
SFRE ERNBRaERLEEAZ
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e SRR M

For the year ended 31 March 2023 HZ—Z-_=F=A=+—HItFEF

22CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 37: Cost of Fulfilling a
Contract

The amendments clarify that for the purpose of assessing whether a
contract is onerous under HKAS 37, the cost of fulfilling the contract
comprises the costs that relate directly to the contract. Costs that
relate directly to a contract include both the incremental costs of
fulfilling that contract (for example, direct labour and materials) and
an allocation of other costs that relate directly to fulfiling contracts
(for example, an allocation of the depreciation charge for an item of
property, plant and equipment used in fulfiling the contract).

The adoption of the amendments does not have any significant
impact on the consolidated financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 3: Reference to the
Conceptual Framework

The amendments update a reference in HKFRS 3 to the Conceptual
Framework for Financial Reporting issued in 2018. The amendments
also add to HKFRS 3 an exception to its requirement for an entity to
refer to the Conceptual Framework to determine what constitutes
an asset or a liability. The exception specifies that, for some types
of liabilities and contingent liabilities, an entity applying HKFRS 3
should instead refer to HKAS 37. The exception has been added to
avoid an unintended consequence of updating the reference.

The adoption of the amendments does not have any significant
impact on the consolidated financial statements.
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22CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Annual Improvements Project - 2018-2020 Cycle

HKFRS 9: Fees in the “10 per cent” Test for Derecognition
of Financial Liabilities

This amendment clarifies that — for the purpose of performing the “10
per cent test” for derecognition of financial liabilities — in determining
those fees paid net of fees received, a borrower includes only fees
paid or received between the borrower and the lender, including
fees paid or received by either the borrower or lender on the other’s
behalf.

HKFRS 16: Lease Incentives
The amendment removes the illustration of payments from the lessor
relating to leasehold improvements. As currently drafted, Example

13 is not clear as to why such payments are not a lease incentive.

The adoption of the amendments does not have any significant
impact on the consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e SRR M

For the year ended 31 March 2023 #HEZE—ZT=-—=F=A=+—HIFE

23ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG 23 EMEEREMZEBIHK

KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS HwEZER
At the date of authorisation of these consolidated financial REZEGEUERRIERENZHE
statements, the HKICPA has issued the following new/revised AEBWEREERWNEESIHMASE

HKFRSs that are not yet effective for the current year, which the

BAERRFEREMRERZ THIFET

Group has not early adopted.

RIETBBY B MEER -

Amendments to HKAS 1 Disclosure of Accounting BB ER] SEHBRZER
Policies ' F1RIEFT

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting AR EEER EHEET 2 EER"
Estimates F 8RBT

Amendments to HKAS12 Deferred Tax related to Assets AR EETER BB - HEER
and Liabilities arising from a F125R2185] BEMEERE
Single Transaction B IEER I8 |

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts ERVBEWELER  REeL

BIREE 179,

Amendments to HKFRS 17 Initial Application of HKFRS 17 BAMBMEER BRERBBYE
and HKFRS 9-Comparative FATRZBR]  WMEERIF7HR
information’ NMEEQ5H -

LLEE R

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as AR EETER BESERTEIL
Current or Non-current 2 FARABET FEMED?

Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with HEgtER| BRAMFERE
Covenants 2 F1R BT afg2

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease liability in a Sale and BERVBMEER SEREENEE
Leaseback 2 F165% 2185 AafE2

Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets BBV WELER]  WEEEARE

and HKAS 28 between an Investor and its F10RREB RAEIHEERT
Associate or Joint Venture @ SEER HEAED
2285k 2 B8] AES

' Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024

8 The effective date to be determined
The directors of the Company anticipate that the application of

these new standards and amendments will have no material impact
on the Group’s results and financial position in the future.
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24SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES
Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred is measured at the acquisition
date fair value which is the sum of the acquisition date fair values of
assets transferred by the Group, liabilities assumed by the Group to
the former owners of the acquiree and the equity interests issued
by the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree. For each
business combination, the Group elects whether to measure the
non-controlling interests in the acquiree that are present ownership
interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of net
assets in the event of liquidation at fair value or at the proportionate
share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All other components
of non-controlling interests are measured at fair value. Acquisition-
related costs are expensed as incurred.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial
assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification and
designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic
circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date.
This includes the separation of embedded derivatives in host
contracts of the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the previously
held equity interest is remeasured at its acquisition date fair value
and any resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss or other
comprehensive income where appropriate.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer
is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Contingent
consideration classified as an asset or liability is measured
at fair value with changes in fair value recognised in profit or
loss. Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not
remeasured and subsequent settlement is accounted for within
equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the
aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount recognised
for non-controlling interests and any fair value of the Group’s
previously held equity interests in the acquiree over the identifiable
net assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If the sum of this
consideration and other items is lower than the fair value of the net
assets acquired, the difference is, after reassessment, recognised in
profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e SRR M

For the year ended 31 March 2023 #HEZE—ZT=-—=F=A=+—HIFE

24SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
Business combinations and goodwill (Continued)

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any
accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for impairment,
annually or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying value may be impaired. The Group
performs its annual impairment test of goodwill as at 31 March. For
the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business
combination is, from the acquisition date, allocated to each of the
Group’s cash-generating units, or groups of cash-generating units,
that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination,
irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the Group are
assigned to those units or group of units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount of
the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units), to which
the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit (group of cash-generating units) is less than the
carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised. An impairment
loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit (or
group of cash-generating units) and part of the operation within
that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the operation
disposed of is included in the carrying amount of the operation when
determining the gain or loss on the disposal. Goodwill disposed of in
these circumstances is measured based on the relative values of the
operation disposed of and the portion of the cash-generating unit
retained.

For the business combination under commmon control, the financial
statements of the Group and the acquired subsidiaries have been
combined, as if the Group acquired such subsidiaries from the
beginning of the earliest financial period that common control
existed. The net assets of the Group and the acquired subsidiaries
are combined using the existing book values from the controlling
party’s perspective. No amount is recognised in consideration for
goodwill or excess of the Group’s interest in the net fair value of the
acquired subsidiaries’ identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent
liabilities over the cost of acquisition at the time of common control
combination. The difference between the consideration and the
book value of the acquired subsidiaries at the time of common
control combination is deducted in the reserves of the Group.
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24SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
Fair value measurement

The Group measures its investment properties and derivative
financial instruments at fair value at the end of each reporting period.
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date. Fair value measurement is
based on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or
transfer the liability takes place either in the principal market for the
asset or liability, or in the absence of a principal market, in the most
advantageous market for the asset or liability. The principal or the
most advantageous market must be accessible by the Group. The
fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions
that market participants would use when pricing the asset or
liability, assuming that market participants act in their economic best
interest.

Fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account
a market participant’s ability to generate economic benefits by
using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another
market participant that would use the asset in its highest and best
use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the
circumstances and for which sufficient data is available to measure
fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and
minimising the use of unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed
in the consolidated financial statements are categorised within the
fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level
input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole:
Level1 - based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level2 - based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is observable, either directly or
indirectly

Level3 - based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is unobservable
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 #HEZE—ZT=-—=F=A=+—HIFE

24SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24X EETTBRBE (&)

POLICIES (Continued)
Fair value measurement (Continued)

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the consolidated
financial statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines
whether transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by
reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest level input that is
significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of
each reporting period.

Impairment of non-financial assets other than
goodwill

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than inventories,
financial assets and investment properties), the asset’s recoverable
amount is estimated. An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher
of the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s value in use and its fair value
less costs of disposal, and is determined for an individual asset,
unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely
independent of those from other assets or groups of assets, in
which case the recoverable amount is determined for the cash-
generating unit to which the asset belongs.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount of an
asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing value in use,
the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the
asset. An impairment loss is charged to the statement of profit or
loss in the period in which it arises, unless the asset is carried at a
revalued amount, in which case the impairment loss is accounted for
in accordance with the relevant accounting policy for that revalued
asset.
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24SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets other than
goodwill (Continued)

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period as to
whether there is an indication that previously recognised impairment
losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If such an
indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated. A previously
recognised impairment loss of an asset other than goodwill is
reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates used
to determine the recoverable amount of that asset, but not to an
amount higher than the carrying amount that would have been
determined (net of any depreciation/amortisation) had no impairment
loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal of
such an impairment loss is credited to the statement of profit or
loss in the period in which it arises, unless the asset is carried at a
revalued amount, in which case the reversal of the impairment loss
is accounted for in accordance with the relevant accounting policy
for that revalued asset.

Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(@) the party is a person or a close member of that person’s family
and that person:
(i)  has control or joint control over the Group;
(i)  has significant influence over the Group; or

(iiy is a member of the key management personnel of the
Group or of a parent of the Group;

Or

(b) the party is an entity where any of the following conditions
applies:

(i)  the entity and the Group are members of the same group;
(i) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity

(or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow subsidiary of the other
entity);
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24SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Related parties (Continued)

(b) the party is an entity where any of the following conditions
applies: (Continued)

(i) the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the same third
party;

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other
entity is an associate of the third entity;

(v) the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit
of employees of either the Group or an entity related to the
Group;

(viy the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
identified in (a);

(viil) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over the
entity or is a member of the key management personnel of
the entity (or of a parent of the entity); and

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part,
provides key management personnel services to the Group
or to the parent of the Group.

Close members of the family of a person are those family members
who may be expected to influence, or be influenced by, that person
in their dealings with the entity and include:

(@) that person’s children and spouse or domestic partner;

(b) children of that person’s spouse or domestic partner; and
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24SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
Related parties (Continued)

(c) dependants of that person or that person’s spouse or domestic
partner.

In the definition of a related party, an associate includes subsidiaries
of the associate and a joint venture includes subsidiaries of the joint
venture.

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses. The cost of an item of
property, plant and equipment comprises its purchase price and
any directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working
condition and location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and equipment
have been put into operation, such as repairs and maintenance, is
normally charged to the consolidated statement of profit or loss in
the period in which it is incurred. In situations where the recognition
criteria are satisfied, the expenditure for a major inspection is
capitalised in the carrying amount of the asset as a replacement.
Where significant parts of property, plant and equipment are
required to be replaced at intervals, the Group recognises such
parts as individual assets with specific useful lives and depreciates
them accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off the
cost of each item of property, plant and equipment to its residual
value over its estimated useful life. The principal annual rates used
for this purpose are as follows:

20% to 33%
Over the shorter of the

Furniture and fixtures and office equipment
Leasehold improvements

lease terms and 20%
Motor vehicles 20% to 30%
Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have
different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated on a
reasonable basis among the parts and each part is depreciated
separately. Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation method
are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at each financial
year end.
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24SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
(Continued)

An item of property, plant and equipment including any significant
part initially recognised is derecognised upon disposal or when
no future economic benefits are expected to arise from its use or
disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or retirement recognised in
the statement of profit or loss in the year the asset is derecognised
is the difference between the net sales proceeds and the carrying
amount of the relevant asset.

Properties under development

Properties under development are stated at the lower of cost
and net realisable value and comprise land costs, construction
costs, borrowing costs, professional fees and other costs directly
attributable to such properties incurred during the development
period. The net realisable value of properties under development
is determined by establishing the estimated selling prices of
the properties on () an “as-if” completed basis with appropriate
deduction on construction costs, professional fees and interests
to be incurred from the valuation date to completion as well as the
estimated selling expenses or (i) a direct comparison approach by
making reference to comparable land transactions as available in
the market.

Properties under development are classified as current assets unless
the construction period of the relevant property development project
is expected to complete beyond the normal operating cycle. On
completion, the properties are transferred to completed properties
held for sale.

The land held for future development represents parcels of land
owned by the Group for the purpose of development of properties
for sale and is initially stated at lower of cost and net realisable
value. It is transferred to the properties under development upon
commencement of the related construction work in the property
development project.
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24SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
Completed properties held for sale

Completed properties held for sale are stated at the lower of cost
and net realisable value. Cost is determined by an apportionment of
the total land and building costs attributable to unsold properties.
The net realisable value is determined by reference to the selling
prices of properties sold in the ordinary course of business less
selling expenses and the prevailing market conditions, on an
individual property basis.

Investment properties

Investment properties are interests in land and buildings (including
the leasehold interest under an operating lease for a property which
would otherwise meet the definition of an investment property)
held to earn rental income and/or for capital appreciation, rather
than for use in the production or supply of goods or services or
for administrative purposes; or for sale in the ordinary course of
business. Such properties are measured initially at cost, including
transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, investment
properties are stated at fair value, which reflects market conditions
at the end of the reporting period.

Completed properties held for sale and properties under
development would be transferred to investment properties
when, and only when, there is a change in use, evidenced by the
following criteria: (a) the properties meet the definition of investment
properties; (b) the Group has prepared a business plan that reflects
the future rental income generated by the property and this is
supported with evidence that there is demand for rental space; (c)
the Group can demonstrate that it has the resources, including the
necessary financing or capital, to hold and manage the investment
property; (d) the change in use is legally permissible; (e) if the
property must be further developed for the change in use, the
development has commenced and (f) change in use is approved by
the Board.

Any difference between the fair value of the completed properties
held for sales at the transfer date and its previous carrying amount
shall be recognised in profit or loss which is consistent with the
treatment of sales of completed properties.
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24SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24X EETTBRBE (&)

POLICIES (Continued)
Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract is, or
contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract
conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a
period of time in exchange for consideration.

The Group as lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement approach
for all leases, except for short-term leases and leases of low-
value assets. The Group recognises lease liabilities to make lease
payments and right-of-use assets representing the right to use the
underlying assets.

The Group has elected not to separate non-lease components from
lease components, and accounts for each lease component and
any associated non-lease components as a single lease component.

The Group accounts for each lease component within a
lease contract as a lease separately. The Group allocates the
consideration in the contract to each lease component on the basis
of the relative stand-alone price of the lease component.

Amounts payable by the Group that do not give rise to a separate
component are considered to be part of the total consideration that
is allocated to the separately identified components of the contract.

The Group recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability at the
commencement date of the lease.
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24SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Leases (Continued)
The Group as lessee (Continued)

(@) Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the commencement date
of the lease (that is the date the underlying asset is available
for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses, and
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost
of right-of-use assets includes the amount of lease liabilities
recognised, initial direct costs incurred, and lease payments
made at or before the commencement date less any lease
incentives received, and an estimate of costs to be incurred
by the Group in dismantling and removing the underlying
asset, restoring the site on which it is located or restoring the
underlying asset to the condition required by the terms and
conditions of the lease, unless those costs are incurred to
produce inventories.

Subsequently, the right-of-use asset is measured at cost less
any accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment
losses and adjusted for any remeasurement of the lease liability.
Depreciation is provided on a straight-line basis over the shorter
of the lease term and the estimated useful lives of the right-of-
use asset (unless the lease transfers ownership of the underlying
asset to the Group by the end of the lease term or if the cost
of the right-of-use asset reflects that the Group will exercise a
purchase option — in which case depreciation is provided over
the estimated useful life of the underlying asset) as follows:

Office and other premises 1-3 years
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24SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as lessee (Continued)

()

Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement date of
the lease at the present value of lease payments to be made
over the lease term. The lease payments include fixed payments
(including in-substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives
receivable, variable lease payments that depend on an index or
a rate, and amounts expected to be paid under residual value
guarantees. The lease payments also include the exercise price
of a purchase option reasonably certain to be exercised by the
Group and payments of penalties for termination of a lease, if the
lease term reflects the Group exercising the option to terminate.
The variable lease payments that do not depend on an index
or a rate are recognised as an expense in the period in which
the event or condition that triggers the payment occurs and
payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term
reflects the Group exercising an option to terminate the lease.

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Group
uses its incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement
date because the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily
determinable. After the commencement date, the amount of
lease liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion of interest and
reduced for the lease payments made. In addition, the carrying
amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a modification,
a change in the lease term, a change in lease payments (e.g.,
a change to future lease payments resulting from a change in
an index or rate) or a change in assessment of an option to
purchase the underlying asset.

The Group recognises the amount of the remeasurement of
the lease liability as an adjustment to the right-of-use asset.
If the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset is reduced to
zero and there is a further reduction in the measurement of the
lease liability, the Group recognises any remaining amount of the
remeasurement in profit or loss.
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24SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as lessee (Continued)

(b) Lease liabilities (Continued)

A lease modification is accounted for as a separate lease if:

@)

the modification increases the scope of the lease by adding
the right to use one or more underlying assets; and

(b) the consideration for the lease increases by an amount

commensurate with the stand-alone price for the increase in
scope and any appropriate adjustments to that stand-alone
price to reflect the circumstances of the particular contract.

When a lease modification is not accounted for as a separate

lease, at the effective date of the lease modification,

@)

the Group allocates the consideration in the modified
contract on the basis of relative stand-alone price as
described above.

(b) the Group determines the lease term of the modified

contract.

the Group remeasures the lease liability by discounting the
revised lease payments using a revised discount rate over
the revised lease term.

for lease modifications that decrease the scope of the lease,
the Group accounts for the remeasurement of the lease
liability by decreasing the carrying amount of the right-of-
use asset to reflect the partial or full termination of the lease
and recognising any gain or loss relating to the partial or full
termination of the lease in profit or loss.

for all other lease modifications, the Group accounts
for the remeasurement of the lease liability by making a
corresponding adjustment to the right-of-use asset.

QAT EETTHEREE (F)

HE (&)
REEERERAA (H)

b) MEREGE)

W HIRATER - HEEFTRERE
BHEEAR:

(@) EFTEBIBM—IAKZIRBBE
EZEREMBEAREHE : &

b) HEREEMZ 2 BHEENEHE
BAMOBEZEBEREAR
R ER OB R EBERAE
EEERE -

W SR ENHEEFT M A S
EREBHEARK -

(a) AEERE AR EBERD
BRI Az RIE -

b AEEEELET AN ZEE
B

() AEBEBNEETHERER
RIEFTRRIR BB EFTHE N K
ETRRBAEFNTEHERE -

o HAEREERE cHEEFTM
5 AKBEEERIERREE
ZEREERHEAEEHNTAEA
R URBRES 2L ILEE
K EE T EREM RS KD
BRI ERME R -

(e BUETEEMBEERIME @ A%

BE B AR A E LR
X pEEaEERTEAR-

Annual Report 2022/23 4

127



128

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e SRR M

For the year ended 31 March 2023 #HEZE—ZT=-—=F=A=+—HIFE

= —F —

24SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
Leases (Continued)
The Group as lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it classifies at lease inception (or
when there is a lease modification) each of its leases as either an
operating lease or a finance lease.

Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially all the
risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an asset are classified
as operating leases. When a contract contains lease and non-
lease components, the Group allocates the consideration in the
contract to each component on a relative stand-alone selling price
basis. Rental income is accounted for on a straight-line basis over
the lease terms and is included in revenue in the statement of profit
or loss due to its operating nature. Initial direct costs incurred in
negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to the
carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised over the lease
term on the same basis as rental income. Contingent rents are
recognised as revenue in the period in which they are earned.

When the Group is an intermediate lessor, it accounts for the head
lease and sublease as two separate contracts. The sublease is
classified as an operating lease if the head lease is a short-term
lease to which the Group has applied the recognition exemption.
Otherwise, the sublease is classified as a finance or operating lease
by reference to the right-of-use asset arising from the head lease.
When the Group entered into sublease as an intermediate lessor,
any difference between the derecognition of right-of-use asset and
the net investment in the sublease are recognised in profit or loss.

Leases that transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental
to ownership of an underlying asset to the lessee, are accounted for
as finance leases.
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24SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
Leases (Continued)

The Group as lessor (Continued)
As lessor — operating lease

The Group applies the derecognition and impairment requirements
in HKFRS 9 to the operating lease receivables.

A modification to an operating lease is accounted for as a new lease
from the effective date of the modification, considering any prepaid
or accrued lease payments relating to the original lease as part of
the lease payments for the new lease.

Financial instruments
Financial assets
Recognition and derecognition

Financial assets are recognised when and only when the Group
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instruments
and on a trade date basis.

A financial asset is derecognised when and only when (i) the Group’s
contractual rights to future cash flows from the financial asset expire
or (i) the Group transfers the financial asset and either (a) it transfers
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial
asset, or (b) it neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership of the financial asset but it does not retain
control of the financial asset.

If the Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Group continues to
recognise the financial asset.

If the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership and continues to control the transferred
asset, the Group recognises the financial asset to the extent of its
continuing involvement and an associated liability for amounts it may
have to pay.
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24SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Classification and measurement

Financial assets (except for trade receivables without a significant
financing component) are initially recognised at their fair value plus,
in the case of financial assets not carried at fair value through profit
and loss (“FVPL”), transaction costs that are directly attributable to
the acquisition of the financial assets. Such trade receivables are
initially measured at their transaction price.

On initial recognition, a financial asset is classified as (i) measured
at amortised cost; (i) debt instruments at fair value through other
comprehensive income (“FVOCI”); (iii) equity instruments at FVOCI;
or (iv) measured at FVPL.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends on
the Group’s business model for managing the financial assets and
the financial asset’s contractual cash flow characteristics. Financial
assets are not reclassified subsequent to their initial recognition
unless the Group changes its business model for managing them,
in which case all affected financial assets are reclassified on the first
day of the first annual reporting period following the change in the
business model (the “reclassification date”).

Derivatives embedded in a hybrid contract in which a host is an
asset within the scope of HKFRS 9 are not separated from the host.
Instead, the entire hybrid contract is assessed for classification.
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24SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and measurement (Continued)

(1) Financial assets measured at amortised cost

A financial asset is measured at amortised cost if it meets both
of the following conditions and is not designated as at FVPL:

(i) it is held within a business model whose objective is to hold
financial assets in order to collect contractual cash flows;
and

(i) its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the
principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently
measured using the effective interest method and are subject
to impairment. Gains and losses arising from impairment,
derecognition or through the amortisation process are
recognised in profit or loss.

The Group’s financial assets at amortised cost include trade and
other receivables, pledged and restricted deposits and cash and
cash equivalents.
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24SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and measurement (Continued)
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Financial assets at FVPL

These investments include financial assets that are not measured
at amortised cost or FVOCI, including financial assets held for
trading, financial assets designated upon initial recognition as at
FVPL, financial assets resulting from a contingent consideration
arrangement in a business combination to which HKFRS 3
applies and financial assets that are otherwise required to be
measured at FVPL. They are carried at fair value, with any
resultant gain and loss recognised in profit or loss, which does
not include any dividend or interest earned on the financial
assets. Dividend or interest income is presented separately from
fair value gain or loss.

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if it is:

(i) acquired principally for the purpose of selling it in the near
term;

(i) part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments that
are managed together and for which there is evidence of
a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking on initial
recognition; or

(iiy a derivative that is not a financial guarantee contract or not a
designated and effective hedging instrument.

Financial assets are designated at initial recognition as at FVPL only

if d

oing so eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or

recognition inconsistency that would otherwise arise from measuring

assets or liabilities or recognising the gains or losses on them on
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different bases.

The Group’s financial assets mandatorily measured at FVPL include

derivative financial instruments.
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24SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities

Recognition and derecognition

Financial liabilities are recognised when and only when the Group
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instruments.

A financial liability is derecognised when and only when the liability
is extinguished, that is, when the obligation specified in the relevant
contract is discharged, cancelled or expires.

Classification and measurement

Financial liabilities are initially recognised at their fair value plus, in
the case of financial liabilities not carried at FVPL, transaction costs
that are directly attributable to the issue of the financial liabilities.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and other payables,
loans from a controlling shareholder, lease liabilities and bank and
other borrowings, and convertible bonds. All financial liabilities,
except for financial liabilities at FVPL, are recognised initially at their
fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the
effective interest method, unless the effect of discounting would be
insignificant, in which case they are stated at cost.

Derivatives embedded in a hybrid contract with a host that is not
an asset within the scope of HKFRS 9 are treated as separate
derivatives when they meet the definition of a derivative, their
economic characteristics and risks are not closely related to those
of the host, and the hybrid contract is not measured at FVPL.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount
is reported in the consolidated statement of financial position if
there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised
amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to
realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.
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24SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
Convertible bonds

If the early redemption option of convertible bonds exhibits
characteristics of an embedded derivative, it is separated from its
liability component. On initial recognition, the derivative component
of the convertible bonds is measured at fair value and presented
as part of derivative financial instruments. The component of
the convertible bonds that exhibits characteristics of a liability
is recognised as a liability in the statement of financial position,
net of transaction costs. On initial recognition, the fair value of
the liability component is determined using a market rate for an
equivalent non-convertible bond; and this amount is carried as a
long term liability on the amortised cost basis until extinguished
on conversion or redemption. The remainder of the proceeds is
allocated to the conversion option that is recognised and included in
shareholders’ equity, net of transaction costs. The carrying amount
of the conversion option is not remeasured in subsequent years.
Transaction costs are apportioned between the liability and equity
components of the convertible bonds based on the allocation
of proceeds to the liability and equity components when the
instruments are first recognised.

Impairment of financial assets and other items

The Group recognises loss allowances for expected credit loss
(“ECL”) on financial assets that are measured at amortised cost
and financial guarantee contracts issued to which the impairment
requirements apply in accordance with HKFRS 9. Except for the
specific treatments as detailed below, at each reporting date, the
Group measures a loss allowance for a financial asset at an amount
equal to the lifetime ECL if the credit risk on that financial asset has
increased significantly since initial recognition. If the credit risk on a
financial asset has not increased significantly since initial recognition,
the Group measures the loss allowance for that financial asset at an
amount equal to 12-month ECL.
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24SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items
(Continued)

Measurement of ECL

ECL is a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses (i.e. the
present value of all cash shortfalls) over the expected life of the
financial instrument.

For financial assets, a credit loss is the present value of the
difference between the contractual cash flows that are due to an
entity under the contract and the cash flows that the entity expects
to receive.

For a financial guarantee contract, the entity is required to make
payments only in the event of a default by the debtor in accordance
with the terms of the instrument that is guaranteed. Accordingly,
cash shortfalls are the expected payments to reimburse the holder
for a credit loss that it incurs less any amounts that the entity
expects to receive from the holder, the debtor or any other party.
If the asset is fully guaranteed, the estimation of cash shortfalls
for a financial guarantee contract would be consistent with the
estimations of cash shortfalls for the asset subject to the guarantee.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible
default events over the expected life of a financial instrument
while 12-month ECL represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is
expected to result from default events on a financial instrument that
are possible within 12 months after the reporting date.

Where ECL is measured on a collective basis, the financial
instruments are grouped based on the following one or more shared
credit risk characteristics:

() past due information

(i) nature of instrument

(iiy nature of collateral
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24SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24X EETTBRBE (&)

POLICIES (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items
(Continued)

Measurement of ECL (Continued)
(iv) industry of debtors

(v) geographical location of debtors

(vi) external credit risk ratings

Loss allowance is remeasured at each reporting date to reflect
changes in the financial instrument’s credit risk and loss since
initial recognition. The resulting changes in the loss allowance are
recognised as an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss with a
corresponding adjustment to the carrying amount of the financial
instrument, except in the case of debt instruments at FVOCI, the
loss allowance is recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in the recycling fair value reserve.

Definition of default

The Group considers the following as constituting an event of
default for internal credit risk management purposes as historical
experience indicates that the Group may not receive the outstanding
contractual amounts in full if the financial instrument that meets any
of the following criteria.

(i) information developed internally or obtained from external
sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors,
including the Group, in full (without taking into account any
collaterals held by the Group); or

(i) there is a breach of financial covenants by the counterparty.

Irrespective of the above analysis, the Group considers that default
has occurred when a financial asset is more than 90 days past
due unless the Group has reasonable and supportable information
to demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is more
appropriate.
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24SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items
(Continued)

Assessment of significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial instrument has
increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the
reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition. In making this
assessment, the Group considers both quantitative and qualitative
information that is reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that is available without
undue cost or effort. In particular, the following information is taken
into account in the assessment:

e the debtor’s failure to make payments of principal or interest on
the due dates;

e an actual or expected significant deterioration in the financial
instrument’s external or internal credit rating (if available);

e an actual or expected significant deterioration in the operating
results of the debtor; and

e actual or expected changes in the technological, market,
economic or legal environment that have or may have a
significant adverse effect on the debtor’s ability to meet its
obligation to the Group.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the Group
presumes that the credit risk on a financial instrument has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual payments are
more than 30 days past due.

For financial guarantee contracts, the date that the Group becomes
a party to the irrevocable commmitment is considered to be the date
of initial recognition for the purposes of assessing the financial
instrument for impairment. For financial guarantee contracts, the
Group considers the changes in the risk that the specified debtor
will default on the contract.
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24SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24
POLICIES (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items
(Continued)

Assessment of significant increase in credit risk
(Continued)

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Group assumes that the credit
risk on a financial instrument has not increased significantly since
initial recognition if the financial instrument is determined to have low
credit risk at the reporting date.

Low credit risk

A financial instrument is determined to have low credit risk if:

(i) it has a low risk of default;

(i) the borrower has a strong capacity to meet its contractual cash
flow obligations in the near term; and

(iiiy adverse changes in economic and business conditions in the
longer term may, but will not necessarily, reduce the ability of the
borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations.

Simplified approach of ECL

For trade receivables and contract assets without a significant
financing components or otherwise for which the Group applies
the practical expedient not to account for the significant financing
components, the Group applies a simplified approach in calculating
ECL. The Group recognises a loss allowance based on lifetime
ECL at each reporting date and has established a provision matrix
that is based on its historical credit loss experience, adjusted for
forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the economic
environment.
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24SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items
(Continued)

Credit-impaired financial asset

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events that
have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of
that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is
credit-impaired include observable data about the following events:

(@) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the borrower.
(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or past due event.

(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual
reasons relating to the borrower’s financial difficulty, having
granted to the borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s) would
not otherwise consider.

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy
or other financial reorganisation.

(e) the disappearance of an active market for that financial asset
because of financial difficulties.

() the purchase or origination of a financial asset at a deep
discount that reflects the incurred credit losses.

Write-off

The Group writes off a financial asset when the Group has no
reasonable expectations of recovering the contractual cash flows on
a financial asset in its entirety or a portion thereof. The Group has
a policy of writing off the gross carrying amount when the financial
asset is 1 year past due based on historical experience of recoveries
of similar assets. The Group expects no significant recovery from
the amount written off. However, financial assets that are written off
could still be subject to enforcement activities under the Group’s
procedures for recovery of amounts due, taking into account legal
advice if appropriate. Any subsequent recovery is recognised in
profit or loss.
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24SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash
and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand deposits,
and short term highly liquid investments that are readily convertible
into known amounts of cash, are subject to an insignificant risk of
changes in value, and have a short maturity of generally within three
months when acquired, less bank overdrafts which are repayable on
demand and form an integral part of the Group’s cash management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of financial position,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and at banks,
including term deposits, and assets similar in nature to cash, which
are not restricted as to use.

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or
constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is probable
that a future outflow of resources will be required to settle the
obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can be made of the
amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount recognised
for a provision is the present value at the end of the reporting period
of the future expenditures expected to be required to settle the
obligation. The increase in the discounted present value amount
arising from the passage of time is included in finance costs in the
statement of profit or loss.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax relating
to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised outside profit
or loss, either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount
expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities,
based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period, taking into
consideration interpretations and practices prevailing in the countries
in which the Group operates.
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24SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all temporary
differences at the end of the reporting period between the tax bases
of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial
reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary
differences, except:

e when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition
of goodwill or an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a
business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects
neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

e in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures, when
the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be
controlled and it is probable that the temporary differences will
not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences, the carryforward of unused tax credits and any unused
tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised, to the extent that
it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the
deductible temporary differences, and the carryforward of unused
tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

e when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary
differences arises from the initial recognition of an asset or liability
in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the
time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor
taxable profit or loss; and

e in respect of deductible temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries deferred tax assets are only
recognised to the extent that it is probable that the temporary
differences will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable
profit will be available against which the temporary differences
can be utilised.
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24SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
Income tax (Continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of
each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or
part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred
tax assets are reassessed at the end of each reporting period and
are recognised to the extent that it has become probable that
sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the
deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that
are expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised or the
liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if a legally
enforceable right exists to set off current tax assets against current
tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to the same taxable entity
and the same taxation authority.

Revenue recognition

Revenue comprises the consideration received or receivable for
the sales of properties and services, net of discount, in the ordinary
course of the Group’s activities.

Revenue from the sales of properties are recognised when or as the
control of the asset is transferred to the customer. Depending on the
terms of the contract and laws that apply to the contract, control of
the asset may transfer over time or at a point in time. Control of the
asset is transferred over time if the Group’s performance:

e Provides all the benefits received and consumed simultaneously
by the customer; or

e (Creates and enhances an asset that the customer controls as
the Group performs; or

e Do not create an asset with an alternative use to the Group and
the Group has an enforceable right to payment for performance
completed to date.
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24SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
Revenue recognition (Continued)

If control of the asset transfers over time, revenue is recognised
over the period of the contract by reference to the progress towards
complete satisfaction of that performance obligation. Otherwise,
revenue is recognised at a point in time when the customer obtains
control of the asset.

The progress towards complete satisfaction of the performance
obligation is measured based on the Group’s efforts or inputs to
the satisfaction of the performance obligation, by reference to
the contract costs incurred up to the end of reporting period as a
percentage of total estimated costs for each contract.

For property sales contract for which the control of the property
is transferred at a point in time, revenue is recognised when the
customer obtains the physical possession or the legal title of the
completed property and the Group has present right to payment
and the collection of the consideration is probable.

In determining the transaction price, adjusts the promised amount
of consideration for the effect of a financing component if it is
significant. When the contract contains a significant financing
component (i.e. the customer is provided with a significant benefit
of financing the transfer of goods or services to the customer), in
determining the transaction price, the Group adjusts the promised
consideration for the effects of the time value of money. The effect
of the significant financing component is recognised as an interest
income separately from revenue from contracts with customers in
profit or loss.

The Group determines the interest rate that is commensurate with
the rate that would be reflected in a separate financing transaction
between the Group and its customer at contract inception by
reference to, where appropriate, the interest rate implicit in the
contract (i.e. the interest rate that discounts the cash selling price
of the goods or services to the amount paid in advance or arrears),
the prevailing market interest rates, the Group’s borrowing rates and
other relevant creditworthiness information of the customer of the
Group.
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 #HEZE—ZT=-—=F=A=+—HIFE
24SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
Revenue recognition (Continued)

The Group has applied the practical expedient in paragraph 63 of
HKFRS 15 and does not adjust the consideration for the effect of
the significant financing component if the period of financing is one
year or less.

Payments received on properties sold prior to the date of revenue
recognition are included in the consolidated statement of financial
position under contract liabilities.

Rental income derived from the lease of the Group’s properties is
recognised on a time proportion basis over the lease terms.

Property management fee income derived from the provision of
property maintenance and management services is recognised over
time when the relevant services are rendered.

Interest income from financial assets is recognised using the
effective interest method. For financial assets measured at amortised
cost or debt instruments at FVOCI that are not credit-impaired, the
effective interest rate is applied to the gross carrying amount of
the assets while it is applied to the amortised cost (i.e. the gross
carrying amount net of loss allowance) in case of credit-impaired
financial assets.

Contract liabilities

If a customer pays consideration, or the Group has a right to an
amount of consideration that is unconditional, before the Group
transfers a good or service to the customer, the contract is
presented as a contract liability when the payment is made or the
payment is due (whichever is earlier). A receivable is the Group’s
right to consideration that is unconditional or only the passage of
time is required before payment of that consideration is due.

For a single contract or a single set of related contracts, either a net
contract asset or a net contract liability is presented. Contract assets
and contract liabilities of unrelated contracts are not presented on a
net basis.
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24SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
Contract liabilities (Continued)

For the sale of properties, it is common for the Group to receive from
the customer the whole or some of the contractual payments before
the services are completed or when the goods are delivered (i.e.
the timing of revenue recognition for such transactions). The Group
recognises a contract liability until it is recognised as revenue. During
that period, any significant financing components, if applicable, will
be included in the contract liability and will be expensed as accrued
unless the interest expense is eligible for capitalisation.

For the rental and property management fee income, the Group
receives payments from the customer which are largely in line with
the timing of revenue recognition and no significant contract liabilities
are recognised.

Share-based payments

The Company operates a share option scheme for the purpose
of providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants who
contributes to the success of the Group’s operations. Employees
(including directors) of the Group receive remuneration in the form
of share-based payments, whereby employees render services as
consideration for equity instruments (“equity-settled transactions”).

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees for grants is
measured by reference to the fair value at the date at which they are
granted. The fair value is determined by an external valuer using a
binomial option pricing model.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised in employee
benefit expense, together with a corresponding increase in equity,
over the period in which the performance and/or service conditions
are fulfilled. The cumulative expense recognised for equity-settled
transactions at the end of each reporting period until the vesting
date reflects the extent to which the vesting period has expired and
the Group’s best estimate of the number of equity instruments that
will ultimately vest. The charge or credit to profit or loss for a period
represents the movement in the cumulative expense recognised as
at the beginning and end of that period.
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24SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
Share-based payments (Continued)

Service and non-market performance conditions are not taken into
account when determining the grant date fair value of awards, but
the likelihood of the conditions being met is assessed as part of the
Group’s best estimate of the number of equity instruments that will
ultimately vest. Market performance conditions are reflected within
the grant date fair value. Any other conditions attached to an award,
but without an associated service requirement, are considered to
be non-vesting conditions. Non-vesting conditions are reflected in
the fair value of an award and lead to an immediate expensing of an
award unless there are also service and/or performance conditions.

For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-market
performance and/or service conditions have not been met, no
expense is recognised. Where awards include a market condition
or non-vesting condition, the transactions are treated as vesting
irrespective of whether the market or non-vesting condition is
satisfied, provided that all other performance and/or service
conditions are satisfied.

Where the equity-settled award are exercised, the amount previously
recognised in the share option reserve will be transferred to share
capital. Where the equity-settled award are forfeited after the
vesting date or are still not exercised at the expiry date, the amount
previously recognised in share option reserve will be transferred to
retained earnings.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as a
minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms had not been
modified, if the original terms of the award are met. In addition, an
expense is recognised for any modification that increases the total
fair value of the share-based payments, or is otherwise beneficial to
the employee as measured at the date of modification.
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24SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
Share-based payments (Continued)

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it
had vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense not yet
recognised for the award is recognised immediately. This includes
any award where non-vesting conditions within the control of
either the Group or the employee are not met. However, if a new
award is substituted for the cancelled award, and designated as a
replacement award on the date that it is granted, the cancelled and
new awards are treated as if they were a modification of the original
award, as described in the previous paragraph.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as additional
share dilution in the computation of earnings per share.

Other employee benefits
Pension schemes

The Group participates in a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF Scheme”)
under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for all
of its employees located in Hong Kong. Contributions are made
based on a percentage of the employees’ basic salaries and are
charged to the statement of profit or loss as they become payable
in accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of
the MPF Scheme are held separately from those of the Group
in an independently administered fund. The Group’s employer
contributions vest fully with the employees when contributed into
the MPF Scheme. No forfeited contributions may be used by the
employers to reduce the existing level of contributions.

Pursuant to the relevant PRC laws and regulations, each of the PRC
subsidiaries of the Group is required to participate in a retirement
benefit scheme organised by the local municipal government
whereby the Group is required to contribute a certain percentage of
the salaries of its employees to the retirement benefit scheme. The
only obligation of the Group with respect to the retirement benefit
scheme is to pay the ongoing required contributions. Contributions
made to the defined contribution retirement benefit scheme are
charged to profit or loss as incurred.
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24SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction
or production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets that necessarily take
a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use
or sale, are capitalised as part of the cost of those assets. The
capitalisation of such borrowing costs ceases when the assets
are substantially ready for their intended use or sale. Investment
income earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings
pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the
borrowing costs capitalised. All other borrowing costs are expensed
in the period in which they are incurred. Borrowing costs consist of
interest and other costs that an entity incurs in connection with the
borrowing of funds.

Dividends

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they are approved
by the shareholders in a general meeting.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and declared,
because the Company’s memorandum and articles of association
grant the directors the authority to declare interim dividends.
Consequently, interim dividends are recognised immediately as a
liability when they are proposed and declared.

Foreign currencies

The Company’s consolidated financial statements are presented in
RMB because management considers that a substantial majority
of the group companies are in the PRC and the Group primarily
generates and expends cash in RMB. Each entity in the Group
determines its own functional currency and items included in
the financial statements of each entity are measured using that
functional currency. Foreign currency transactions recorded by the
entities in the Group are initially recorded using their respective
functional currency rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
are translated at the functional currency rates of exchange ruling at
the end of the reporting period. Differences arising on settlement or
translation of monetary items are recognised in profit or loss.

HUA YIN INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED # ZEIEE#Z R B R A 7

QAT EETTHEREE (8)

BERA

Wi ERAEAEREE (AR ER
EEBNEIERERRNEEZEE) B
BEGZEERADBFTEBEERAN
—&D o BEEANBAIEESTE RGN
HER  ZFEEXNATBRITEARN -
FEBENBIEREREECERRKRE
PRE B WA BEER L ZEEK
AP - B EMIEERARE L
RIS - EERABENEREREE
ANEEMEEZEMMKAR -

3=\

REB SR BR A & LI AR SR AL B FE
RREE -

T LRKZZEMEIRTHEE - tL)5H
RARB 2 EBBERRAN A TE
ERNBERTHERS - Bt - FHER
Rz LERKREIREE -

s

ARBZFAMBEHRRAARKEZT -
AREEERS  BAMIEEKRER
AAHE - BAKEEE 2 WA KR
XUAREE - ARBASERATT
BETHSA YRR MEERZW
BHKRIBB IAZINEERTE - A%
BETERBLRZINERZ M RAE
ERBRERRZBBITZEERES
AfR - MINEFHEZEBEERAE
REBEEENR ERARZEREE
BhE - AfRESMERKRAMELZ
ZRNIRmRER o



24SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
Foreign currencies (Continued)

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost
in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the
dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at
fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rates at the date when the fair value was measured. The gain or loss
arising on translation of a non-monetary item measured at fair value
is treated in line with the recognition of the gain or loss on change
in fair value of the item (i.e., translation difference on the item whose
fair value gain or loss is recognised in other comprehensive income
or profit or loss is also recognised in other comprehensive income or
profit or loss, respectively).

The functional currencies of certain overseas subsidiaries are
currencies other than RMB. As at the end of the reporting period,
the assets and liabilities of these entities are translated into RMB
at the exchange rates prevailing at the end of the reporting period
and their statements of profit or loss are translated into RMB at the
weighted average exchange rates for the year.

The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the exchange reserve.
On disposal of a foreign operation, the component of other
comprehensive income relating to that particular foreign operation is
recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, the
cash flows of overseas subsidiaries are translated into RMB at the
exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the cash flows. Frequently
recurring cash flows of overseas subsidiaries which arise throughout
the year are translated into RMB at the weighted average exchange
rates for the year.

Segment Reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment item
reported in the consolidated financial statements, are identified
from the financial information provided regularly to the Group’s chief
operating decision maker i.e. the executive directors for the purpose
of allocating resources to, and assessing the performance of, the
Group’s various lines of business and geographical locations.
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24SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
Segment Reporting (Continued)

Individual material operating segments are not aggregated for
financial reporting purposes unless the segments have similar
economic characteristics and are similar in respect of the nature
of products and services, the nature of production processes, the
type or class of customers, the methods used to distribute the
products or provide the services, and the nature of the regulatory
environment. Operating segments which are not individually material
may be aggregated if they share a majority of these criteria.

. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS

AND ESTIMATES
Judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
management has made the following judgements, apart from those
involving estimations, which have the most significant effect on the
amounts recognised in the consolidated financial statements:

Classification of operating lease — Group as lessor

The Group has entered into commercial property leases for
properties in its investment property portfolio. The Group has
determined, based on an evaluation of the terms and conditions of
the arrangements, that it retains all the significant risks and rewards
of ownership of these properties which are leased out as operating
leases.

Identification of leases

At the inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether a
contract is, or contains, a lease based on the requirements of
HKFRS 16 and all the relevant facts and circumstances. In particular,
the Group assesses whether the contract involves the use of an
identified asset by applying the concept of substantive substitution
right. Also, the Group assesses whether the Group or the customer
has the right to direct the use of the identified asset with reference
to determination of which party has the decision-making rights that
are most relevant to changing how and for what purpose the asset
is used. In cases where such decisions are predetermined, the
right to operate the asset or the incorporation of such decisions by
means of designing the asset are considered.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS

AND ESTIMATES (Continued)
Judgements (Continued)

Classification between investment properties and
properties held for sale

The Group develops properties held for sale and properties held to
earn rentals and/or for capital appreciation. Judgement is made by
management on determining whether a property is designated as an
investment property or a property held for sale. The Group considers
its intention for holding the properties at the early development
stage of the related properties. During the course of construction,
the related properties under construction are accounted for as
properties under development included in current assets if the
properties are intended for sale after completion, whereas, the
properties are accounted for as investment properties under
construction included in non-current assets if the properties are
intended to be held to earn rentals and/or for capital appreciation.
Upon completion of the properties, the properties held for sale are
transferred to completed properties held for sale and are stated at
the lower of cost and net realisable value, while the properties held
to earn rentals and/or for capital appreciation are transferred to
completed investment properties and are subject to revaluation at
the end of each reporting period.

Whether the presumption that investment properties
stated at fair value are recovered through sale is rebutted
in determining deferred tax

The Group has investment properties located in the PRC which are
measured at fair value. Investment property is property held to earn
rentals or for capital appreciation or both. In considering whether the
presumption in HKAS 12 Income Taxes that an investment property
measured at fair value will be recovered through sale is rebutted in
determining deferred tax, the Group has developed certain criteria
in making that judgement, such as whether an investment property
is held within a business model whose objective is to consume
substantially all of the economic benefits embodied in the investment
property over time or through sale. The presumption is rebutted
only in the circumstance that there is sufficient evidence such as a
historical transaction, future development plan and management’s
intention to demonstrate that the investment property is held with
the objective to consume substantially all of the economic benefits
over time, rather than through sale. Continuous assessments on the
presumption will be made by management at each reporting date.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS 3. X E&5t ¥ k&5 (&)
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AND ESTIMATES (Continued)
Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources
of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that
have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial
year, are described below.

Net realisable value of properties under development and
completed properties held for sale

The Group’s properties under development and completed
properties held for sale are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value.

The net realisable value of completed properties is determined by
management with reference to the selling prices of properties sold
in the ordinary course of business less selling expenses and the
prevailing market conditions on an individual property basis. The
net realisable value of properties under development is determined
by establishing the estimated selling price of the properties on
(i) an “as-if” completed basis with appropriate deduction on
construction costs, professional fees and interests to be incurred
from the valuation date to completion as well as the estimated costs
necessary to make the sale or (i) a direct comparison approach by
making reference to comparable land transactions as available in the
market. In estimating the total budgeted costs, management makes
reference to information such as (i) current offers from contractors
and suppliers; (i) recent offer agreed with contractors and suppliers;
and (i) professional estimation on construction and material costs.
Where the expectation is different from the original estimate, the
carrying value and provision for properties in the period in which the
estimate is changed will be adjusted accordingly.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS

AND ESTIMATES (Continued)
Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)
Fair value of investment properties

The investment properties of the Group are measured at fair
value, which were valued based on the appraised market
value by an independent professional valuer. The fair value of
completed investment properties was arrived at by considering the
capitalised income to be derived from the existing tenancies and
the reversionary potential of the properties or, where appropriate,
by reference to market evidence of transaction prices for similar
properties in the surrounding areas. The fair values of investment
properties under development are determined by establishing the
market values of the properties on an “as-if” completed basis with
appropriate deduction on construction costs, professional fees
and interests to be incurred from the valuation date to completion
as well as a reasonable margin. The determination of the fair
value for completed investment properties requires the Group to
estimate reversionary potential of the properties while for investment
properties under development, estimates on costs to be incurred
and future margin are required in the valuation.

The carrying amount of investment properties as at 31 March 2023
was RMB550,400,000 (2022: RMB615,800,000). Further details,
including the key assumptions used for fair value measurement, are
stated in note 14 to the consolidated financial statements.

PRC Land Appreciation Tax (“LAT”)

LAT in the PRC is levied at progressive rates ranging from 30% to
60% on the appreciation of land value, being the proceeds from the
sales of the properties less deductible expenditures including land
cost, borrowing cost, other property development expenditures.

When calculating the LAT, the Group needs to estimate the
deductible expenditures and makes judgement on the relevant tax
rate on an individual property basis under the relevant applicable
tax laws and regulations. Given the uncertainties of the calculation
basis of LAT to be interpreted by the local tax bureau, the actual
outcomes may be higher or lower than that estimated at the end of
the reporting period. Where the final tax outcome of these matters
is different from the amounts that were initially recorded, such
differences will impact the LAT expense and LAT provision in the
period in which the differences are realised.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS 3. X E&5t ¥ k&5 (&)

154

AND ESTIMATES (Continued)
Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)
Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses to the
extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against
which the losses can be utilised. Significant management judgement
is required to determine the amount of deferred tax assets that
can be recognised, based upon the likely timing and level of
future taxable profits together with future tax planning strategies.
The amount of unrecognised tax losses at 31 March 2023 was
RMB649,161,000 (2022: RMB601,677,000). Further details are
contained in note 16 to the consolidated financial statements.

Loss allowance for ECL

The Group’s management estimates the loss allowance for trade
and other receivables by using various inputs and assumptions
including risk of a default and expected loss rate. The estimation
involves high degree of uncertainty which is based on the Group’s
historical information, existing market conditions as well as forward-
looking estimates at the end of each reporting period. Where the
expectation is different from the original estimate, such difference will
impact the carrying amount of trade and other receivables. Details
of the key assumption and inputs used in estimating ECL are set out
in note 34 to the consolidated financial statements.

Allocation of construction cost on properties under
development

When developing properties, the Group typically divides the
development projects into phases. Costs directly related to the
development of a phase are recorded as the cost of such phase.
Costs that are common to several phases are allocated to each
phase based on the saleable floor area of each phase as a
percentage of the total saleable floor area of the entire project.
The cost of the unit sold is determined by the floor area in square
metres sold multiplied by the average cost per square metre of that
particular phase of the project.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS

AND ESTIMATES (Continued)
Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)
Impairment of non-financial assets

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of impairment
for all non-financial assets at the end of each reporting period.
Other non-financial assets are tested for impairment when there
are indicators that the carrying amounts may not be recoverable.
An impairment exists when the carrying value of an asset or a
cash-generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the
higher of its fair value less costs of disposal and its value in use.
The calculation of the fair value less costs of disposal is based
on available data from binding sales transactions in an arm'’s
length transaction of similar assets or observable market prices
less incremental costs for disposing of the asset. When value in
use calculations are undertaken, management must estimate the
expected future cash flows from the asset or cash-generating unit
and choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present
value of those cash flows.

Fair value of derivative financial instruments

Where the fair value of derivative financial instruments recorded in
the consolidated statement of financial position cannot be derived
from active markets, they are determined using the valuation
technique of the binomial price model. The inputs to these models
are taken from observable markets where possible, but where this
is not feasible, a degree of judgement is required in establishing
fair values. The judgements include considerations of inputs such
as liquidity risk, credit risk and volatility. Changes in assumptions
about these factors could affect the reported fair value of financial
instruments.

Discount rates for calculating lease liabilities — as lessee

The Group uses the lessee’s incremental borrowing rates to discount
future lease payments since interest rates implicit in the leases are
not readily determinable. In determining the discounts rates for
its leases, the Group refers to a rate that is readily observable as
the starting point and then applies judgement and adjusts such
observable rate to determine the incremental borrowing rate.
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 #HEZE—ZT=-—=F=A=+—HIFE

4, BEHEER

AEEEDBEREEY  AXRBGRE

4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group manages its businesses by divisions, which are

organised by a mixture of both business lines and geography. In
a manner consistent with the way in which information is reported
internally to the Group’s executive directors for the purposes of

Mol 2 A AALRK o AN SR B DA SRR £ (B
TEEARERD BRI 2 AEE
BEER—HZ2HA - 25T ER

WP THA2WMO AW EAEOF
presented the following two reportable segments. No operating KD EBRTARRK

resource allocation and performance assessment, the Group has

segments have been aggregated to form the following reportable
segments.
Nature of business activities

Operating segments Place of operation

REDE E Ak EEMWE
Property development Property development and provision of The PRC

management service to property projects H

YEBR MY R B IR RS

and management

MERERNER

Property investment Property holding for long term investment The PRC

LES -} and leasing purposes H
REMEERREREERS

The Group’s management monitors the results of the Group’s REBEREEED B LERASEEL

operating segments separately for the purpose of making decisions BOEEE LB RS I RFRIRFT

performance is evaluated based on reportable segment profit/loss,
which is a measure of adjusted profit/loss before tax. The adjusted AEF B8 o BRERTT R BURA « BbE
profit/loss before tax is measured consistently with the Group’s A - REBERT A AR BERE

about resource allocation and performance assessment. Segment EAEELRTE - DERRBIETZ®
7

profit/loss before tax except that bank interest income, finance
costs, fair value gains/losses from the Group’s financial instruments,
gain on disposal of subsidiaries as well as head office and corporate
expenses are excluded from such measurement.

Segment assets exclude deferred tax assets, prepaid income tax,
derivative financial instruments and other unallocated head office
and corporate assets as these assets are managed on a group
basis.

Segment liabilities exclude deferred tax liabilities, income tax
payable, the liability component of the Convertible Bonds and other
unallocated head office and corporate liabilities as these liabilities are
managed on a group basis.

Intersegment sales and transfers are transacted with reference to
the selling prices used for sales made to third parties at the then
prevailing market prices.
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4. RETHEHR (&)

(Continued)
Year ended 31 March 2023 BE-ZE-_=F=A=1+—HLFE
Property
development and
management Property
NELR investment Total
REE NERE Foh
RMB' 000 RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000
ARBTR ARETR AR®TR
Segment revenue panil6e
Sales to external customers IMRBEE 382,004 12,103 394,107
Segment results PEEE 569,682 (58,556) 511,126
Bank interest income SRITRBIA 1
Finance costs BEKA (16,696)
Change in fair valug of derivative TEeRIAL
financial instruments ANEEE (8,208)
Unallocated head office expenses FOBBHHEY (23,988)
Profit before tax FRBEATR 462,235
Income tax RS (96,226)
Profit for the year FREF 366,009
Segment assets: APHEE
Reportable segment assets AERHHEAE 1,651,149 551,322 2,202,471
Deferred tax assets EREREEE 10,124
Prepaid income tax BHETEH 8,025
Derivative financial instruments fTEeRTIA 2,310
Unallocated assets AOBEE 62,791
Total assets BEHAE 2,285,721
Segment liabilities FHEE
Reportable segment liabilties AEHH AR 1,480,042 49,204 1,529,336
Deferred tax liabilities EERRAE 131,498
Income tax payable R FEH 48,802
Liability component of the TAREFEESD
Convertible Bonds 90,052
Unallocated liabiliies KokaE 88,421
Total liabilities afEmE 1,888,109
Other segment information HtepHEs
Capital expenditure™ BT 240 297 537
Change in fair value BREMENAABEE
of investment properties - 66,293 66,293
Depreciation™ wE~ 581 105 686
Impairment on trade and other receivables JEULE 587K 4 B RE 8,962 - 8,962
Reversal of write-down of properties under BEIZERMEMAZ A EHFE
development to net realisable value (545,442) - (545,442)
Write-down of completed properties BHEREEERDE
held for sale to net realisable value WRETERFE 8,135 - 8,135
* During the year, the head office did not incur any capital expenditure * FA RHTEEEENERARAZ(ZE
(2022: nil) which represents additions to non-current assets. TIF E)  EBRABERDEE °
**Included in unallocated head office expenses is depreciation of * ROEBRTFAIBRENEARR
RMB2,320,000 (2022: RMB1,709,000). 2320000t ( —BE=-—F: AR¥

1,709,0007T) °
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HUA YIN INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED # ZEIEE#Z R B R A 7

For the year ended 31 March 2023 BlZ—ZE-=F=A=+—HILFE
4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4. BREFHER (F)
(Continued)
Year ended 31 March 2022 BE-ZE-_—F=ZA=+—HLFE
Property
development and
management Property
MELR investment Total
REE NERE @5t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARMFR ARMFR ARBFT
Segment revenue panile
Sales to external customers IMRBE 98,051 14,052 112,103
Segment results PBEE 72,022 (92,770) (20,748)
Bank interest income BATRIEHA 1
Finance costs BERA (62,458)
Change in fair value of derivative i E%%MEZ

financial instruments DREEZY (44,879)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries ﬁ‘ﬂﬁ% Al WE 64,348 = 64,348
Unallocated head office expenses KOBBHESY (15,438)
Loss before tax BREiRIEE (79,174)
Income tax FTi5H: 22214
Loss for the year ERER (56,960)
Segment assets: ﬁ"ﬁﬁﬁ
Reportable segment assets ZRHHEE 1,349,660 615,808 1,965,468
Deferred tax assets LLWE BE 17,363
Prepaid income tax ERMEH 9,257
Derivative financial instruments fTEEBMIA 9,709
Unallocated assets AOBREE 70,197
Total assets BEESE 2,071,994
Segment liabilities ﬁ"ﬁﬁfi
Reportable segment liabilties ERHHAE 1,710,392 55,633 1,766,025
Deferred tax liabilities LURI,EEL 52,042
Income tax payable ERFEH 42,753
Liability component of the TTﬁﬂxF%ﬁ )

Convertible Bonds 79,267
Unallocated liabilities ApEEE 87,366
Total liabilities =tk 2,027,453
Other segment information Htep &R
Capital expenditure™ BT 24 S 24
Change in fair value BRENENAABEED

of investment properties - 81,714 81,714
Depreciation™ HE 57 - 57
Impairment on trade and other receivables FEUXE 58 7K K A FE UL S AR 5,036 1,503 6,539
Reversal of write-down of properties under B3 E R MR Z Al £ FE

development to net realisable value (20,733) - (20,733)
Write-down of completed properties BHEREEERIE

held for sale to net realisable value WRZTERFE 792 = 792



4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4. BESITER (E)
(Continued)
Geographical information wEER
(a) Revenue from external customers (a) IPREERE W2
2023 2022
—EB-=HF —E-HF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARETTT
The PRC H 394,107 112,103

The revenue information above is based on the locations of the

EX 2 WamERTEREPREWS

customers. e
(b) Non-current assets (b) EREBEE

2023 2022
—E-=F —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETIT
The PRC s 553,014 616,062
Hong Kong B8 2,134 331
555,148 616,393

The non-current asset information above is based on the
locations of the assets and excludes the Group’s deferred tax
assets.

Information about major customers

There was no sale to a single customer which accounted for over
10% or more of the Group’s revenue for the years ended 31 March
2023 and 2022.

EXZ RS EEEREREEM
EFH - TEEAKEZRLEREA

BFRTEFFZEHR
VEBE-—FFZHEGRAKRERE"

T —FR-_F-__HF=A=+—HL
FEWESEBIBE10% A L o
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 #HEZE—ZT=-—=F=A=+—HIFE

5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS

5. W -

HW A Rk

Revenue mainly represents income from the sale of properties,
rental income and property management service income.

An analysis of revenue, other income and gains from continuing
operations is presented below:

Revenue

Wat F BIRHEMRRA - BEWAR
MEEZRBEA °

FEREE 2 W - Al A R EE
DI -

Year ended 31 March 2023
HE-E_=F=fF=1-HIEE

Property
development Property
and management investment Total
NERRRER NERE @t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET R ARET R AR®TR
Revenue from contracts with BERUBREEAE155%
customers within HKFRS 15: EET2RFENKE:

Sale of properties HEME 349,158 - 349,158
Property management senvice income  #1E£EBRBUA 32,846 - 32,846
382,004 - 382,004

Revenue from other sources: Hitg &SRR -
Rental income WA - 12,103 12,103
382,004 12,103 394,107

Representing geographical markets of: TR |
The PRC H 382,004 12,103 394,107
382,004 12,103 394,107

Timing of revenue recognition e Sl
- At a point in time - EE AR 349,158 - 349,158
- Over time - A — B 32,846 12,103 44,949
382,004 12,103 394,107
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5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 5. Wz - HWA R K (&)
(Continued)

Revenue (Continued) Wk (48)

Year ended 31 March 2022
Hz-_ZT-__F-A=t+-HIFE

Property
development Property
and management investment Total
NEERREE MERE @it
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT ARETT ARBTT
Revenue from contracts with ERUBRERAE 155
customers within HKFRS 15: EETZEFAHNE
Sale of properties HENE 65,040 = 65,040
Property management service income  MIEEERIBEUA 33,011 - 33,011
98,051 - 98,051
Revenue from other sources: HtgERR -
Rental income HEHA - 14,052 14,052
98,051 14,062 112,103
Representing geographical markets of: ~ FrigitiE ™5 :
The PRC H 98,061 14,062 112,103
98,051 14,062 112,103
Timing of revenue recognition YRR 2 B
- At apoint in time - EXE—ERES 65,040 - 65,040
- Over time - SR AR 33,011 14,052 47,083
98,061 14,062 112,103
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For the year ended 31 March 2023

EHzm—F— —4

B(lE_—_<—

F=A=+T—HLLFE

5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS

5. Ws - HW AR W (&)

(Continued)
Other income and gains Hb AR Wz
2023 2022
—EBE_=H T F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
FaE ARET T ARETTT
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries ~ HEHBAE z WS - 64,348
Gain on revaluation upon transfer R & ¥ EEHE
of investment properties 2 EAE - 48,181
Reversal of write-down of B ORI 2 MR
properties under development 17 545,442 20,733
Bank interest income ERITHBHA 1 1
Exchange gain R 3,604 -
Sundry income FEIEWA 1,463 1,347
Total other income and gains E A K a5 4B 7R 550,510 134,610

6. PROFIT (LOSS) BEFORE TAX

The Group’s profit (loss) before tax is arrived at after charging/

(crediting):

6. FRBATER (B518)

ek (GEA) THIEB R ASE 2B
PiAnE A (E5R) -

2023 2022
—E=-= —E- 4
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARBTIT
Cost of properties sold EHEEMERR 308,476* 48,115
Cost of services RRES AN 26,042 26,154
Cost of rental HEKAR 3,488 6,011
Depreciation e
— property, plant and equipment  — #% « 28 KR 224 85
— right-of-use assets - EREEE 2,782 1,681
Staff costs (including directors’ BTHRA(BREESHS)
emoluments):
Salaries, wages and other benefits & + BN & E b (2R 19,162 20,787
Contribution to defined AEBRNEKET B 2 3k
contribution retirement plans 4,270 4,350
Total staff costs BETHREBH 23,432 27,137
Less: Amount capitalised into W BRNMEEEBYYE IR
properties under
development (1,278) (1,805)
22,154 25,332

162

HUA YIN INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED 2 & BB 4% R A R A 7]




6. PROFIT (LOSS) BEFORE TAX (Continued) 6. BRBATR A (B518) (&)

The Group’s profit (loss) before tax is arrived at after charging/ IR (Bt A) THIE B B A S ERRT
(crediting) (Continued): Aa A (EE) (4&)
2023 2022
—E-=F —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%T R AREEFTT
Auditor’s remuneration: ZEMB £ -
Audit services ZBURTS 950 822
Other services EAth AR 369 329
Operating lease charges in respect EEIFAEE TR AEME
of office premises and other MEMHEEEE Y
leased assets under short term ERERY
leases 1,512 2,745

Direct operating expenses arising  REAEAHS WAL WE

from investment properties that CHEBELERY

generated rental income 76 110
Direct operating expenses arising  REZBEAHESRAREME

from investment properties that CHEBELERY

did not generate rental income 17 27
Provision for (reversal of) BB () -
impairment on:
— Trade receivables - JEIRE Z IR 8,962** (116)*
— Other receivables - Efb N FRIA - 6,655**
Reversal of write-down of BEIZERPYERBE
properties under development Al IRRE
to net realisable value (545,442)*** (20,733)**
Write-down of completed H‘%ﬁf’ﬁ & B R Y MR
properties held for sale to net AR A
realisable value 8,135* 792*
The Group’s profit (loss) before tax is arrived at after charging/ &k (GEA) THEB R ASERZ KR
(crediting) (Continued): FiADEA (EE) (&) -
* Included in cost of properties sold was the write-down of completed L RABECZE—=F=A=t+—HLFE
properties held for sale to net realisable value of RMB8,135,000 (2022: Z EHEMERR AR ERFELEBETEK
RMB792,000) for the year ended 31 March 2023. W) 3 MOR = AT 23R FE A R 58,135,000

TT(ZE==F : AR¥792,0007T) °

*k

These items are included in other expenses in the consolidated » BHREBFAGABERZEMAIT -
statement of profit or loss.

This item is included in other income and gains in the consolidated = HEEBF GRS ERR 2 EARA KK
statement of profit or loss. = °

Annual Report 2022/23 4 163



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e ISR AR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2023 #HEZE—ZT=-—=F=A=+—HIFE
7. FINANCE COSTS 7. BB KA
2023 2022
—E-=F —E-F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AREFIT
Interest on bank and IRITRHAMEEFR S
other borrowings™* 19,861 66,333
Interest on Convertible Bonds ATRESFE 6,130 3,427
Interest on lease liabilities HEBEFS 1,715 4,230
Interest on loans from — AR E SRR
a controlling shareholder 475 -
28,181 73,990
Less: Interest capitalised into B BRAYEZERNMEF B
properties under
development* (11,485) (11,532)
Total finance costs R E KA AR 16,696 62,458

*

The borrowing costs have been capitalised at a rate of 7.3-7.35% per
annum (2022: 7.3% per annum).

**Included in the items was the reversal of over-provision of interest on the
bank and other borrowings in previous years by RMB43,855,000 (2022:
RMB35,980,000).

* RERERACRENKRT3-7.35% (=
T _F  FRNERTI%)EARE -

= FABEAREBEFERITREMEER
BB R B e AR 43,855,000 7T (=
T4 ARK35,980,0007T) °

8. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION 8. EEM <
Directors’ remuneration for the year, disclosed pursuant to the RIE ETARBRBEERAEH 2 HER
Listing Rules and the disclosure requirements of Hong Kong FEZRNEEEEMELOT -
Companies Ordinance is as follows:
2023 2022
—EB-=F T F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET ARETIT
Fees we 1,055 747
Other emoluments: HEME :
Salaries, allowances and e  FUMREYE
benefits in kind 3,550 3,485
Pension scheme contributions RIS ET B 85 78
3,635 3,563
4,690 4,310
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8. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (Continued) 8. EEM< (&)

The remuneration of each of the directors for the years ended 31 HE_ZT_="FM_FT__F=A
March 2023 and 2022 is set out below: =t—HIEFERESHEWT :
Salaries, Equity-
allowances, settled share Pension
and benefits option scheme
in kind Discretionary expense contributions
Fees iie 28 bonuses NERLEE e Total
ik RENRIE Misrd BRERS HE (25 szt
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

KRBT KRBT ARETR ARETR AREFR KRBT

2023 ZECzF
Executive directors: e
Oui Xintong (‘Ms. Cu’) &% ([ExL]) - 2,400 - - 16 2,416
Li dunje Sk - 601 - - - 601
Xu Yingchuan Gl - 21 - - - 21
Cong Pefeng Al - 268 - - 69 337
- 3,550 - - 85 3,635
Non-excutive drectors: ~ FEB{TES :
Cui Mindong ERR 211 - - - - 21
Sui Guangyi FE: 211 - - - - 211
422 - - - - 422
Independent non-executive  BUFER{TEES -
directors:
Teang Hung Kel i S 211 - - - - 21
Wang Xiaochu B 211 - - - - 211
Wang Xueguang IE% 211 - - - - 211
633 - - - - 633
1,055 3,550 - - 85 4,690
There was no arrangement under which a director waived or RAFE - WEREHESBERELR
agreed to waive any remuneration during the year. In addition, ERERAWE 2 ZHE o IbHN - RNEHE
no remuneration was paid by the Group to the directors as an WERAZEELZNEMMNE  AEABHE
inducement to join, or upon joining the Group, or as a compensation IS NEAREE R 2 RE) BB E
for loss of office (2022: nil). TEF | o
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8. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (Continued)

Notes to the Cor]solidated Financial Statements
B FE R IR I RE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 HZ_—Z—

8.

The remuneration of each of the directors for the years ended 31
March 2023 and 2022 is set out below: (Continued)

EEME (F)

HE_ZT-_=ZFM
=t+—HILFESEEMeMT : ()

— = — —

=

F=H

Salaries, Equity-
allowances, Settled share Pension
and henefis option scheme
inkind Discretionary expense contributions
Fees 263 bonuses NEREE il Total
g REWHIE Bigs RRERX BEES #it
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARBTTI ARBTTL ARETT ARETT
2022 —EoCF
Executive directors; #1E%:
CuiXintong ('Ms. Cu)  #HE(#xL)) = 2306 = = 15 2321
Li Junjie X - 600 - - - 600
Xu Yingchuan Gl - 29 - - - 206
Cong Pefleng e - 283 - - 63 346
- 3,485 - - 8 3,563
Non-executive drectors: &8 % :
Qui Mindong ® ERRY 70 - - - - 70
Sui Guangyi # &z 70 - - - - 70
140 = = = = 140
Independent non-execuve B FEH{TES -
directors:
Tsang Hung Kel iy 202 - - - - 202
Zhu Zuoan ® KD 133 - - - - 133
Wang Xiaochu B 202 - - - - 202
Wang Xueguang IEHH 70 - - - - 70
607 - - - - 607
47 3,485 = = 78 4310

(@) Appointed on 26 November 2021.

(b) Resigned on 26 November 2021.

HUA YIN INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED 2 & BB 4% R A R A 7]
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9. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

The five highest paid employees during the year included two
directors (2022: two directors), details of whose remuneration are
set out in note 8 above. Details of the remuneration for the year of
the remaining three (2022: three) highest paid employees who are
not a director of the Company are as follows:

9. AR EREHESR

RAFE AR FHEEREMNEE
BF(CE_—F WMBRER) HEZM
TRBEN EXMES  HSf=%(=F
CoF ZR)ARARAERZHESH
BERAFEEZMEFHBLT

2023 2022
—E-=F —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T AREFIT

Salaries, allowances and benefits &% - 2 REYHR
in kind 2,711 2,600
Discretionary bonuses EIBIEAL 84 81
Pension scheme contributions RIREFTEIMER 47 45
2,842 2,726

There is no arrangement under which the five highest paid
individuals waived or agreed to waive any remuneration during the
year. In addition, no emolument was paid by the Group to the five
highest paid individuals as an inducement to join or upon joining the
Group or as compensation for loss of office (2022: nil).

The number of non-director highest paid employees whose
remuneration fell within the following bands is as follows:

FR AAEESFEBELET MR
FIZFM BTS2 28 - BHh» K&
%] 3 8% [B) 7o % A = R B S A f) B
T WMERBAEMBESMERAEER L
RESHBHE (T F  |) -

BEN T TIEEz o HEEEREE
AT

Number of employees

EE A
2023 2022
—E_=F T F
Nil to HK$1,000,000 Z % 1,000,00078 7T
(equivalent to Nil to RMB895,000) (HHERZE AR 895,0007T) 2 2
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 772 2,000,000 7T
(equivalent to RMB1,342,001 to ~ (BER AR 1,342,001 &
RMB1,789,000) AR¥1,789,0007T) 1 1
3 3
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e SRR M

For the year ended 31 March 2023 #HEZE—ZT=-—=F=A=+—HIFE

10.INCOME TAX 10. FR &8¢

PRC Corporate Income Tax (“CIT”) has been provided at the
applicable income tax rate on the assessable profits in accordance
with the relevant tax laws applicable to the entities in the PRC. The
statutory CIT tax rate in the PRC is 25% (2022: 25%).

No Hong Kong profits tax has been provided for the years ended
31 March 2023 and 2022 as the Group incurred a loss for taxation
purpose.

The Group’s subsidiaries are not subject to any income tax in
Bermuda, BVI and Samoa pursuant to the respective rules and
regulations.

Land Appreciation Tax (“LAT”) in the PRC is levied at progressive
rates ranging from 30% to 60% on the appreciation of land
value, being the proceeds from sale of properties less deductible
expenditures including land costs, borrowing costs and other
property development expenditures. The Group has estimated,
made and included in taxation a provision for LAT according
to the requirements set forth in the relevant PRC tax laws and
regulations. Prior to the actual cash settlement of the LAT liabilities,
the LAT liabilities are subject to the final review/approval by the tax
authorities.

The estimated withholding tax effects on the distribution of the
unremitted retained earnings of the PRC subsidiaries amounted
to approximately RMB17,883,000 (2022: RMB24,775,000). In the
opinion of the directors, these retained earnings, at the present
time, are required for financing the continuing operations of the PRC
subsidiaries and no distribution would be made in the foreseeable
future. Accordingly, no provisions for deferred taxation have been
made in this respect.

PEIERSH ([REMER]) ERE
PEEREAZEEREAEERE
AR ER ST RTIREE - PR
EMBHAEREAR2% (T4
25%) °

MR AEBREBEE T -_=%=A
=+—BR-ZZT-__F=ZA=+—HL
FEEAREER WU EREZFE
BTSSR -

REERE RBERARBRENEEDS
ZHEBRU LA - NEEME AR H
AR TS -

o B - b SR (B A ([ 3 3R (E A |) R 3
EETE (AN E YRR E AT FUR R
(BREIHRAE - FERAREMYER
HS) R ZPISFIR) T F 30% E 60%
M RERXFE - ARESRIFERBET
BN BARAR Z ME M REtiR it
IBEVEE - WETATRE - RERAR
SENTHBRERBEZA - LHEE
HEEREEATRER M -

DEF BB ARKREL 2 REAF 2
HErRIIR 24 5 AR 17,883,000
T(ZZTZ—F: AR ®24,775,000
L) BEERAE BRIALZEREBA
FEBESTEMNBARZFESRES
© 0 WA R RIEDBE o F b0 &
BLUL VB BRI FR IR -

2023 2022
—E-=F —E_F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AREFTT
Current tax: BIAEARRIE -
PRC CIT PR EFTISH 5,376 974
PRC CIT over-provided in RBEFEBREEE
previous years B BT 2 PTISE - (7,094)
PRC LAT A B+ IR (AT 4,389 14,190
PRC LAT over-provided in RiBA FEBER RS
previous years HYFP B B (E R (234) (19,208)
9,531 (11,133)
Deferred tax EETIE 86,695 (11,081)
Total charge (credit) S () B 58 96,226 (22,214)

HUA YIN INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED # ZEIEE#Z R B R A 7




10.INCOME TAX (Continued) 10. PS8t (4)

A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to profit (loss) before UTAFEARRG RERZHWE QR
tax at the statutory rates for the jurisdictions in which the Company AMAERNEEE R 2AER R EMm
and the majority of its subsidiaries are domiciled to the tax expense HARBRBEDEF (BE) < HIEM S E
at the effective tax rates, and a reconciliation of the applicable rates RREBMUERFTE 2MIBERZ 2 EER

(i.e., the statutory tax rates) to the effective tax rates, are as follows: J«A RERERBE(BUEER X ) B

BRRETE 2 HIBERS 2 B

2023 2022
—BC-=E —TC-CF
RMB’000 % RMB’000 %
ARETT % ARETFT %
Profit (loss) before tax BRRADEH (B18) 462,235 (79,174)
Tax at the statutory tax rate of 25%  IRATEFE 25% 317 115,559 25 (19,794) 25
Expenses not deductible for tax ~ RA[40FEI 6,153 1 11,888 (15)
Income not subject to tax BARTHA (42,310) ) (21,378) 27
Effect on overseas tax rate differences [BIMiRZE 7 &% 2,472 - 5,371 (7
LAT deductible for APELEMER
PRC CIT purposes AR ER (1,007) = (3,547) 4
LAT THIEER 4,389 1 14,190 (18)
Overprovision in previous years BEFERBRE (234) - (26,297) 33
Tax losses not recognised RAEAREEE 13,084 3 17,518 (22)
Utilisation of previously unrecognised {f F&# K#ER 2
tax losses HEEE (1,790) - (535) 1
Reversal of previously recognised B EIEAIFER 2
deferred tax assets ERRIBEE - - 370 -
Tax charge (credit) at the Group's ~ RAEE B =
effective rate FEZBE
X (%) 96,226 21 (22,214) 28
11.DIVIDENDS 1.RE
The Directors do not recommend the payment of any dividend for EETEBREBEEE-_S-_=F=H1
the year ended 31 March 2023 (2022: Nil). =t HLEFEZAARE(ZE==
Fom)e
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12.EARNINGS (LOSS) PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic loss per share amounts is based
on the earnings (loss) for the year attributable to owners of the
parent, and the weighted average of 7,084,472,000 shares (2022:
6,764,286,000 shares) in issue during the year.

The calculation of the diluted earnings (loss) per share amounts is
based on the earnings (loss) for the year attributable to owners of
the parent. The weighted average number of ordinary shares used
in the calculation is the number of ordinary shares in issue during
the year, as used in the basic earnings (loss) per share calculation,
and the weighted average number of ordinary shares assumed
to have been issued at no consideration on the deemed exercise
or conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary shares into ordinary
shares.

The calculations of basic and diluted earnings (loss) per share are
based on:

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e SRR M

For the year ended 31 March 2023 #HEZE—ZT=-—=F=A=+—HIFE

12.8KREF (FE)

BREANBEIBRBEIARESE AEN
FREF (BB RFREBETIRMD N
159 #7,084,472,000 %5 ( — T = — 4 :
6,764,286,000 J%) 5t & °

F#sEN (BR) DRESRREE
ANEEFREN(BR)FHE - HEMA
ZEBBMEFHB AT ESRELRR
M(EE) AR FAEBITEBEREE
AEBERER/ITEIERAE AEEE

TARSEBRSEERTTZERBK
pillt: B2

BRERRESRN (BER) ZTELE
i

2023 2022
—E-=F —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARETTT
Profit (loss) A (E58)
Profit (loss) attributable to owners &2 Bl# A A FE(E ST (BE)
of the parent 366,009 (56,960)
Effect of interest on the liability FEHARREFEaBER S 2 FE
component of the Convertible
Bonds 6,130 3,427
Effect of fair value loss on ARBEEEYTBRRESTESS
the derivative component k=%
of the Convertible Bonds 8,208 44,879
Adjusted profit (loss) attributable A FIEEAE AEEEAEZF (E18)
to owners of the parent 380,347 (8,654)

HUA YIN INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED # ZEIEE#Z R B R A 7




12.EARNINGS (LOSS) PER SHARE (Continued)

The calculations of basic and diluted earnings (loss) per share are
based on: (Continued)

12.8KREF (&FE) (&)

BRERLEERN (BIE) 27 H &
n: (&)

Number of shares

8k ¢E]
2023 2022
—E_=F —E-—F
’000 000
T T
Shares 4]
Weighted average number of ordinary & & SR EA & F| (E18) FTAER
shares in issue during the year BT T BRI I
used in the basic profit (loss)
per share calculation 7,084,472 6,764,286
Effect of dilution — weighted average #H®S5/ 2 — T@mALINAEF I
number of ordinary shares:
Convertible preference shares AT RRAE S I 119,167 439,353@
Convertible Bonds AR 5 264,299® 110,6520
Share options B - —©
Weighted average number of LB INAEF I8 (H8)
ordinary shares (diluted) 7,467,938 7,314,291

(@ The diluted earnings per share amount decreased when taking
into account of the convertible preference shares, which had
dilutive effect on the basic earnings per share amount for the
year ended 31 March 2023. For the year ended 31 March 2022,
the convertible preference shares had an anti-dilutive effect
on basic loss per share amount and no consideration in the
calculation of the diluted loss per share.

(a) BEEFRNSRNGT R AT RARET
BEATEMRL  HRBE_-F
TEF=A=T-RIEFEZERE
rBNCHEAGHETE -HE_T
TCF=ZA=T—RHILFE - w8k
BERHEREAERESRAG RE
BEE  AWRBERATESRE
SBEEA
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 #HEZE—ZT=-—=F=A=+—HIFE

12.EARNINGS (LOSS) PER SHARE (Continued)

(b) The diluted earnings per share amount increased when taking

(d

into account of the convertible bonds, which had anti-dilutive
effect on the basic earnings per share amount for the year
ended 31 March 2023. For the year ended 31 March 2022, the
convertible bonds had an anti-dilutive effect on basic loss per
share amount. No consideration on the calculation of the diluted
loss per share for both years.

Because the exercise price of the share options were out of the
money compared to the average stock prices of the Company
during the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022, the share
options had an anti-dilutive effect on the basic earnings (loss)
per share amount for the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022.

The calculation of the diluted earnings per share amount was
based on the adjusted profit attributable to the owners of the
parent of RMB366,009,000 and the adjusted weighted average
number of 7,203,639,000 shares in issue during the year ended
31 March 20283 (year ended 31 March 2022: adjusted loss
attributable to owners of the parent of RMB56,960,000 and
adjusted weighted average number of 6,764,286,000 shares).

HUA YIN INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED # ZEIEE#Z R B R A 7

12.8KRER (&8) (&)
(b) SRIHFRNSER R AT RREH

=

BRATAEMLEN  HREE—F—=
F_AZT-BUFEZERELRR
NMNeRAEREEVE HE_ZT
T THF=ZA=1+—HILFE AR
EFHERENBRCRAARETE
TE - RUIEMFIRBEEREAES
PEERRA -

BERBEREC TEENEABE T
TEFRIE - F=A=+—HIt
FREARQTZFIRE - HWILER
BHBE T =FR-FF=
A=1+—HLEFESRERBH (&
B)eBAAREEYE -

ERESARMNSBNHERLAE
BRAREBAEBMLHREMNARKE
366,009,000 LA KB EZT==F
ZA=+—BIEFELREERITR
19 hn4E 1980 7,203,639,000 i 51 &
(BE-Z-_—F=RA=1+—HIt&E
B SRARGNRER ARLEEBA
X % 56,960,000 7T J2 4% 58 2 I 7 hn
1 F19816,764,286,000 %) °



13.PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

13.M3% - WEERRE

Furniture
and fixtures
and office
equipment Leasehold Motor
HE #£B improvements vehicles Total
R ARE HE#E AE @t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARET R ARETR AR¥TR
2023 —g-=
At 1 April 2022: A—E-—
mA—A
Cost A 4,364 7,531 273 12,168
Accumulated depreciation 2iE (4,103) (7,531) (273) (11,907)
Net carrying amount EETE 261 - - 261
At 1 April 2022, net carrying i S—
amount mA—8
FRTE 261 - - 261
Additions NE 241 296 - 537
Depreciation il (114) (110) - (224)
At 31 March 2023, net carrying R-B-=%
amount =A=t-8"
ERFE 388 186 - 574
At 31 March 2023: RZBZ=F
=A=1+-AR:
Cost A 4,722 7,887 273 12,882
Accumulated depreciation ZEHMER
and impairment loss REESE (4,334) (7,701) (273) (12,308)
Net carrying amount ERFE 388 186 - 574
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13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
B FE R IR I RE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 HZEZZT==F=A=+—HIFE

13.45 - B RRE (&)

Furniture
and fixtures
and office
equipment Leasehold Motor
HE - EE improvements vehicles Total
RIFRRE HERE e a5t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTL NS ARETT ARBTTL
2022 S
At 1 April 2021: i S
mA—H:
Cost AR 12,472 7,870 1,759 22,101
Accumulated depreciation ZEHE (12,150) (7,870) (1,759) (21,779)
Net carrying amount ERTE 322 - - 322
At 1 April 2021, net carrying R-Z-—%
amount mA—A"
REFE 322 - - 322
Additions NE 24 - - 24
Depreciation e (85) = = 85)
At 31 March 2022, net carrying i S—
amount SHET—E .
REFE 261 - - 261
At 31 March 2022: it 2
ZR=1+-8:
Cost R 4,364 7,531 273 12,168
Accumulated depreciation ZEHER
and impairment loss HEER 4,109) (7,531) 273 (11,907)
Net carrying amount ERFE 261 - - 261
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14.INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

141 &Y%

2023 2022
—E-=F —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%T R ARETFTT
At the beginning of the M2 FRET)
reporting period 615,800 547,100
Transfer from right-of-use assets ~ ER B AEEE 893 10,714
Transfer from completed properties 2% B 5 EHE B BRI
held for sale - 139,700
Net loss on fair DABERARFEBE
value adjustment (66,293) (81,714)
At the end of the INERTEERN
reporting period 550,400 615,800

At 31 March 2023 and 2022, the Group’s investment properties
included certain units of a shopping mall in Baishan City, Jilin
Province. These investment properties were stated at fair value
and were valued by Colliers Appraisal and Advisory Services
Company Limited as at 31 March 2023 (2022: Savills Valuation
and Professional Services Limited/Savills Real Estate Valuation
(Guangzhou) Limited Beijing Branch), independent professional
qualified valuers (the “Valuers”).

Leasing arrangement - the Group as lessor

At the end of the reporting period, the Group leases out certain units
of the shopping mall under operating leases with average lease
terms of 1 to 10 years (2022: 1 to 20 years). These leases do not
contain renewal or termination options.

Accounting policies of lease income from operating leases are set
out in note 2.4 to the consolidated financial statements.

R =FRZF_F=A=+—
B AEBZREVEBTEUREMNRE
ALmZzEYPRLETEM - RZF
—ZEZA=Z+—8 - ZEREVED
BRAABEYE WHBIZEESER
HEMS HDEELEnELETGHE
RARN(ZZEZZF : F—KFEMEHRH
BEREEEBERAR, BME—KF
B S A B 4 i T A PR A Al dE IR
ARE) (MHERD ) EITEE -

MEZH - AEEESHEA

RERAR  FEERBLEEHEELM
AETEMHRLEN FHEEHAE1E
10F(ZE_—F :1220F) - 25H
EW TR EBEMERIFRIEE -

KEKEHEZHERAZ ST HRH
WA P HRRMTE2.4
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14.INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

Leasing arrangement - the Group as lessor (Continued)

Although the Group is exposed to changes in the residual value
at the end of the current leases, the Group typically entered into
new operating leases and therefore will not immediately realise a
reduction in the residual value at the end of the leases. Expectation
about future residual values are reflected in the fair value of the
properties.

Below is the maturity analysis of undiscounted lease payments to be
received from the leasing of investment properties.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e SRR M

For the year ended 31 March 2023 #HEZE—ZT=-—=F=A=+—HIFE

14128 = (FE)

HEZH - AEEESLEA ()

BEAEEHRRSES & REFSRE
BEPRER  EREERE T LHE
EHE - A TR SHESRERD
R ERRREERD o BREARKFGHE
B2ERARYE 2 AREERR -

AT BHEAREME B2 REERE
BB -

2023 2022

—E-=F —E_F

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T T ARETTT

Year 1 FE—F 4,278 6,257

Year 2 E_F 3,018 4,081

Year 3 FB=F 2,986 3,744

Year 4 FEE 3,144 3,472

Year 5 ERF 3,164 3,472

After year 5 hF& 13,534 18,453
Undiscounted lease payments HHUCER 2 REBGIR I E 50

to be received 30,124 39,479

Leasing arrangement - the Group as lessee

At the end of the reporting period, certain investment properties
are held under head leases with the remaining lease term of
approximately 3 years (2022: 4 years). These leased properties
are shopping mall units in a shopping mall in Baishan in relation to
operating lease used for sub-leasing purpose. The lease contracts
do not impose restriction on the uses of the leased properties. The
Group is required to keep those leased properties in good state of
repair and return the properties in their original condition at the end
of the lease.

The total cash outflow in respect of the investment properties is
included in note 15(a) to the consolidated financial statements.

HUA YIN INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED # ZEIEE#Z R B R A 7

HEZH - AEEER/EEA

REHMKR  HETREMEATEL R
FAERGEBOR=F(ZT-_—F: Y
F) REHEVMER/URTEBILT
ZBYHROLEMAREHEB K EHE
B -HEARTREIHEMENRE -
AEBEARFZSHENEEN R IF#
B YNHAMERTBYMERES

KEMEZRESREBRED B E TS
B HSIRE I EE 15(0) ©
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14.INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)
Fair value hierarchy

The following table illustrates the fair value hierarchy of the Group’s
investment properties:

UIBEEYE (&)
PAREEER

TRIFNAEERENE L AREESF
A

Fair value measurement as
at 31 March 2023 using
RANTEBR-2==F
ZRA=t-B2AAEEITE

Significant Significant

Quoted prices observable unobservable

in active inputs inputs

markets (Level 2) (Level 3)

(Level 1) EXTEE EXTABE
ERMIHEHRE BABE BARE Total
(E-%) (B=8) (B=8]) st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TT AR¥TR ARETR AR¥TR

Recurring fair value REE
measurement for: AREERE
Retail shops and car park spaces ~ Z&EJE R S8 - - 550,400 550,400
Fair value measurement as
at 31 March 2022 using
RANTEBR-_Z__F
ZA=t+-BzARrEEHE

Significant Significant

Quoted prices observable unobservable

in active inputs inputs

markets (Level 2) (Level 3)

(Level 1) EPNGIE ERTAEE
ERTHRE BN EN (4 Total
(BF—-H) (F=%) (F=H) ozt
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETT AREFT ARETT

Recurring fair value RIEE
measurement for: AREEHE

Retail shops and car park spaces &5 k2 HE i - - 615,800 615,800

During the year, there were no transfers of fair value measurements
between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers into or out of Level 3
(2022: Nil).

The changes in unrealised loss for the year included in profit or loss
for the investment properties held at the end of the reporting period
was RMB66,293,000 (2022: RMB81,714,000).

RAFE  F—REF_HzHALEA
AEEAECER  TEERZER
BE=RAAEBEFE(ZZE=_Z
/) o

FAARERMARBEZREMEZA
mFANREEEREHAARE
66,293,000L( ZE = —F: AR¥
81,714,0007¢) °
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e ISR AR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2023 #HEZE—ZT=-—=F=A=+—HIFE

14.INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

The quantitative information of the significant unobservable inputs

14128 = (FE)

éj{?\‘]gﬁﬁﬁﬁ)\ﬁﬂ)@z;{tﬁ*ﬂr&%
BARBEFEMABERD ZENR

and the description of valuation techniques used in Level 3 fair value

measurement are as follows:

-

Fair value at Range (weighted
31 March 2023 & 2022 average, if applicable)
R=EZ=%  Valuation #E
Description RZZEZZE  techniques Unobservable inputs (T
#R SAST-HZANEBE  fERS TUBERARE miEA)
RMB'000
ARBFTL
(1) Self-owned portion of retail shops 519400  Income Capitalisation rate 3.75%-4.75% (2022:
located on basement (2022: 578,600) capitalisation  EALE 3.75%-4.75%)
1andlevels 1t0 5 (ZZ =% :578,600) approach Market rent RMB29.00-RMB107.00
Guangze International Shopping Center, WAERE ik 7% (2022: RVMB32.00-
Baishan City, the PRC RMB150.00) per
frRh R T EEREEY T O E—E square metre
R1Z5EBZZERERRSS 3.75%-4.75%
(Z2-ZfF:
3.75%-4.75%)
BEAARARE20.007T
EARE107.007
(Z2-ZfF:
AR 32002
ARE150.007T)
Car parking spaces located on Comparable Comparable’s RMB126,000 (2022:
basement 2 of Guangze market unit seling/asking RMB126,000) per unit
International Shopping Center, transaction price GEESf
Baishan City, the PRC approach AR EBf AR%126,0007T
il B R TR RERENP LE TR 5% EB/2E (ZE-—F:
ZfREf AE%126,0007T)
(2) Leased portion of retail shops located on 31,000 Income Capitalisation rate 4.50% (2022: 4.50%)
levels 1 to 3 of Guangze International (2022: 37,200) capitalisation ~ EA(LX 450% (2224 : 4.50%)
Shopping Center, Baishan City, the PRC (ZZE==%:37,200) approach Market rent
WAERMEE [k RMB44.00-RMB110.00

frrERILmREEREY T L1 38
FERERD D

HUA YIN INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED # ZEIEE#Z R B R A 7

(2022: RMB41.17-
RMB102.93) per
square metre

BERRARE 44007
EARE110.007
(ZBz=F:
ARENATT
EARM102.937)



14.INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

Prevailing market rents are estimated based on the Valuer’s view
of recent letting transactions within the subject properties and
other comparable properties. The higher the comparable’s unit
selling/asking price and the lower the capitalisation rate/the higher
the market rent, the higher is the fair value. Reversionary vyield is
estimated by the valuer’s based on the risk profile of the properties
being valued. The higher the yield, the lower is the fair value.

At 31 March 20283, the Group’s investment properties with
an aggregate carrying amount of RMB393,619,000 (2022:
RMB442,931,000) were pledged to banks to secure certain of the
bank loans granted to the Group (note 23).

14828 = (&)

RiTmiHAE THRE 4 E 40 18R
MEREMBALMEAZEERSZE
Rfbst e AL RRZFEUER 2B
BERERNMEERE TEEEES -
RABEES - ERaERTHEER
RIBRGEDEZRBRARRER - Wk
KR - AAREEBIE -

R-TB-_=ZF=ZA=+—8  A£Ek
48 E B AR #393,619,0007t (=&
—F AR¥442,931,00070) 2 EE
MECERTRIT  (ERAEEERT
HTIRITERZEAR (FIE23) -
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 #HEZE—ZT=-—=F=A=+—HIFE

15.RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE
LIABILITIES

The Group as lessee

(a) Right-of-use assets

The Group leases certain shopping mall units in Baishan City and
office and other premises in Hong Kong. The leases have non-
cancellable lease terms ranging from one to three years. None of
the leases includes variable lease payment terms, extension and

EAEEEREERE

REBEREEA
(a) ERREEE

AEEHRERILTZETEDHOE
RIRBEERAEREMYE - ZFH
SRR RIREEHEEGRR - BT
—E=F - fEHEERSTEEEN

Ed

termination options. TR TR RAR IR o
Office and
other premises Shopping
WAE mall units Total
Ht% B EN @t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RVB'000
ARETT AREFT ANRETT
Reconciliation of carrying amount BREEZHE - BZ
- year ended 31 March 2023 “E-=F=A=T-ALEE
At 1 April 2022 RZE-—FMWA—H 332 - 332
Additions fﬁ 6,602 893 7,495
Derecognition upon subleases PEABARENEREILER
classified as investment
properties - (893) (893)
Depreciation nE (2,782) - (2,782)
Exchange realignment R A 22 - 22
At 31 March 2023 RZE-=F=A=1+-H 4,174 - 4,174
At 31 March 2023 RZFZ=F=A=1-R
Cost R 13,228 - 13,228
Accumulated depreciation ZEHE (9,054) - (9,054)
4174 - 4,174
Reconciliation of carrying amount [REEZHE - B2
- year ended 31 March 2022 TECCEZR=t-HLEE
At 1 April 2021 )\3/\ Z-—FNA—A 2,070 - 2,070
Additions - 10,714 10,714
Derecognition upon subleases i‘ﬁ’\*ﬁﬁ&ﬁi’%ﬁﬁ%%ﬂﬁ@
classified as investment
properties - (10,714 (10,714)
Depreciation e (1,681) - (1,681)
Exchange realignment B A% (57) - (57)
At 31 March 2022 “E__f=A=1-H 332 - 332
At 31 March 2022 i St oy
Cost A 6,702 - 6,702
Accumulated depreciation ZEHE (6,370) = (6,370)
332 - 332

No gain or loss of revaluation (2022: nil) was recognised in the
statement of profit or loss at the date of reclassification from right-

of-use assets to investment properties.
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15.RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE 5.EAREEEREERR (E)
LIABILITIES (Continued)

The Group as lessee (Continued) AEBEERAFABA (E)
(a) Right-of-use assets (Continued) (a) EAREEE (&)
Restrictions or covenants PR i R 255
Except for the lease of shopping mall units in Baishan that is RHEEEESE LT 2B
allowed for sublease, most of the leases impose a restriction BN BRIERBHAMAARLE - TAI
that, unless approval is obtained from the lessor, the right-of-use RESDHERTBRS] - EREEEE
asset can only be used by the Group. The Group is prohibited AEAREEGER - AEETEHES
from selling or pledging the underlying assets. The Group is I EE - ASEERKZSYHE
required to keep those properties in a good state of repair and RIFRITHESIKN - WA E 4 R
return the properties in their original condition at the end of the BRERAARAR BZEYE -
lease.
Lease payments HEMNLR
The Group has recognised the following amounts for the year: REBEERAFEERAATRE -
2023 2022
—E-=F —E-HF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET AREETTT
Lease payments: e
Short-term leases HRE 1,512 2,745

Expenses recognised in profit B FER 2 B

or loss 1,512 2,745
Lease payments: HERR:

Interest on lease liabilities HEBEZHE 1,715 4,230

Repayment of lease liabilites ~ EEHERE 10,795 14,452

12,510 18,682

Total cash outflow for leases HERSRLAE 14,022 21,427
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 HZ—Z-_=F=A=+—HItFEF

15.RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE
LIABILITIES (Continued)

.EAEEEREERE (F)

The Group as lessee (Continued) AEBERAFABA (E)
(a) Right-of-use assets (Continued) (a) EAREE (&)
Commitments under leases AERIE
At 31 March 2023, the Group was not committed to lease RZE_=ZF=ZA=+—08 ' ~5E
contracts that have not yet commenced (2022: RMB175,000 for REHARFRHEES BIEDHEER
short-term lease). B(ZZ2—F : BREASAEA
R ¥ 175,0007T) °
(b) Lease liabilities b)HEEE
2023 2022
—E=-= —E- 4
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET AREEFTT
Lease liabilities HEAE
Current portion BNERER > 10,010 12,646
Non-current portion JEBNERER 27,985 28,487
37,995 41,133
16. DEFERRED TAX 16. 3R FE B 18
The movements in deferred tax liabilities and assets during the year AFEREREMBEEBEREEZ#EHN
are as follows: T
Deferred tax liabilities ELEHIEAE
Depreciation
allowance
and fair value
change of Revaluation of
investment properties
properties under
REYME  development
WERER BREH Prepaid tax Total
AABERE MEZER BAABE st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT ARETT ARETT ARBFT
At 1 April 2021 R-ZE-_—FMA—H 58,755 - 529 59,284
Credited to profit or loss FTABE (6,789) - (453) (7,242)
At 31 March 2022 R=ZE_—§=F=1+—H 51,966 — 76 52,042
At 1 April 2022 R-Z——FmA[—H 51,966 - 76 52,042
(Credited)/Charged to (GtA) /BB
profit or loss (14,798) 94,256 2 79,456
At 31 March 2023 REZE-=2=H=1—H 37,168 94,256 74 131,498
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Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of the
following items:

16. DEFERRED TAX (Continued) 16.GEFER 1E (&)
Deferred tax assets BB IEEE
Deemed
profit Impairment

for pre-sales losses Total
RAEEERF WEEE et
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFIT AREFIT AREFIT
At 1 April 2021 RZE-_—FWA—H 8,329 5,195 13,524
Credited to profit or loss 5T A Bz 198 3,641 3,839
At 31 March 2022 RZEZZF=HA=+—H 8,527 8,836 17,363
At 1 April 2022 R-ZE-—_®m@A—H 8,527 8,836 17,363
Charged to profit or loss 1k B8z (6,180) (1,059) (7,239)
At 31 March 2023 RZEZ=F=A=+—H 2,347 7,777 10,124

WARFL T A B ERELEHAEE ¢

2023 2022
—E_=F T F

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARET T AREEFIT

Tax losses FHIEEsE 649,161 601,677

The above tax losses are available indefinitely for offsetting against
future taxable profits of the companies in which the losses arose
except for tax losses of RMB250,318,000 (2022: RMB231,903,000)
that related to subsidiaries operating in the PRC that can be offset
against future taxable profits of the respective subsidiaries for a
maximum of five years from the year in which the losses were
incurred of which RMB48,776,000 (2022: RMB19,262,000) will
expire in the following year. Deferred tax assets have not been
recognised in respect of the above items as it is not considered
probable that taxable profits will be available against which the
above items can be utilised.

A EFRIE B ] MR PR BRI DA S EE AR 7%
EEEIARZ BRERBEF - M8
MBI E N B A RMAE HIEBBA
R #¥250,318,000c( Z T == F : A
R # 231,903,000t ) A] A fE 4K S5 46 78
MEBARBRERMES  AHBEEE
BEZFERHEZRFE ERAR
B 48,776,000 (ZE==F : AR¥
19,262,0007T ) 4 A BB EF £ B - A
RAIRBNA LS EIR] AR EE A L1
B2 ERBREH - WARFA LTHE R
RETIHEE o
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 #HEZE—ZT=-—=F=A=+—HIFE

17.PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT AND 17.
COMPLETED PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE

BEPYERSFEHECDEK
YES

2023 2022
—EBE-=F —E-F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®ET T AE¥ET T
Properties under development BERPYE 1,862,771 2,125,264
Completed properties held for sale  #F1EHED ZRE 224,018 163,890
2,086,789 2,289,154
Write-down of properties under HERPYERSERS
development and completed BRI EMIR E Al 37 FE
properties held for sale to
net realisable value (489,003) (1,026,310)
1,597,786 1,262,844
2023 2022
—E_=F —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
Properties under development 2R Y% AR¥T T AREFIT
Properties under development TEEIRNIE B L REERR I DA
expected to be completed MBEEZBRTPYE
within normal operating cycle TEETA TSI AR AR
and classified as current assets,
are expected to be recoverable:
Within one year —FR 1,862,771 2,072,112
Over one year —F LAk - 53,152
1,862,771 2,125,264

At 31 March 2023, the Group’s properties under development
and completed properties held for sale were stated at net carrying
amount of RMB1,416,013,000 and RMB181,773,000 respectively
were carried at the lower of cost and net realisable value (2022:
RMB1,133,064,000 and RMB129,780,000 respectively).

The Group’s properties under development and completed
properties held for sale situated in the PRC are stated at lower of
cost and net realisable value and held on leases between 40 and 70
years.

At 31 March 2023, certain of the Group’s properties under
development and completed properties held for sale of
RMB1,210,000,000 (2022: RMB665,600,000) and RMB8,069,000
(2022: RMB8,069,000) respectively, were pledged to banks to
secure certain of the bank loans granted to the Group.
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R-TE-=F=A=+—H AEEHN
BRAVERBELNEDERME KR
HFED BB ARE1,416,018,000 7T &%
AR #181,773,000 7T J5 4% ik AN (B 82 7]
BN FECBREEINNR(ZEZ2F 5
Al A& A R #1,133,064,0007T X A R
129,780,000 7T) °

REBMRFEZBRFYERFED
EEBKYERKAETZERFE IR
EEVER  WANFT40FE70F 21
A o

R-BE-_=F=A=+—H A&EH
o Bl A A R #1,210,000,000T( = Z
— —%F: AR#665600,0007T) & A
R#8069,000(ZE-_F : AR
8,069,0007T) W& T3 R M RIF1E
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17.PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT AND

COMPLETED PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE
(Continued)

The movement of the write-down of properties under development
and completed properties held for sale to net realisable value during
the year is as follows:

TERPYRRIFFELHECENK

W= (%)

TR BERTOELFFELEDEK
VIEMORE R IR FEZ BT

2023 2022
—EB-=F T F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AREFIT

At the beginning of N LR )
the reporting period 1,026,310 1,046,251
Decrease in the write-down, net  J&/>URL 2 R E (537,307) (19,941)
At the end of the reporting period R 23R EF 489,003 1,026,310

In estimating the net realisable value of the Group’s properties
under development under the property project in Fusong County,
Jilin Province (“Fusong Property Project”), the management has
engaged the Valuer to carry out a valuation on the properties
under development. Given the management’s intention to divest
the project in short period of time, the valuation in prior reporting
periods was carried out on a bare land basis and based on a direct
comparison approach by making reference to comparable land
transactions available in the market, followed by applying a discount
factor on the appraised value for the intended short-term sale. As
at 31 March 2022, the Group had accumulated write downs on
Fusong Property Project of RMB992,200,000.

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Board decided to re-
activate the development of the project after a detailed assessment
on the feasibility study and the Group had started the refurbishment
construction work on the existing buildings. Accordingly, the
discount factor applied for the intended short term sale as at 31
March 2022 was no longer applicable due to the change of the
development plan. As at 31 March 2023, the valuation has been
carried out by the Valuer, (i) for the land parcels under development,
on the basis of capitalisation of net income based on the project
plan by making reference to comparable market transactions taking
into account of the construction costs to be expended; and (i) for
the land parcels for future development, on the bare land basis
and based on direct comparison approach by making reference to
comparable land transactions available in the market. As a result,
a reversal of write-down of RMB545,442,000 relating to Fusong
Property Project was made and included in the other income and
gains in the consolidated statements of profit or loss in current year.

AT AEEHE MG EINGEEHETE B
BRERAYE(ELYEER )W 235
FER BEREEREFSHEMEERTD
EETHE - ENEEBRTEEES
M BEZIAR - BRSO EEN
B AREMR  WeEMH LA Lt
RENRAEELEE  REAECH
HEMYTEEEBENERZ - &2
T -FZA=+—H AEEAE
T8 B 1EH A R 992,200,000 7T
2 BEHUR ©

BHE-_Z-_=F=A=1+—HILtFE "
EE g0 {THERERETHATGERR
TEFMBEZEEMNHALE  MALEN
EEFREEEYHNPFTIE - AR
FEFTEEENR  BtRER =T ==
FZA=t+—HAZEHEEmMER 2T
ERYDITBERA R_T-=F=A
=+—H - BEEIRATERETRE
B ()piisEhtms - ERNIBEE T
QM%WA§$M% WREA LTS
RHMEBEHBEZERTE » &)t
RERMWEME - UG ASEENEKA
BEELEE  2EMG LALLM LR
SETE - Bt - BAMEEERAFE
A BERANEMUA RIS RED
I 5+ A A R 8 545,442,000 7T H) iR B
@o
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 #HZE=Z—

=F=A=+—AILER

18. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

18. BN E J IRR K H FEWRIE

2023 2022
—E-=F T _F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
BaE AR%T AREEFTT
Trade receivables, gross FEWE 5 R K485 21,489 20,679
Less: provision for impairment W ORER (14,537) (5,575)
Trade receivables, net FEWE 5 BRFFHR (@) 6,952 15,104
Other receivables: Hofh U ERIA ¢
Deposits for land THBERAS 2IES
development expenditure (b) 22,095 22,095
Deposits for construction and BENBEEB Z2EE
pre-sale of projects (c) 6,741 6,741
Prepaid business tax and TETEER R EMBIIR
other taxes 18,190 36,352
Other receivables, prepayments H e dsRIa ~ B
and deposit FIB M EE 53,010 46,323
Less: provision for impairment R ERE ) (70,934) (70,934)
29,102 40,577
Total trade and other receivables  FEUNE 5 BR 7 K E A FE U F00E
RG] 36,054 55,681

(@) In respect of property sales, no credit terms are granted to

purchasers. For property investment and property management,

the respective rental income and property management income

are settled in accordance with the terms stipulated in the

agreements, most of which are settled in advance. In particular,

sufficient rental deposits are received to minimise credit risk.

The carrying amounts of the receivables approximate to their fair

values. Trade receivables are non-interest-bearing.

At 31 March 2023 and 2022, the gross balance trade
receivables are mainly related to revenue recognised from the

provision of property management service.
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18. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)

(@ (Continued)

The ageing analysis of the trade receivables (net of allowance for
doubtful debts) by the invoice date as at the end of the reporting

18. BN E 5 R & H b B FRIR

(%)

@ (&)

RERPRZ BUE 5 B (R
FRRIARE) RERBM2 2Rk

period is as follows: DT -
2023 2022
—EB-=F B
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARETT
Within 30 days 30 KA 1,457 1,610
31 days—180 days 31 RXE 180K 4,762 8,033
Over 180 days B8 180K 733 5,461
6,952 15,104

The ageing analysis of trade receivables that are not individually
nor collectively considered to be impaired is as follows:

TR SERI RS L IRRE 2 BRE

DIRRZ RE DT

2023 2022

—E=-= —E-F

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T T ARETTT

Neither past due nor impaired  #E 8 B sl Rl (B - =

Less than 30 days past due BHEIS0 B AT 1,457 1,610
Over 30 days and less than #HI30 B A E{B180HIATR

180 days past due 4,762 8,033

Over 180 days past due #HI180 H A E 133 5,461

6,952 15,104

6,952 15,104
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For the year ended 31 March 2023

HEZZ-=-F=A=1+—HILFE

18. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)

(@) (Continued)

T

-~

Movements in provision for impairment of trade receivables are
as follows:

18. BN E J IRR K H FEWRIE
(&)

@)

(#8)

FEWE ZERFUREREZBINT -

2023 2022
—E-=F —E_F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARETTT
At the beginning of 2R E)
the reporting period 5,575 5,691
Charged/(credited) to profit or R, (FHA) Ezs
loss during the year 8,962 (116)
At the end of REFREAR
the reporting period 14,537 SHoIAS

The balances represented monies advanced to the local
government for land development works at land sites. The
Group will be reimbursed for the amount advanced to the local
government in carrying out the land development irrespective of
whether or not the Group will obtain the land use rights of the
land in the future. Impairment loss had been provided on the
entire balances in prior years.

The balances mainly represented various deposits paid to local
government authorities directly attributable to the construction of
property projects which would be refundable upon completion
of the development projects. Impairment loss had been provided
on the entire balances in prior years.

HUA YIN INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED # ZEIEE#Z R B R A 7

)

AERERIER S R AR 2 i B
RIEBX TEWRN A - B
BRAEBE G EERGZ I L1
ERE  AREBEENINETLE
BRBIETAEBBRTR ZFH
ZER/BRORNBEFE2EGEHRAE
B8 -

BRIREERREREYFRER
SHENEHBARE RS - AR
HRIBBTHRERE - ZFEHER
BEFREHEHORERRE -



18. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)

(d) Movement in provision for impairment of other receivables are as

18.[EW & 5 MRk I HL At B =R IR
(&)

(d) EfpRUGREREREBZZESHNT

follows:
2023 2022
—E-=F TETF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%T T ARETT
At the beginning of 2R
the reporting period 70,934 64,279
Charged to profit or loss iNGAEICI=E =
during the year - 6,655
At the end of R EFHRHAR
the reporting period 70,934 70,934

Further information about the Group’s credit risks on other
receivables is included in note 34 to the consolidated financial
statements.

19.CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND
PLEDGED AND RESTRICTED DEPOSITS

FRASBEEMRETIREERR <&
—FERENGEMHRRM T4 -

VRERASEZEYURCER
REZRHFRK

2023 2022

—E=-= —E-F

Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

Bz ARET T ARBTT

Cash and bank balances B RiR1T4EH 76,274 100,747

Less: Restricted bank deposits o ERIEEYEERB

under pre-sale of properties IR EIRITIF K (6,335) (7,596)

Cash and cash equivalents RekBReEED 69,939 93,151

(@) In accordance with relevant policies issued by the PRC local
State-owned Land and Resource Bureau applicable to all
property developers, the Group is required to place certain of the
proceeds received from the pre-sale of properties as guarantee
deposits for the construction of the properties. The restriction will
be released when the construction is completed. The restricted
cash earns interest at floating daily bank deposit rates.

(@) RIEFBEM B LERBBRMERR
FrE B ERER HABCR - A&
B/ LI E Y FWE 2 B T 1S
REREREYME2RE o ZRHIFR
TR TRSERRRR - XRRFIRESILF
B A IRT T 3N RIRELAE,
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 HZ—Z-_=F=A=+—HItFEF
19.CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND VIRERBESEEYUR S E R
PLEDGED AND RESTRICTED DEPOSITS RZREER (&)
(Continued)
At the end of the reporting period, the cash and bank balances REHMPR  XEBUARETECR
of the Group denominated in RMB amounted to RMB20,201,174 & NIRRT A AREE20,201,174T(=
(2022: RMB34,968,410). RMB is not freely convertible into other T - F: AR¥34,068,4107T) © A
currencies, however, under PRC’s Foreign Exchange Control RETSEHLBAEMERE - A -
Regulations and Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of RIR R BIINE B IR RPIARASTE - EfE
Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange RNEEERRTE  AEEEESBER
RMB for other currencies through banks authorised to conduct BREBINEEB 2 RITHARBRIRA
foreign exchange business. HiE -
20. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 20. B E B IR R H B FIR
2023 2022
—E-=F T
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
BisE AR¥ETR ARBFIT
Trade payables JEHE S BRI (a) 48,099 57,850
Accrued construction costs TEIREEEEA A 303,906 284,075
Interest payable JERTAILE (b) 4,854 60,996
Other creditors and accruals Hib I FRIE R ETER 65,447 53,277
Other deposits received Bl HiRE 25,843 25,678
448,149 481,876
(@) An ageing analysis of the trade payables as at the end of the (@ RERMARZENEFRFIZEEAR
reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as follows: B2 5| 2 BRBE AT T ¢
2023 2022
—E-=HF —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET ARET T
Within 30 days 30K 4,617 2,252
31 days—180 days 31 RXRE180K 5,553 24,742
QOver 180 days HBiE 180K 37,929 30,856
48,099 57,850
(o) During the year ended 31 March 2023, the interest payables b)) BEZTZ=F=A=+—HI1tHF
approximately RMB20,706,000 were settled by the provision of 0 EEFIE 4 A R 20,706,000
aloan from controlling shareholder (2022: Nil). TEBEB—RIERBRRERER

REBF(ZZEZF 1 )
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21.CONTRACT LIABILITIES PAR=E =N

2023 2022
—E-=F —E-F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
BisE ARBTR ARETFTT
Deposits from sale of properties ~ $HEWHEZ & (@) 87,667 371,944
Receipt in advance from TEWERREER
management services (b) 14,760 12,025
102,427 383,969
The movements (excluding those arising from increases and FR - RBEEBYBHREEAFEI5HRE
decreases both occurred within the same year) of contract liabilities PE&HWEr EHNEEE (TRIERT
from contracts with customers within HKFRS 15 during the year are WREEZEE) T -
as follows:
2023 2022
—E_=F —E-F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%T R AR¥ETFTT
At the beginning of 2 FRERY]
the reporting period 383,969 227,910
Additions NE 102,993 220,412
Recognised as revenue R AW (384,535) (64,353)
At the end of the reporting period A2 WHIFR 102,427 383,969
At 31 March 2023, the amount of transaction price which is RZBEZ=F=A=+—H ' oBEEX
allocated to the performance obligations that are unsatisfied, BIIeBHAEAZR S ERSEENS
expected to be satisfied within one year and more than one year are AR—FAR—FEREE HRABAR
RMB125,746,000 (2022: RMB377,297,000) and RMB17,346,000 #125,746,000 (- —F : ARK
(2022: RMB42,490,000) respectively. The amounts included the 377,297,0007T) K& A R ¥ 17,346,000 7T
contract liabilities as disclosed above. —E- % AR¥42,490,0007T) °
FAGHBEZ BN EXIEE -
At 31 March 20283, the contract liabilities that are expected to be RZEZ=F=A=+—H0  BHRE
settled after more than 12 months are RMB12,231,000 (2022: BT_EARREEZEHNEBERAR
RMB38,261,000). LI PN 00D = = =45 0 ARES

38,261,0007T) °
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 HZ—Z-_=F=A=+—HItFEF

21.CONTRACT LIABILITIES (Continued)

The Group received payments from customers based on billing
schedules as established in the property sales or rental contracts.
Payments are usually received in advance of the performance under
the contracts.

(@) Deposits from sales of properties represent contractual
payments received from customers in connection with the
Group’s pre-sale of properties. The deposit will be transferred to
profit or loss when the Group’s revenue recognition criteria are
met.

(b) Receipt in advance from management services represent the
property fee received in advance for property management. The
receipts will be transferred to profit or loss when the Group’s
revenue recognition criteria are met.

22,LOANS FROM A CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDER

Loans from a controlling shareholder are unsecured, including:

. 6HNEE(E)

AEERENEFHELHESHWMEZ
SAEREREREF MR - A3ATE
BHIBEITZ ATHLER ©

(@) HEMEZFIREMAREREM X
BEFPUIMZHERNFE - &Fl &
R AR BT W et FERIR ERS S

= e

b) BREERGERBIERMEEEER
ZMEER - BUSEBN AR BT
B U ERER RS R 218 -

2. —BERBRRER

—REBRRREFSELR - 821

2023 2022

—EC-=F —E_F

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T T ARETTT

Interest-free* FE* 324,658 234,819
Interest-bearing** TR 29,832 -
354,490 234,819

*  repayable on demand
**interest rate at 5% per annum and repayable within one year
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23.BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS B.WITREMEE
2023 2022
—E-=F T F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
BisE AR¥TR AREFT
Current BIHA
Bank loans — secured RITEN - B i), (i) 135,696 130,697
Entrusted loans EHERK (ii), (i) 310,000 290,000
445,696 420,697
Non-current JEENER
Bank loans — secured IRITER - BILH () 229,000 290,897
229,000 290,897
674,696 711,594
2023 2022
—E-=F T F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T AREFIT
Analysed into: PRV
Bank loans and entrusted AR T B8 2 iR1T
loans repayable: ERREZTAER
Within one year or on demand —FRHIREK 445,696 420,697
In the second year EF 1,000 61,897
In the third to fifth years, inclusive FoEZFRF (BEEERT) 228,000 229,000
674,696 711,594
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23.BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS (Continued)

Notes:

() Included in the secured bank loans as at 31 March 2023 are loan balances
of RMB70,000,000 (31 March 2022: RMB70,000,000), RMB56,896,000
(31 March 2022: RMB113,794,000), RMB231,000,000 (31 March 2022:
RMB231,000,000) and RMB6,800,000 (31 March 2022: RMB6,800,000)
bearing interests at a fixed rate of 7.83% per annum, a fixed interest rate
of 5.39% per annum, a fixed rate of 7.3%-7.35% per annum and a fixed

rate of 7.6% per annum respectively.

As at 31 March 2023, the bank loan of RMB70,000,000 is secured
by the 70% equity interests of a connected party. The bank loans of
RMB56,896,000 and RMB231,000,000 are secured by pledges of the
properties under development with carrying values of RMB868,000,000
and investment properties with fair value of RMB389,900,000
respectively. The bank loan of RMB6,800,000 is secured by the
pledges of the completed properties held for sale with carrying
amount of RMB8,069,000 and investment properties with fair value of

RMB3,719,000.

As at 31 March 2022, the bank loan of RMB70,000,000 was
secured by the 70% equity interests of a connected party. The bank
loans of RMB113,794,000 and RMB231,000,000 were secured by
pledges of the properties under development with carrying values
of RMB477,000,000 and investment properties with fair value of
RMB438,900,000 respectively. The bank loan of RMB6,800,000 was
secured by the pledges of the completed properties held for sale with
carrying amount of RMB8,069,000 and investment properties with fair

value of RMB4,031,000.

(i) Included in entrusted loans as at 31 March 2023 are loan balances
of RMB20,000,000 (31 March 2022: RMB100,000,000) and
RMB290,000,000 (31 March 2022: RMB190,000,000) bearing interests
at a basic fixed rate of 8% per annum and 10% per annum respectively.

As at end of reporting period, the entrusted loan of RMB20,000,000
(31 March 2022: RMB100,000,000) was secured by properties
under development held by the Group with carrying amount
of RMB342,000,000 as at 31 March 2023 (31 March 2022:

RMB188,600,000).

The entrusted loan of RMB290,000,000 (31 March 2022:
RMB190,000,000) was secured by a second charge of properties under
development with carrying amounts of RMB1,210,000,000 as at 31
March 2023 (31 March 2022: RMB665,600,000) and 100% of equity
interests of a wholly-owned subsidiary, was guaranteed by corporate

guarantees of certain group companies of the Group.
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B RITREMER (&)

iiEES
() RZZZ=F=A=+—0" AEHR
TERBEEZE % AR 70,000,000

(i)

T(ZEZZF=A=+—H8: ARE®
70,000,000 )+ A R #56,896,000
T(ZEZ—F=ZA=1+—H8: AR¥
113,794,0007T ) + A R # 231,000,000
T(ZE-_—_F=ZA=+—H: AR¥
231,000,000t ) & A K #6,800,000
T(ZEZZF=ZA=Z+—H: AR
¥ 6,800,000t ) o B & 1% & & F | &
7.83% * 1Z[EE FFF5.39% * 1REEF
FET7.3%E7.35% RIZETEFFNET7.6%
B

R-ZEBE-_=%F=A=+—0 " #17EX
A E #70,000,0007T /B — [ B3 & A 7
ZT0%REEE B RITERARE
56,896,000 7T & A K % 231,000,000 7T
7 Bl e BR (B A K #5 868,000,000 7T 2 %%
B mER A EEARE 389,900,000
TLZIREYEERT - RITERARE
6,800,000 7T /A Bk T B A K # 8,069,000
TZBEHERERMERARBEAR
& 3,719,000 7T 2 R & W ZEVEH AR -

R-ZEBE-_—_HF=A=+—80 " RTEX
A E % 70,000,000 7T B3 — f& B8 i A A
ZT0% M EERIF - BITERARE
113,794,000 70 & A R # 231,000,000 7T
2 Bl & BREE A R 477,000,000 7T 2 %%
BHYERALEEARE 438,900,000
TLZIEMEERR - MBITERARE
6,800,000 7T /1 Bk Ml B A K # 8,069,000
TTZFEHEEERYERAABEAR
& 4,081,000 7T 2 & W ZE VB R -

R-_ZE-_=fF=A=+—H  £%H
KB HE B A A R 120,000,000 7T
(ZEBEZZF=A=+—HB: AR
100,000,0007T ) & A K # 290,000,000
T(ZE-_—F=ZA=1+—H8: AR¥
190,000,000 7T ) %3 Bl 3% £ 7K [ 5 4F F| &
8% RFFEA0%ETE -

RIEHR - ZEERARE 20,000,000
T(ZE-_—_F=ZA=+—H: AR¥
100,000,00070) A KB AH R =T
T=ZFZA=+—REEEAARK
342,000,000 (ZE==F=A=+—
H: AR#188,600,0007T) 2 EEH Y
R -

U

= i B 3% A R #290,000,0007t( =
TE__F#=A=+—H8B: AE®
190,000,000t ) AR —ZT - =F = A
=+—HEEEAARE1,210,000,00
T(ZE-_—F=ZA=1+—H: AR¥
665,600,00070) 2 ERAME L F—#H
kA —EE2EMB2ARZ 100% KREE
B WERAEESETEEQTRED
FEERERER -



23.BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(i) As at 31 March 2023, the lenders have agreed to renew the entrusted
loans of RMB20,000,000 and bank loans of RMB6,800,000.

24.DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND

CONVERTIBLE BONDS

Convertible Bonds ‘CBs’

On 14 December 2021, the Company completed the issue of
an aggregate principal amount of HK$103,076,730 (equivalent
to approximately RMB84,283,059 on the issue date) convertible
bonds to Ka Yik Investments Limited (“Ka Yik”), the controlling
shareholder, which are due on 13 June 2023 and may, subject
to the controlling shareholder’s written consent that shall not be
unreasonably withheld, be extended for another eighteen months by
notice issued by the Company at any time during the three months
prior to the maturity date by serving at least thirty days prior written
notice to Ka Yik in the event that the Company’s directors are of the
reasonable opinion that the redemption of the CBs on the maturity
date will result in the Group not having sufficient working capital for
the operation for the next twelve months. The CBs are convertible
into the Company’s ordinary shares of HK$0.05 each at an initial
conversion price of HK$0.39 per share subject to adjustments. The
interest rate is 2% per annum payable semi-annually in arrears each
year before the maturity date.

The conversion rights are exercisable at any time from the date
of issue of the CBs up to the maturity date, provided that any
conversion does not result in the public float of the Company’s
shares being less than 25% (or any given percentage as required by
the Listing Rules).

The CBs are not transferrable without the prior written consent of
the Company.

The Company may at any time before the maturity date redeem the
CBs (in whole or in part) at 100% of its principal amount.

The Company has not early redeemed any portion of the CBs during
the year.

BRITREMER (&)

BieE - (88

iy P=B-=F=A=+—0 EHELER
ZEH ARK20,000,000 T2 EEEK
N AR # 6,800,000 T2 SRITEE -

UILTEEMTERTERRES

Al R 1E 57

RZZE-—F+=-A+W0H - KRAF]%
BRIAEBRBERREREARARA(R
72 ]) BITARS 8% 5103,076,730 78 7T
(FAE77 B ERFEE A4 A R #5 84,283,059
IV R - -_=FEA+=BFH2
ATREES  MRARREETAERA
REHBER AT R ES B EHAEE
TEEHEELSHERR+ @A
BEA HEEESZERBRREEARE
BB EBEENERT AR A
REIEAE AT =18 A R pER MR 2%
&A= +HBLEEABAEEEHBEN
ER+NEA - AR EF AR R
BREFAZ0.39 8 T (Al FHE) Bin AR
AEIEBEC.S BTy Bl « FFEA
2% BREIBBATABNERGEES

=ik e

BEEREARREFEITANEES
FHIA FHIRBER TT(E - ATIR A E(TE
BAREYARRFTRN 2 ARFRER
725% (3 EMR AR E 2 EHEE B
D) °

AMBESTITESEREARRELER
CESNEE

AABAREBBABERRERNSHE
100% & @ AT B (2 RRED ) ©

TR ARFALEIEFE R ERED 2
AHARE S ©
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24.DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND
CONVERTIBLE BONDS (Continued)

Convertible Bonds ‘CBs’ (Continued)

On 9 June 2023, the Group received written consent from Ka Yik
to extend of the maturity day by another eighteen months to the
third anniversary of the date of issue of the Bonds (i.e. 14 December
2024).

Accounting treatment

The Company’s early redemption right attaching to the respective
CBs are considered not closely related to the liability component of
the respective CBs; and therefore, these embedded features have
been accounted for separately and classified as derivative financial
instruments according to HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments.

On the basis that the conversion options of the CBs will be settled
by the exchange of a fixed amount for a fixed number of equity
instruments, the respective CBs are accounted for as compound
instruments according to HKAS 32 Financial Instruments:
Presentation. The deemed proceeds, after the fair value of the
early redemption right features are bifurcated, have been split
into between a liability component and an equity component. The
residual amount, representing the value of the equity component,
is credited to “Equity component of the CBs” in the Group’s equity
attributable to the Company’s shareholders.

After initial recognition, the Company’s early redemption right
features classified as derivative financial instruments are remeasured
to their fair value at each period end using the binomial pricing
model. The liability component of the respective CBs are
subsequently carried at amortised cost.

At the date of conversion, the carrying values of the liability
component of the respective CBs and of the early redemption right
features are transferred to equity.

Up to the date of maturity of the CBs, if the bond holder had
not exercised the conversion option of the CBs. The equity
component of the CBs are fully transferred to retained earnings.
The early redemption right features classified as derivative financial
instruments would be derecognised on the same date.

HUA YIN INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED # ZEIEE#Z R B R A 7

UMTEEMTEAERATEARES

(&)

AREBER - -=FxANBYKBIR
BREZEEEREK - LBTEREIMSAA
TN\EAZRBITESA R E=EF (A
—E-NFE+=—A+WmA) -

St RE

E R EFREM 2 A AR IR ATE D
R A IR Z R A A E S B EH
DEYVNEE  BEEFRAANFEE B
AR XRIBBEAM B RELERNFE IR
[EBMTAI DEAITESHMTA -

E R AR B Z5 2 R AR R A SR B TE
SRNEEHE 2B TAGE @ Al
BEFHRETESTERERWR (£
BMTR: 2] ARISEATA -1
RABLOESEZAANBERSFHE
BEFMEFRRCRAERD Mg
ZRADE - RE (eSO EE) FTA
ARBBEREEAREERAT Z[A]
BEEFERE D | o

RO HERE  DBRATESRTAY
R A e AR O AR B 2R IR A
EERVZEMRZ AEBEENT
B BRI RRESAED R RIRE
SERANTIRR -

REHRAH SRR RRESAERS
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24.DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND

CONVERTIBLE BONDS (Continued)

Early redemption right features of the CBs

The movements in the Group’s early redemption right features

classified as derivative financial instruments measured at fair value

are as follows:

(%)

BTEESHTARTRRES

AR ES 2R EE RS

DERRBRAREBEFEZTEEHTA
ZASBRMEOZESEZBMT

2023 2022

—E-=F B4

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARET T ARETT

At the beginning of e L)

the reporting period 9,709 22
Additions upon issue REITRARE - 54,721
Derecognition at maturity date REHA B 42 E7ERR - 1)
Fair value change NIEBEEE (8,208) (44,879)
Exchange realignment PE H 809 (134)
At the end of the reporting period A2 EAX 2,310 9,709

Liability component of the CBs

The movements of the liability component of the CBs in the

TRBREFEENRS

REREFBARRE 2 AT R ESFAEED

consolidated statement of financial position are as follows: DEEINT
2023 2022
—E-=HF —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETFT
At the beginning of e L)
the reporting period 79,267 72,879
Accrued effective interest FERTERF & 6,130 3,427
Additions upon issue REBEITEARE - 78,728
Settlement through the loans FAEIER B B E s AL
from a controlling —EERRREREE
shareholder at maturity date - (72,921)
Transfer to interest payable SRS ENF S (1,812) =
Exchange realignment e H 6,467 (2,846)
At the end of the reporting period R 2 IR 90,052 79,267
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24.DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND

CONVERTIBLE BONDS (Continued)

Liability component of the CBs (Continued)

The imputed finance cost on the liability component of the
Convertible Bonds is calculated using the effective interest method
by applying effective interest rates per annum. The effective interest
rates of the CBs due in 2023 is 7.21%.

Equity component of the CBs

The movements of the equity component of the CBs in the
consolidated statement of financial position are as follows:

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BTEESHMTARTRRES
(&)

REFEEN (&)
AR EFAES D 2 HERERAR
RERMNEZRERFNERHE - —F

“=FHHARRES ZERFERR
7.21% °

AR ESERSD

E’\i? ﬁ?fﬁ%ﬁkﬂﬁz—l?ﬁﬂ%%%* = AP

2023 2022
—E-=F .- "
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AREFTT
At the beginning of 2R A

the reporting period 60,276 40,368

Transfer to retained profits at REIER B EREREB T
maturity date - (40,368)
Additions upon issue FOEEFTRRE AN - 60,276
At the end of the reporting period R 23R EF 60,276 60,276

As at 31 March 2023, the remaining principal amount of the CBs
was approximately HK$103,076,730 (equivalent to RMB90,441,985)
(2022: HK$103,076,730 (equivalent to RMB83,611,720)). Should
the conversion rights attaching to the CBs due in 2023 be exercised
in full, additional 264,299,307 ordinary shares would have been
allotted and issued, which represent approximately 3.7% of the
issued share capital of the Company at 31 March 2023.

HUA YIN INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED 2 & BB 4% R A R A 7]

RZBE_ZF=ZA=+—8" [k
BEH 2B T AL L A103,076,7307%5
T (HRER AR Q0,441,9857T) (=&
103,076,730 T (FHE R AR
#83,611,7207T)) » i —ZE == 3|
AR E R T 2 IR R BT
I i BE HNAC 3% % 3517 264,299,307 Bt
mi - BER=E_=F=A=+—H
ZARRREBITIRAL3.7% °



25.SHARE CAPITAL PENE

Number of
ordinary shares Nominal value
EERYE HfE
'000 HK$'000 RMB’000
T FAT ARBT
Authorised: RE
Ordinary shares of HK$0.05 each BREE.05 BT Rk 15,600,000 780,000 684,000
Issued: B&f7:
Ordinary shares of HK$0.05 each SREE0.5 AT, EAR
At 31 March 2023 RZBEZ=$=A=1-H 7,203,639 360,182 311,453
At 31 March 2022 RZEZZF=R=1-H 6,764,286 338,214 292,554
A summary of movements in the Company’s issued share capital is EBEARNRIZE R ITHRAEHIMEEHT
as follows: mr
Number of Issued share
shares in issue capital
2817 BT
R1DEE (&N
Note ’000 RMB’000
BteE T AREEFTT
At 1 April 2022 RZE__FmMHA—H 6,764,286 292,554
The conversion of convertible AR B SR
preference shares (@) 439,353 18,899
At 31 March 2023 RZEZ=F=A=+—H 7,203,639 311,453
(a) During the year, an aggregate of 439,352,941 ordinary shares of @@ TR P R1439,352,941 BRI EE
the Company were allotted and issued upon the conversion of [B] AT HARR B S AR - A AT D AR &
439,352,941 non-redeemable convertible preference shares. 2175 4 439,352,941 fR L @R o
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26. CONVERTIBLE PREFERENCE SHARES

On

27 July 2016, the Company allotted and issued 4,539,352,941

Convertible Preference Shares (“CPS”) at an issue price of HK$0.85

per
sati

share to Ka Yik, a company beneficially owned by Ms. Cui, for
sfaction of part of the consideration in respect of the Ka Yun

Acquisition, being an aggregate amount of HK$3,858,450,000
(RMB3,320,582,000).

Key terms of the CPS are as follows:

(1)

©)

)

The CPS shall not confer on the holders thereof the right to
receive notices of, or to attend and vote, at the general meetings
of the Company, unless a resolution is to be proposed at the
general meeting which if passed would vary or abrogate the
rights or privileges of holders of the CPS.

Holders of the CPS have the right to convert each CPS, during
the conversion period, into ordinary share(s) of the Company
at the CPS conversion price. The holders may exercise the
conversion right, provided that any conversion of the CPS does
not result in (i) the CPS conversion shares being issued at a
price below their nominal value as at the conversion date; or (i) if
immediately after such conversion, the public float of the shares
being less than 25% (or any given percentage as required by
the Listing Rules). The ordinary shares of the Company when
allotted and issued upon the exercise of the conversion right of
the CPS shall rank equally among themselves and pari passu in
all respects with the ordinary shares of the Company in issue on
the date of allotment and issuance.

The CPS cannot be redeemed by the Company or the holder of
CPS.

The CPS is transferrable subject to the conditions stated in the
terms of the CPS and in accordance with the provision as set
out in the Company’s bye-laws.

HUA YIN INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED # ZEIEE#Z R B R A 7
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26.CONVERTIBLE PREFERENCE SHARES

(Continued)

Key terms of the CPS are as follows: (Continued)

(6) CPS shall confer on the CPS holders the right to be paid, in
priority to any return of assets in respect of the ordinary shares
of the Company, pari passu as between themselves an amount
equal to the aggregate notional value of the CPS plus all
dividends accrued and unpaid with respect thereto, whereupon
if the assets of the Company available for distribution shall be
insufficient to provide for full payment to holders of the CPS, the
Company shall make payment on the CPS on a pro rata basis
on return of capital on liquidation, winding up or dissolution of
the Company. The CPS do not confer on the holders of CPS any
further or other right to participate in the assets of the Company
upon liquidation, winding up or dissolution of the Company.

Subject to compliance with all applicable laws and the bye-laws
of the Company, each CPS shall confer on its holder the right to
receive an accrued and cumulative fixed dividend commencing from
the date of the issue of the CPS on a yearly basis at a rate of 0.2%
of the nominal value of HK$0.05 of each CPS outstanding in priority
to any dividend in respect of any other class of shares in the capital
of the Company, payable annually in arrears. However, the CPS
holder(s) has unconditionally and irrevocably waived the receipt of
such preferred dividend.

The CPS is classified as equity instruments in the Group’s
consolidated financial statements with the following considerations:

(@) The CPS holder(s) has unconditionally and irrevocably waived its
right to receive the preferred distribution; and as such, the Group
does not have a contractual obligation to deliver cash or other
financial assets arising from the issue of the CPS. Therefore,
there is no liability component of the CPS.

(b) The conversion options of the CPS will be settled by the
exchange of a fixed amount for a fixed number of equity
instruments.

26. [ IR IR B AR ()

AR B R EBIERMT - ()

(5) IR ST T Al A B TS A
AN RARBER - BERIEARE
BAE EARARAEERERE
TREEELE  TRFHEEE
REMSNARRELEEERR
TRAMABHERZ R RARMNK
B EHARR A EDIREET R
NN T RIRBEERBRFAA
RA R RIZEIR L Pt rTHR A B SE AR 1
B o AIAE LT & i T AT
BB B A — PR E A
F o ARANDRANEER - AR AR
SEARNRNBZEE

FREMBERERRARAR ZARMHA
At - SRRATIBREEREE TERAE
ANEMNESETRIFTEERS  BE
BRI RRELERBITHRRIREEESE
2it SEATREBITTRRELR
HE{E0.05/8 752 0.2% * BN AR A
A& AN P ] E A B R AR 0 B R 2 A (] iR
B WRBFFERINM - AR - AJEK
BERFFA A E G XA Hh #
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H
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26.CONVERTIBLE PREFERENCE SHARES 26.
(Continued)

During the year, the remaining outstanding 439,352,941 CPS
were converted into 439,352,941 ordinary shares of the Company.
Accordingly, as at 31 March 2023, no CPSs (2022: 439,352,941
CPSs) remained outstanding.

27.SHARE OPTION SCHEME 21.

The Company operates a share option scheme (the “Scheme”)
for the purpose of providing incentives and rewards to eligible
participants who contribute to the success of the Group’s
operations.

The summary of the Scheme’s key terms is as follows:

(1) Purpose To recognise and acknowledge the
contributions or potential contributions made
or to be made by the participants to the
Group or any entity in which the Group holds
any equity interests (the “Invested Entity”),
to motivate the participants to optimise their
performance and efficiency for the benefit
of the Group or the Invested Entity, and to
maintain or attract business relationship with
the participants whose contributions are or
may be beneficial to the growth of the Group
or the Invested Entity.
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27.SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued) 27. [ IR HE T &I (4])

The summary of the Scheme’s key terms is as follows: (Continued) SEIFZRRCBENT - (B)
(2) Participants Share options may be granted to the () £H1E ERETR T2 HE
participants, being: & B
(a) any person being an employee (including (@) AR BT
any executive director), officer (including BARSEMIEE
any non-executive director and B2 EB(BIE
independent non-executive director), WITES) afk
substantial shareholder, consultant, agent, AB(BIEFEMHE
professional adviser, customer, business WITEZERBEL

partner, joint venture partner, strategic
partner, landlord or tenant of, or any
supplier or provider of goods or services
to, the Company or any subsidiary or
any Invested Entity, or any trustee(s) of a
discretionary trust of which one or more

FHITESR)
R - BRH K
B EXEEE
F®¥BEH A
BRH KB
e RTHETS

beneficiaries belong to any of the above M2 &) s ] Ff
mentioned category(ies) of persons, or any BARISEMIEE
company beneficially owned by any of the ERREHEMMR
above mentioned category(ies) of persons; T 2 A FE R 3k
or EHELIBIEET
2 ERZFEA (K
Btz —&z&Z %
Xm AERB it

T —EER A
=+ R ER—
ERRMALTE R
BzEARA):
%
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27.SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

The summary of the Scheme’s key terms is as follows: (Continued)

(2) Participants Share options may be granted to the
participants, being: (Continued)

(b) any other person who the Board may
determine in its absolute discretion, has
made valuable contribution to the business
of the Group or Invested Entity based on
his performance and/or years of service,
or is regarded as valuable resources of
the Group or the Invested Entity based
on his work experience, knowledge in
the industry and other relevant factors,
or is expected to be able to contribute to
the prosperity, business development or
growth of the Group or the Invested Entity
based on his/its business connection or
network or other relevant factors.

(8) Total number 137,145,000 shares, being 10% of the total
of shares number of shares in issue as at the date of
available for  refreshment of the scheme mandate limit on
issue 14 September 2016 and being 2.03% of the

total number of shares in issue as at the date
of this annual report.
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27.SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

The summary of the Scheme’s key terms is as follows: (Continued)

(4) Maximum
entitlement
of each
participant

(6) Option period

(6) Minimum period
for which an
option must
be held
before it can
vest

(7) Payment on
acceptance
of option

In any 12-month period:

(a) for each grantee, not exceeding 1% of the
aggregate number of shares for the
time being in issue (including exercised,
cancelled and outstanding options);

(b) for substantial shareholders and
independent non-executive directors, not
over 0.1% of the number of shares then
in issue and not having an aggregate
value in excess of HK$5 million (including
options exercised, cancelled and
outstanding); unless separately approved
by independent shareholders at general
meetings.

A 10 years’ period commencing from the date
as specified in the grant letter and expiring on
the earliest of the last day of the said period
or such time as specified in the Share Option
Scheme and/or the grant letter.

No minimum period before the options can be
exercised unless otherwise imposed by the
Board at its absolute discretion.

HK$1.00 in cash to be payable on acceptance
within 21 days from the date of grant.
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27.SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

The summary of the Scheme’s key terms is as follows: (Continued)

(8) Subscription To be determined by the Board and shall be
price at least the highest of:

(@) the closing price of the shares as stated
in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations
sheet on the date of the grant of the
option, which must be a business day;

(b) the average of the closing prices of the
shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s
daily quotations sheets for the five
business days immediately preceding the
date of the grant of the option; and

(¢) the nominal value of the shares.

(9) Life A period of 10 years commencing on 5
September 2012 (being the date on which the
Scheme is adopted) and expired on the tenth
anniversary of such date, i.e, 5 September
2022.
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27.SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

The terms and conditions of the share options granted under the

21. /BT 8 (&)

RIBE B 2 BB A b 2 AR S Ak 1 4n

Scheme were as follows: I
Number of share options
BREHA
As at Exercised Forfeited/ As at Exercise
1 April during lapsed during 31 March Exercise price per
Grantees 2022 the year the year 2023 Date of grant period ™" share option
R=B==f FR R-BoZE ShiERE
ARA MmA-A ERfifE Rb/%%  =A=t-8 RAAH frfemuey e
HK'S
BT
Employees & 30,000,000 - - 30,000,000 19/06/2014 19/06/2014 - 0980
18/06/2024
2,840,000 - - 2,840,000 18/04/2016 18/04/2016 - 0980
17/04/2026
Others HAh 6,000,000 - - 6,000,000 19/06/2014 19/06/2014 - 0980
18/06/2024
5,400,000 - (300,000) 5,100,000 241102014 24/10/2015- 1.200
28/10/2024
7,550,000 - (90,000) 7,460,000 18/04/2016 18/04/2016 - 0980
17/04/2026
Total @5t 51,790,000 - (390,000 51,400,000
Notes: BisE -

1. For the share options granted on 19 June 2014, 100% of the share
options became exercisable from 19 June 2014.

For the share options granted on 24 October 2014, 50% of the share
options became exercisable from 24 October 2015, and the remaining
50% of the share options became exercisable from 24 October 2016.

For the share options granted on 18 April 2016, 30% of the share
options became exercisable from 18 April 2016, 30% of the share
options became exercisable from 18 April 2017 and the remaining 40%
of the share options became exercisable commencing from 18 April
2018.

1.

HR-_F-OERATABRBZER
- 100% BRES —T-MOFRATN
Hn FITfE

HR-Z—mE+ A -+ BEFE 2 B
o 50%BERES —E—RF+H -+
B#EA] F17fF - MERT50%ERIES =
T RNFETAZ AR T -

HR-ZE—RENATNBREZER
T 30%HBRER —T—NFMNA+NR
REE FAT6E - 0% ERER — T —tF
WMA+/\NBREAFITE - T 40% B K
EE-ZT-N\FEA+N\BEATITE -
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The following share options were outstanding under the Scheme

Ep7s — o —

HEZTZ

=F=A=+—AILER

27.SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e SRR M

For the year ended 31 March 2023

21. /B R 8 (&)

FARIERT B R ARITE BT

during the year:
2022
—EC-=E —EC-CF
Weighted Weighted
average average
exercise price Number of exercise price Number of
per share options per share options
BRmE BiRkmE
FTEE BREHE THTEE BREHA
HK$ '000 HKS '000
B T BT T
Outstanding at 1 Apri RIA—BiRFTE 1.0029 51,790 1.0029 51,790
Exercised during the year N/A &R - N/A N -
Lapsed/Forfeited during the year A%/ 78 1.1492 (390) N/A N -
Outstanding at 31 March R=A=+—BHKTE 1.0018 51,400 1.0029 51,790
Exercisable at 31 March REZA=+—BAFI#E 1.0018

The exercise prices and exercise periods of the share options
outstanding as at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

51,400

1.0029 51,790

RERHR W RITEBREZTEER

TERIT

2023 2022
—E-=F —E_F
Number of options Number of options Exercise price Exercise period
BREZE EAEE B per share 1T ER
BRRITRE
HK$
BT
2,319,000 2,319,000 0.98 18/04/2016 — 17/04/2026
3,459,000 3,459,000 0.98 18/04/2017 — 17/04/2026
4,522,000 4,612,000 0.98 18/04/2018 — 17/04/2026
36,000,000 36,000,000 0.98 19/06/2014 — 18/06/2024
2,500,000 2,800,000 1.20 24/10/2015 — 23/10/2024
2,600,000 2,600,000 1.20 24/10/2016 - 23/10/2024
51,400,000 51,790,000
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27.SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

No share option expense was recognised during the years ended
31 March 2023 and 2022 as all the above share options had been

fully vested in prior years.

The fair value of equity-settled share options granted, was estimated

as at the respective dates of grant using a binomial model, taking

into account the terms and conditions upon which the options were

granted. The following table lists the inputs to the model used:

21. /BT 8 (&)

HE_ZT_="FRk_FT__F=A
ST —HIEFE  UEERERER
X ER EERERNBTFESR
=8 o

ERDNESGEE 2 BREAAEER
AoAAREEEREAYLERRLE
B 2 R MR RN SR B B
ite TRIHAEREZBAER -

Date of grant

REAH
19 June 24 October 18 April
2014 2014 2016
“E-MF —E-mF ZE-RE
~ATHA +A=t+mA mA+N\A
Dividend yield (%) BREE (%) 0% 0% 0%
Expected volatility (%) TREKIE (%) 49.89% 49.12% 57.34%
Risk-free interest rate (%) EERAE (%) 2.02% 1.75% 1.26%
Expected life of share options (year) BREEHFH(F) 10 10 10
Fair value at measurement date (HK$) R EBZAREEET) 045 0.39 0.34
Weighted average share price (HK3) IETRRE (BT 0.98 0.91 0.78

The expected life of the options is based on the historical data
over the past three years and is not necessarily indicative of the
exercise patterns that may occur. The expected volatility reflects the
assumption that the historical volatility is indicative of future trends,
which may also not necessarily be the actual outcome.

No other feature of the options granted was incorporated into the
measurement of fair value.

At the end of the reporting period, the Company had 51,400,000
(2022: 51,790,000) share options outstanding under the Scheme
and all of the outstanding share options are exercisable. The
exercise in full of the outstanding share options would, under
the present capital structure of the Company, result in the issue
of 51,400,000 additional ordinary shares of the Company and
additional share capital of RMB2,255,000 (before issue expenses)
which represented approximately 0.71% of the Company’s shares in
issue as at that date.

BB FHIRBEEE=ZF2EL
BIBESH  RB—ERBAIEELEZTT
A8 o TR IR IR S R R AR R SR 1R B
BARKBE 2R ER - TRAlgEEEEER
RERAT o

AEQREERSEIARMAIRLE
BREZEE -

RERBR ARAREFEE
51,400,000 ( —= — — £F : 51,790,000)
DEERRE R RITHE - MATARITHERER
R TFIIE - BERAARRITERRE
# BEITERRITEERESESEE
4N 8 £751,400,000 B A& A 7] & i Ak &
738 A% A A R ¥ 2,255,000 7T ( K &t %
TR hARAZBEEITRGBA
0.71% °
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 #HEZE—ZT=-—=F=A=+—HIFE

28.RESERVES

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements therein

for
sta

the current and prior years are presented in the consolidated
tement of changes in equity of the consolidated financial

statements.

@i

(ii)

(i)

(i)

Share premium

The application of the share premium account is governed by
the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (as amended).

Exchange reserve

The exchange reserve comprises all foreign exchange
differences arising from the translation of the financial statements
of foreign operations and is dealt with in accordance with the
accounting policies adopted for foreign currency translation.

Contributed surplus

The contributed surplus of the Company arose from the capital
reduction in May 2006, which consists of share capital reduction
and cancellation of the entire amount of the share premium
account of the Company as at 31 March 2005. Under the
Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (as amended), a company
shall not declare or pay a dividend, or make a distribution out
of the contributed surplus, if there are reasonable grounds for
believing that (a) the Company is, or would after the payment
be, unable to pay its liabilities as they become due; or (b) the
realisable value of the Company’s assets would thereby be less
than its liabilities.

Share option reserve

The share option reserve comprises the fair value of share
options granted which are yet to be exercised, as further
explained in the accounting policy for share-based payment
transactions in the notes to the consolidated financial
statements.
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28.RESERVES (Continued)

(v) Other reserves

28. 15

(&)

(v) Eftef#eE

2023 2022

—E_=F —E-F

Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

sk ARBT AREBFT

Merger reserve GO (@) (3,316,856) (3,316,856)
Deemed capital contribution 8 {EH EREMHE

reserve (b) 58,382 58,382

Others HAh, 4,692 4,692

(3,253,782) (3,253,782)

(@) The merger reserve represents the difference in the fair value

of the consideration paid to Ka Yun in respect of the Ka Yun

Acquisition and the carrying amount of the net assets of the

Ka Yun Group at the date when the Ka Yun Group became

under common control of the ultimate shareholder of the

Company.

(b) The deemed capital contribution reserve represented the

derecognition of the listed equity investment and gave rise to
a gain on disposal of RMB58,382,000 during the year ended
31 March 2019 which was considered as deemed capital

contribution from the Company’s controlling shareholder.

(vi) Statutory reserve

According to the PRC Company Law, each of the PRC
subsidiaries of the Group is required to transfer 10% of its after

tax profit, calculated in accordance with the PRC accounting

standards and regulations, to the statutory surplus reserve until

the reserve balance reaches 50% of the registered capital. The

statutory surplus reserve can be utilised, upon approval of the

relevant authorities, to offset accumulated losses or to increase

registered capital of the PRC subsidiaries, provided that such

fund is maintained at a minimum level of 25% of the registered

capital.

EHERELRBUESANT
FEZREZARBEEREE
B AR B REBRARESZ
ARBEEEZFEEREECE
B

BIELERBREREZE=ZE—A
FZAZT—ALFERITE
RETRBEEETEEARKE
58,382,000 7T 2 I E iz - 1R
RARNAERBRR ZGIELE -
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AFVERRETE R ERIRADIT
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 #HEZE—ZT=-—=F=A=+—HIFE

29.CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Other than disclosed elsewhere, the Group has the following
contingent liabilities:

The Group has arranged bank financing for certain purchasers of
property units developed by subsidiaries of the Group that provided
guarantees to secure obligation of such purchasers for repayments.
As at 31 March 2023, guarantees amounting to RMB341.1 million
were given to banks with respect to mortgage loans procured by
purchasers of property units (as at 31 March 2022: RMB378.0
million). Such guarantees terminate upon the earlier of (i) issuance
of the real estate ownership certificate to the purchasers and (i) the
satisfaction of mortgage loans by the purchasers of properties.

Pursuant to the terms of the guarantees, upon default in mortgage
payments by these purchasers, the Group is responsible for
repaying the outstanding mortgage principals together with accrued
interest and penalty owed by the defaulted purchasers to the banks
and the Group is entitled to take over the legal title and possession
of the related properties. The Group’s guarantee period starts from
the dates of grant of the mortgages. During the year, the Group did
not incur any material losses in respect of any of these guarantees.
The directors consider that the likelihood of default in payments
by the purchasers is minimal and therefore the financial guarantee
initially measured at fair value is immaterial. Also, in case of default

2. AREE

BrREMEE
Raf

BEEIN  AEEBEATH

mht

REBRETWBARMARYESN
ZETERERRITREZHE - LR
ZEERBTENETRBER K=

T-=F=ZA=+—H HWEEBELE
RER ZIRIBERARITIREZ ERSE
A AR 341,100,000t (R=F ==
F=H=+—8: AR%378,000,000
TT) ° BREEERBHRA TR FEMARIL
(MBERFELFEES (NMEBERE
HRIBEX °

RBERG - WZFEEFIERIZEBN
FARBAERERRITEERZVER
IR AZ AN IZB A ER B E K
TR MAKREEREWABYEZ
AEFMERLERR - ARBERMHZE
REBARIZBE L AR - FA - AE

B3 R E A SRR MBREIMEX
B -BERRBEBRERNRZA
BEMERIE - Eit - YIZRANEBEFE
ZHEERLAERX © peHh - AR A
K BB EEL 2 AT R R R ES R
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in payments, the net realisable value of the related property units PAMEE R IR BE FUE R [ FEETFE
would be sufficient to repay the outstanding mortgage loans REVFR - A ML % ARG IR
together with any accrued interest and penalty, and therefore no =
provision has been made in connection with the guarantees.
30. COMMITMENTS 30. &
Commitments for development expenditure BEMR ZEIE
The Group had the following capital commitments at the end of the REBEREMPREUATERALE :
reporting period:
2023 2022
—E-=F B
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET AREFTT
Contracted, but not provided for: 2 5T #1{E R -
— Properties under development - ZER Y% 196,800 7,300




31.RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS NEBEALTZRS

(a) Other than disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial (QBRGEVERREMIBOAERS
statements, the Group had the following significant transactions N REBRFERNEFEATENAT
with related parties during the year: BEARS

2023 2022
—EB-=F B F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET AREFIT

() Entities controlled by aclose (i) AQAIZIRALR EBREE
family member of a B FTES 2 BES -
controlling shareholder of

=

the Company:
Service expenses paid BT RIS E - 148
Rental expenses paid: ENHESMAXL

— a motor vehicle - ¥ 380 178

- office premises - PN 698 698
Building management fees paid: BT AEEREE :

- office premises /N /ES 40 40

1,118 1,064
The related party transactions in respect of service FFRBERY BeAIEKR
expenses, rental expenses and building management fees EEBEMPREEATZSHI
above also constitute continuing connected transactions B ETRAIE1AAZFTREZ
as defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. The service BEREXS - REFEX - He
expenses, rental expenses and building management fees A RREBTEERE EMHRA
were exempted from the reporting announcement and FUAEERCEBTHRR  AE
independent shareholders’ approval requirements pursuant MIBS IR ALEIRTE ©
to Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
(i) A controlling shareholder (i) ADEHERRARER -

of the Company:
Coupon interest on CBs MREFZEENE 6,129 3,427
Interest on loans from —BIERBREEFRFE

a controlling shareholder 475 =

6,604 3,427

Annual Report 2022/23 4 213



214

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R IR AR

For the year ended 31 March 2023 HZEZZT==F=A=+—HIFE

31.RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

NEBEALZRS (&)

(b) Key management personnel L) EEEEAE
2023 2022
—E-=F —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AREEFTT
Compensation for key TEIE A B RN
management personnel, (BEMTFARAEEK
including the amounts paid to & THR= % EE 2 FE
the Company’s directors and ~ (FAM{ZE8 R OHE)) I ¢
certain of the highest paid
employees, as disclosed in
notes 8 and 9, is as follows:
Fees we 1,055 747
Other emoluments: HEiis -
Salaries, allowances and e RMREYFE
benefits in kind 6,841 6,611
Discretionary bonuses [l=praan 84 81
Pension scheme contributions 3R REHEI 3k 273 246
7,198 6,938
Total compensation paid to key & FEBEE A B RMN4EEE
management personnel 8,253 7,685
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32.NOTE TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 32.AZEHEREXRME
OF CASH FLOWS

Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities EREEHmMEE2EER
Interest Liability
Loans from bearing bank component of
a controlling and other the Convertible
Lease shareholder borrowings Bonds
liabilities - &R it BRAT TRRES
HEEE BRRER REMEE BEHS
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETT AREFT ANRETT
At 1 April 2022 i —
MA—H 41,133 234,819 711,594 79,267
Net cash flows bt (12,510) 92,046 (36,898) -
Exchange realignment B A% 162 6,919 - 4,656
Interest on lease liabilities HEAREAS 1,715 - - -
New leases HiE 7,495 - - -
Accrued effective interest B ERFS - - - 6,129
Settlement of interest payable JERTH S EHAR,
through the loans from —RIERER
a controling shareholder BREE - 20,706 - -
At 31 March 2023 it Sk
=A=t+-H 37,995 354,490 674,696 90,052
At 1 April 2021 R-E-—F
MA—H
As previously stated BEER 44,928 121,415 800,090 72,879
Prior year reclassffication BEFEENHBRE
adjustment - (48,800) - -
As restated mE 44,928 72,615 800,090 72,879
Net cash flows RenETs (18,682) 176,880 (88,496) =
Exchange realignment 5% (57) (3,314) - (2,846)
Interest on lease liabilities HEBEFE 4,230 = = =
New leases nHE 10,714 = = =
Accrued effective interest JESHERAE - - - 3,427
Issuance of CBs due in 2023 S 21 g
REFET - (84,283) - 78,728
Settlement of CBs due in 2021 ZE—FHHA’
through the loans from REFAIHA
a controling shareholder BB — %
at maturity date BRRREHER - 72,921 - (72,921)
At 31 March 2022 R-B-—%
=R=1t-H 41,133 234,819 711,594 79,267
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e ISR AR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2023 #HEZE—ZT=-—=F=A=+—HIFE

33.FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF R.€MI A AREBERAAE
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BEER
Financial instruments by category ZERE 22T A
2023 —E-=HE
Financial assets ERMEE
Financial
assets
at fair value Financial
through profit assets at
or loss amortised cost
BAREE BRBERA
HFABRZ 1) Total
SREE SRMEE gt
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET R ARET R ARETT
Financial assets included in FTARIE SR B R
trade and other receivables WAz ©REE - 17,864 17,864
Derivative financial instruments T4 &I T A 2,310 - 2,310
Pledged and restricted deposits = #4# & 5 [R $l173% - 6,335 6,335
Cash and cash equivalents Be RREEEY - 69,939 69,939
2,310 94,138 96,448
Financial liabilities EHMEE
Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost
R 8 R A
FIBR 2
sHas
RMB’000
AR®T T
Financial liabilities included in trade  &5F AT & F BRFK & B FE T 5RIE
and other payables ZERBE 448,149
Lease liabilities HEAE 37,995
Liability component of ARRESFaES
the Convertible Bonds 90,052
Loans from a controlling shareholder — 222 A% A% R & =k 354,490
Bank and other borrowings RITREMEE 674,696
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33.FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF B.£®MIBEZAREBERAAE
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) BEE4&R(E)
Financial instruments by category (Continued) RERHE S z2em I A (&)
2022 —E-F
Financial assets TRIBE
Financial
assets
at fair value Financial
through profit assets at
or loss amortised cost
BAREE REERAR
AR L Total
TREE SREE Bt
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETTT ARETT
Financial assets included in SFARIE SR H Ath fE
trade and other receivables WIE 2 ©RVEE = 19,329 19,329
Derivative financial instruments  $74 ¢ g T & 9,709 - 9,709
Pledged and restricted deposits = #4# & 5 [R $l773% - 7,596 7,596
Cash and cash equivalents HeRReEEY - 93,151 93,151
9,709 120,076 129,785
Financial liabilities TRBaE
Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost
A AR
HERZ
SRIBE
RMB’000
ANREET T
Financial liabilities included in trade  FF AT 2 F BRFK R B FE R /I8
and other payables ZERBE 481,876
Lease liabilities HEAE 41,133
Liability component of gRESFaEES
the Convertible Bonds 79,267
Loans from a controling shareholder — 22 A% A% B B 7k 234,819
Bank and other borrowings RITREMEE 711,694

1,548,689
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e SRR M

For the year ended 31 March 2023 #HEZE—ZT=-—=F=A=+—HIFE

33.FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF B2 I AZAAEBERAIAE

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) BEEHK(E)
Fair value of financial instruments ERMIBZAAEE

The carrying amounts and fair values of the Group’s financial rEEeRTIAZEREERAABEN

instruments are as follows: e
Carrying amounts Fair values
FAEE DAEE
2023 2022 2023 2022
—ECCE —E-oCF —EBC=E —EoCE
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETR AREFTL ARETR ARETTL
Financial assets SREE
Derivative financial instruments TEEMTE 2,310 9,709 2,310 9,709
2,310 9,709 2,310 9,709
Financial liabilities SREE
Loans from a controling shareholder —#i2IRR & 354,490 234,819 354,490 234,819
Lease liabilities HEAR 37,995 41133 37,995 41133
Bank and other borrowings RTRAMEE 674,696 711,594 700,568 750,282
Liability component of the TAREFEESD
Convertible Bonds 90,052 79,267 91,343 83,611
1,157,233 1,066,813 1,184,396 1,100,845

Management has assessed that the fair values of cash and
cash equivalents, pledged and restricted deposits and financial
assets included in trade and other receivables and financial
liabilities included in trade and other payables approximate to their
carrying amounts largely due to the short term maturities of these
instruments.

The Group’s finance department headed by the chief financial officer
is responsible for determining the policies and procedures for the
fair value measurement of financial instruments. The chief financial
officer reports directly to the audit committee. At each reporting
date, the finance manager analyses the movements in the values
of financial instruments and determines the major inputs applied in
the valuation. The valuation is reviewed and approved by the chief
financial officer.

HUA YIN INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED # ZEIEE#Z R B R A 7
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33.FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
Fair value of financial instruments (Continued)

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are included
at the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged in a
current transaction between willing parties, other than in a forced or
liquidation sale. The following methods and assumptions were used
to estimate the fair values:

The fair values of the bank and other borrowings and the liability
component of the Convertible Bonds have been calculated by
discounting the expected future cash flows using rates currently
available for instruments with similar terms, credit risk and remaining
maturities. The Group’s own non-performance risk for bank and
other borrowings and the CBs as at 31 March 2023 and 2022 was
assessed to be insignificant.

Fair value hierarchy

The following tables illustrate the fair value measurement hierarchy
of the Group’s financial instruments:

B.E@MIAEZAARBERAIA

1

\

BEEHR(EA)
ERMTAEZQEEGE)

B sRHEN  cREENREE
ZRBERABRRANN ZEETR
BRGHAIRBTIAZ % - LW TE
REBERERAMETRAEE

RITREMEBEURTRRESREEDD
DRZANBEEDERBBIRZBEERR 5
E R R R 5 HABARR LAIR A 3t T A 4R
W2 TR EFRBARRRESRTE o
R =ZFR-_FT-__F=ZfF=+—
B AEEAFRBTREMEEAR
AgkEFZ TBORBRE T EATE

Fair value measurement
as at 31 March 2023 using
RRANTHER-8==F

ZA=t-BZAAEENE

Significant

Significant unobservable

Quoted pricesin  observable inputs inputs

active markets (Level 2) (Level 3)

(Level 1) EATER EATTEE
ERMIHEHRE BABE BARE Total
(%) (B=&) (B=#) @zt
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TT AR¥TFR AR¥FR AR¥TR
Derivative financial instruments TESRTA - - 2,310 2,310
- - 2,310 2,310
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 HZEZZT==F=A=+—HIFE

33.FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

33.

EMTAZAARBERAIAE

BEER(E)

IRBEEFR(E)

Fair value measurement

as at 31 March 2022 using
RANTEBER-_Z__F
ZA=T—BeRnBEHE

Significant

Significant unobservable

Quoted prices in observable inputs inputs

active markets (Level 2) (Level 3)

(Level 1) EATBR EATAEHR
RET S HE BARE BAYE Total
() (F=8) (E=R) ozt
RMB’'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000
AREFT AREFT AREFT AREFT
Derivative financial instruments fTEEBIE - = 9,709 9,709
- - 9,709 9,709

Below is a summary of significant unobservable inputs to the

valuation of financial instruments together with a quantitative

sensitivity analysis as at 31 March 2023 and 2022:

UTAER_E_=FR T -_—"F=H
—t+—HERMITAFHBEZERATITER
BABBEZHE BRELCHERESD

#r
Significant

Valuation unobservable
techniques inputs Range
BRI EATUEERARE &
Early redemption rights embedded Binomial Expected volatility 44.3%
in the CBs pricing model BHRIE (2022: 44.3%)
HR AR B2 R AT B 1 AT ERR (ZEZZF 1 44.3%)

HUA YIN INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED 2 & BB 4% R A R A 7]



33.FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

The fair value of the early redemption rights embedded in convertible
bonds is determined using the binomial pricing model and the
significant unobservable input used in the fair value measurement
is the expected volatility. The fair value measurement is positively
correlated to the expected volatility.

During the year, there were no transfers of fair value measurements
between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers into or out of Level 3
for both financial assets and financial liabilities (2022: Nil).

The movements in fair value measurements within Level 3, which
only comprises the early redemptive rights embedded in the
Convertible Bonds, during the year are set out in note 24 to the
consolidated financial statement.

34.FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments, other than derivatives,
comprise the CBs, bank and other borrowings, pledged and
restricted deposits and cash and cash equivalents. The main
purpose of these financial instruments is to raise finance for the
Group’s operations. The Group has various other financial assets
and liabilities such as trade and other receivables/payables and
lease liabilities which arise directly from its operations.

It is, and has been throughout the year under review, the Group’s
policy that no trading in financial instruments shall be undertaken.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are
foreign currency risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. The Board of
Directors reviews and agrees policies for managing each of these
risks and they are summarised below.

BE@MIAEZAABERED A

B}

BEEHR (&)
IREBEESR(E)

BRAFBBES ZIRABEREZ R E
BNER-EAREEERLEE M
NREBEFEMBZEATABEREA
BB RTAHKE - ARBEFEREY
IR A EERE -

FRNREeMEERSBAGBNS  F
—BEE—JAABENEZEWEE
B ONEERENERAE=RAAE
BEEB(ZZE__F |)-

FR RE=ZMRAZANBEFEZE
8 (RBERARRRIESZEFED
B BN e M RRME24 -

IHEREERERBK

BROTET RN AEBTESHTA
BREABRERES  RITEEMGEER
HEHEZRBFFRARRE MRS FE
Yo ZEEMTARER/AKEZRY
BE5ET AKEAZREAMESREE
REfE  mEY ENESRRREAMm
U TENREREERE  DEEE

75 B3R A R A BRI 0 R A A 2 BRSR 13
TPReMIAES -

AEBZEMTAMEL 2T Z2RERS
SMNERER - EERBRMREBE SRR o
EECRERIKAESRHERRZE
R - WA e
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 #HEZE—ZT=-—=F=A=+—HIFE

34.FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 34.
AND POLICIES (Continued)

Foreign currency risk

The Group’s exposure to foreign currency risk mainly arises from
the Group’s debts denominated in HK$ which were borrowed
by the Group’s entities with the functional currency of HK$, while
the Group’s presentation currency of the consolidated financial
statements is RMB.

Since the Group mainly engages in its business operations in
the PRC, transactional currency exposure arising from sales or
purchases in currencies other RMB has an immaterial impact on the
Group’s results and equity.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity as at 31 March
2023 to a reasonably possible change in the HK$ or US$ and
RMB exchange rates, with all other variables held constant, of
the Group’s equity (due to translation of the operating results and
financial position of each subsidiary with functional currencies other
than RMB into the presentation currency of RMB used for the
consolidated financial statements of the Group).

BRRREEERRBR (&)

SN R e

AREE 2 HMER B £ 2R B ANK BB
TERHEZ B - REEB I AREZE
BEA MEREFEBZVEEBERE
T MAKRERGEVBHRE 2R
BERARE -

HRAKREEERNTEEERS - BE
BEARBIINEE 2 X5 EE R R
REERREEENESZETA -

TERERR-T-=F=A=+—0%
TRETHARBEE? ABTHED
SRS B (R B TR B AR
W OASN 2 S B AT 2 4B R BT
R R AR AR A BT T 2 27
AR 2 SR AT - BRI
TS RBMRTE -

Increase/ Increase/
(decrease) (decrease)
in exchange rate in equity
B R,
i, ) OGR4
% RMB’000
% ARETT
2023 —B-=F
RMB strengthens against HK$ AR R ABTLHE 7 (15,639)
RMB weakens against HK$ AREEH BT E ) 15,639
RMB strengthens against USD AREHETIHE 7 3,894
RMB weakens against USD AR HETERE ] (3,894)
2022 it — — o
RMB strengthens against HK$ AR HABTLHE 3 4,590
RMB weakens against HK$ AR H BT E ©) (4,590)
RMB strengthens against USD AR HETHE 3 233
RMB weakens against USD AR HETRE ©) (233)
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34.FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES (Continued)
Credit risk

The Group is exposed to credit risk in relation to its trade and
other receivables, pledged bank deposit and bank balances due
to counterparties’ inability to meet its financial obligations to make
repayments.

Credit risk arising from trade receivables

The Group closely monitors the collection of progress payments
from customers in accordance with payment schedule agreed with
customers and follow up action is taken to recover overdue debts, if
any.

To measure the ECL of trade receivables, they have been grouped
based on shared credit risk characteristics that are representative
of the customers’ abilities to pay all amounts due in accordance
with the contractual terms. The Group applies a simplified approach
in calculating ECL for trade receivables and recognises a loss
allowance based on lifetime ECL at each reporting date and
has established a provision matrix that is based on its historical
credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors that
are specific to the debtors and general economic conditions of
the industry in which the counterparties operate in estimating the
probability of default of these financial assets. The expected loss rate
used in the provision matrix is calculated based on actual credit loss
experience over the past three years and historical settlement and
past experience. Expected loss rate of the overall trade receivables
from property management income is assessed to be 10% to 100%
(2022: 5% to 100%). The Group has a policy of making impairment
loss allowance on the gross carrying amount when the financial
asset is 1 year past due. At the end of the reporting period, certain
trade receivables were considered as credit-impaired and provision
for impairment of RMB14,537,000 (2022: RMB5,575,000) were
provided.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has minimal
concentration of credit risk as the trade receivables from the largest
single customer represented less than 5% (2022: 5%) of the total
trade receivables.

34. B 5 E e B 3 B R R BUR ()

EEREE

ZRER B B S b B B 5 B AR Mo EL A R
WkIR - EERRITERRIRITESRZ
FEERBRENETENBITEMBEL
TEHER -

BWEZRIEELE 2 FERR

AEBRBEREF HENNRERRE
PSR WEE P e E R - WRER
#EITBREBBER (WE)

RETERKE ZEFNBEREERSE -
EWE ZERERELREERBRER
HHETHE  BEARGEERRBRER
REBEPBEBEENGHRIZAE RS
FETFRIERIEE ) - AEBERAECAE
AEEWESEFNTEREEREE I
BESHRE AR HBEHEEHIERE
REERE  BEREEBTEEEEL
SREBEER - KRR SEFEME
EHeREEROMERRENITEDY
EAR—REEMR RN S B LEAA]
e EREITRAE - BEBERFERAD
BHEBEERBEREZ=-FNEREE
BEREHRIARE S EE RBENERT
H-REMEEBRANEERKEZES
BRI TEHEERGEE A 10% 2 100%
(ZEZZF :5%%F100%) - A5 H
HERBATE BEEcmEERR—FK
AREEEAEREBERE - N2
REBAR ETEREZERERAD
EHEERME  WIELREREAR
#14,537,000c( —F==F: Ak
5,575,000 7C) °

REBBAR - BRREZAE—RFH
ERE ZEFIGEWE ZRABE IR
5%(=ZF=_—%F :5%)  BAEEZE
EEPRBTAK o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e SRR M

For the year ended 31 March 2023 #HEZE—ZT=-—=F=A=+—HIFE

34.FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES (Continued)
Credit risk (Continued)
Credit risk arising from other receivables

In estimating the provision for impairment of other receivables and in
determining whether there is a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition, the Group has taken into account the historical
actual credit loss experience, negotiation results with the debtors,
adjusted for forward-looking factors that are specific to the debtors
with the consideration of the economy in Jilin Province in estimating
the probability of default of these financial assets, as well as the loss
upon default in each case. At the end of the reporting period, the
Group considers credit quality of certain debts worsen and had a
significant credit risk and therefore considered as credit-impaired.
The Group measures the provision for impairment at an amount

M.BEREMREEEZERBUR (F)

&R (%)
Htt R HEE 2 EE AR

PG ET E A R IR (B B R RN
BYIFERUREERR S RE R
Mg REBEFRELEREERS
BRRMEBHAZERER  WE
BARERBERRELFE > B
ERITMERERBR - AET%FS
BMEEZENRE  DEZBRTED
ZBX -REFHMR  AEER/ET
B EEERRE BREERR G
B AMBRRCEERE - AEEFE
RERE  cRASR2HBRREES

equal to the lifetime ECL and recognised provision for impairment B UERHEMERFIEREREAR
on other receivables of RMB70,934,000 (2022: RMB70,934,000). # 70,934,000t (Z T - —F: AR¥
There was no change in the significant assumptions made during 70,934,0007T) © REFFIEERBRRIL
the year. moE o

The movement of the provision for impairment for the balances are HEERREREEREMNT
summarised as below:

For the year ended 31 March 2023 BE-Z_=F=A=1+—HILFE

Deposits Deposits for Other
for land construction receivables,
development and pre-sale prepayment
expenditure of projects and deposit
THBREX BEREE HitE KA - Total
2%E BHRZERE BANREREE @5t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT AR¥TFR AR¥FR AR¥TR
At beginning of year REAN 22,095 6,741 42,098 70,934
Net increase in provision BEENTE - - - -
At 31 March 2023 RIB-=F
=hEr=E 22,095 6,741 42,098 70,934
Gross carrying amounts ERaE 22,095 6,741 53,010
Expected loss rate EHEEX 100% 100% 79%
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34.FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 34.BfiEfEE R FERBEEK (&)

AND POLICIES (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued) EER (E)

Htt Rl REEE 2 EE AR (&)

Credit risk arising from other receivables (Continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2022 BHE-_T-_—F=ZA=1+—HItFE

Deposits Deposits for Other
for land construction receivables,
development and pre-sale prepayment
expenditure of projects and deposit
THERRAX BEREE H R Total
b5 b s a ENFERES @zt
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AEBTT ARBFT ARBTT AEBTT
At beginning of year REA] 22,095 4,990 37,194 64,279
Net increase in provision BEENTE - 1,751 4,904 6,655
At 31 March 2022 i ——
=ZA=+-AH 22,095 6,741 42,098 70,934
Gross carrying amounts FRAE 22,095 6,74 46,323
Expected loss rate jib i gk 100% 100% 91%

Credit risk arising from bank balances

Substantially all of the Group’s pledged bank deposits and bank
balances were deposited in creditworthy global banks and state-
controlled financial institutions in the PRC, which management
considers they are without significant credit risks.

Liquidity risk

The Group manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate bank
deposits and cash, funding through both equity and debt financing,
monitoring forecast and actual cash flows and matching the maturity
profiles of financial assets and liabilities.

The liquidity risk is under continuous monitoring by management.
Management monitors the utilisation of borrowings. At the end of
the reporting period, the Board of Directors expected that the Group
had no significant liquidity risk in the near future.

RITHREEZEERR

AEBBRE D EERRITEFTALR
TREGERNEER N EIRRITR
BETRKE MEEERREYESE
REERR -

RBEEER

AEEEBEFRABITEANERS
IR AREBRE T AR - BERBA
LRERRERE  WREEREREER
BEZIHERRERRDE SRR

RBECABAEREEREEE - B8
BERBEZMNA - REXRBAR &=
STRPAKEN A R K RL EE AR
BETER
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For the year ended 31 March 2023

BE-_Z-_=F=A=1+—HItFE

AND POLICIES (Continued)

34.FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BA RS IR AR B 5T

Credit risk arising from bank balances (Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as at the end of

the reporting period, based on contractual undiscounted payments,

RBES R (8)

MBI EE B ERBUER (&)

RITERELE 2 EERME ()

AEER2RBRRIZEE KRR R
ZERBEIABERMAT

is as follows:
2023
“BC-=E
Less than
3 months 3to less than 1 to less than
or on demand 12 months 2 years
SR=fEA =% -z 2to 5 years Total
SREREE  SWT=fERA DRME MEELE act
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETTR ARBTR ARETT ARBTT ARETTR
Trade and other payables ERESERE RS
T 448,149 - - - 448,149
Lease labilties HERE 3,041 9,124 16,648 11,282 40,095
Loans from a controling shareholder  — 242 R E 354,490 - - - 354,490
Bank and other borrowings ROTREMEE 47,605 428,265 19,280 238,014 733,164
Liability component of the THRREFAEDS
Convertible Bonds 91,346 - - - 91,346
944,631 437,389 35,928 249,296 1,667,244
2022
Less than
3 months 3o less than 110 less than
or on demand 12 months 2 years
HR={AA =E -z 2105 years Total
SHREREE  SRTZEA SRME MEEREF ECh
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ANREFTT ARETTT NS ANREFT ANREFTT
Trade and other payables RGeS AN
T 481,876 - - - 481,876
Lease labilties HERE 3,101 9,302 10,548 28,752 51,703
Loans from a controling shareholder  —% iR R & 234,819 - - - 234,819
Bank and other borrowings BITREMEE 34,518 423018 87,864 258,906 804,306
Liability component of the THRREFAEDS
Convertible Bonds 836 836 84,448 - 86,120
755,150 433,156 182,860 287,658 1,658,824
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34.FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES (Continued)
Credit risk arising from bank balances (Continued)
Capital management

The primary objective of the Group’s capital management is to
maintain the Group’s stability and growth.

The management regularly reviews and manages its capital structure
and makes adjustments to it by taking into consideration changes
in economic conditions, future capital requirements of the Group,
prevailing and projected profitability and operating cash flows,
projected capital expenditures and projected strategic investment
opportunities.

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is net debt
divided by the adjusted capital plus net debt. Net debt includes
loans from a controlling shareholder, bank and other borrowings,
trade and other payables, less cash and cash equivalents and
pledged and restricted deposits. Adjusted capital includes the
liability component of the Convertible Bonds and equity. The gearing
ratios as at the end of the reporting periods were as follows:

34. B 5 E e B 3 B R R BUR ()

RITEBELE 2 EERE (F)
EXER

AEBEAEEZTERREARER
SECRELER -

R MR L E R AARE B
RIEEE 2 28 KRB B %R AR
= . BT REHANEN RELRE R
% - A AR O R IR
S H{EH % -

AEENAERNBBLRERER - &
HRIEFERRALHBREARS INFE
H o FERBEERKRRER - RITR
HiptEE - BN B BRREE AR K
BRREMNESEBEYMURDEREK
ERHFR - RABRBEABEARRIE
HZRBEBIEEAE - RERPRZER

BRI

2023 2022

—E_=F —E-—F

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARET ARETTT

Loans from a controlling shareholder — & 2A% A% 5 & 5k 354,490 234,819
Bank and other borrowings RITREMER 674,696 711,594
Trade and other payables JERTE 5 BRI Eo b fE A~ 7B 448,149 481,876

Less: Cash and cash equivalents  J& : & RIREEEY (69,939) (93,151)

Pledged and restricted B R Z R HIF R
deposits (6,335) (7,596)
Net debt FEIR 1,401,061 1,327,542
Liability component of AMRESFAED

the Convertible Bonds 90,052 79,267
Equity 1% 397,612 44,541
Adjusted capital KRHEER 487,664 123,808
Adjusted capital and net debt KRR ERRFEE 1,888,725 1,451,350
Gearing ratio BERE G R 74% 92%
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e SRR M

For the year ended 31 March 2023 #HEZE—ZT=-—=F=A=+—HIFE

35.STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE  35.74 A Bl B Ak R 3k
COMPANY
Information about the statement of financial position of the Company REMHBARR QBT BEARREK 2 ERHR
at the end of the reporting period is as follows: I
31 March 31 March
2023 2022
—EBE_=H T HF
=HA=+-H =RA=+—H
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AEEET T
NON-CURRENT ASSET FRBEE
Interests in subsidiaries ISIEYNCIPA o 113,406 106,524
Total non-current asset FRBEERE 113,406 106,524
CURRENT ASSETS REEE
Other receivables H b U sk IE 571 622
Derivative financial instruments PTEEMTA 2,310 9,709
Cash and cash equivalents BeMReEEY 235 2,880
Total current assets REEEHAE 3,116 13,211
CURRENT LIABILITIES REAE
Other payables H R 4,097 2,082
Liability component of the BIE: H%E%?’E\T i
Convertible Bonds 90,052 -
Total current liabilities FRBaEEE 94,149 2,082
NET CURRENT wE (BB EERHE
(LIABILITIES) ASSETS (91,033) 11,129
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT A& ER KB EE
LIABILITIES 22,373 117,653
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES ERBEE
Liability component of MRESaESs
the Convertible Bonds - 79,267
Total non-current liabilities FRBEERE - 79,267
Net assets FEE 22,373 38,386
EQUITY i
Share capital &N 311,453 292,554
Convertible preference shares AI AR B IR - 299,515
Equity component of MR ESERE S
the Convertible Bonds 60,276 60,276
Reserves (Note) R (M) (349,356) (613,959)
TOTAL EQUITY R 22,373 38,386
This statement of financial position was approved and authorised for RPBHRARR ZEZ=F A=+t

issue by the Board of Directors on 27 June 2023 and signed on its i‘<<§$A%tt/ﬁ MIEEZRE  WANUT

behalf by: ATREESE
Cui Xintong Li Junjie
EFE 02
Director Director
EF EF
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35.STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE

35. A DX AR &R ()

COMPANY (Continued)
Note: BT
The movement of the Company’s reserves is as follows: NARREBESNT -
Share
Share Exchange  Contributed option Retained Other
premium reserve surplus reserve earnings reserves Total
RAGE MERE HABE BRERE REEH At a5t
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETT
At1 April 2022 R-E-—FMA-H 4,439,318 221,629 184,684 20,623 (5,526,961) 46,748 (613,959)
Profi for the year ERER - - - - (20,085) - (20,085)
Other comprehensive income EREHZARA
for the year
Exchange differences EiER
on franslation - 4,363 - - - - 4,363
Total comprehensive income EMEENALE
for the year - 4,363 - - (20,085) - (15,722)
Transactions with owners: HEEARS
Contribution and distributions FERAR
Lapse/forfeiture of share options BiRER/ R - - - (291) - - (291)
Share issued upon conversion of TARETRE LR
convertile preference shares ERf 280,616 - - - - - 280,616
At 31 March 2023 RZE-=FzA=1-A 4,719,934 225,992 184,684 20,332 (5,547,046) 46,748 (349,356)
Share
Share Exchange Contributed option Retained QOther
premium reserve surplus reserve earnings reserves Total
Ri&E NERE SARH BERR REET AthEs @t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREBTT AREBTTIL ARBTTIL ARETT ARETT ARETTL AREBTT
At 1 Aprdl 2021 R-E_—-FmA-H 4,439,318 187,432 184,684 20,623 (5,474,066) 46,748 (695,261)
Loss for the year EREE - - - - (52,8%) - (52,8%)
Other comprehensive income EREHZARA
for the year
Exchange differences EiER
on translation - 34,197 - - - - 34197
Total comprehensive income EMEENALE
for the year - 34,197 - - (62,896) - (18,69)
Transactions with owners: HEEARS
Contribution and distributions FERAR
Lapse/forfeiure of share options BiRER/ RK - - - - - - -
Share issued upon conversion of TARETRE LR
convertile preference shares £ - - - - - - =
At 31 March 2022 RZE--F=f=1-A 4,439,318 221,629 184,684 20,623 (5,526,961) 46,748 (613959
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AN
a

For the year ended 31 March 2023

BT R BT AE

HEZZ-=-F=A=1+—HILFE

36.EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

M

(i)

On 31 May 2023, the Company entered into a placing
agreement with a placing agent, pursuant to which the
Company has conditionally agreed to issue and the placing
agent conditionally agreed to procure, on a best effort basis,
not less than six placees to subscribe for convertible bonds
in an aggregate principal amount of up to HK$150.0 million.
On 23 June 2023, the convertible bonds with an aggregate
principal amount of HK$60.0 million was successfully placed by
the Company to no less than six placees upon completion of
the placing. Details of the placing are set out in the Company’s
announcements dated 31 May 2023 and 23 June 2023.

On 9 June 2023, the Company received a written confirmation
from the holder of the Convertible Bonds for its consent that the
initial maturity date of the Convertible Bonds (i.e. 14 June 2023)
shall be extended (the “Extension”) for another eighteen months
to the third anniversary of the date of issue of the Convertible
Bonds (i.e. 14 December 2024). Details of the Extension are set
out in the Company’s announcement dated 9 June 2023.

37.APPROVAL OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements were approved and

authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 27 June 2023.
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36. 2HPREE

@

(i)

R-E-_=FRA=1+—8 " ' ARF
MR ENRET LR EHE - Kt
RARBGEHEREZFITME S RIE
BIEHRERREEER NEFERD
RABEREARERSBERE A
150,000,000 % 7T 2 AI AR E 5 o 7
—E_=FXNAZ+=8" &KAQ7
RESETREXNEEASBES
60,000,000 7T 2 A] # iR (& % T 1T
DRINEBEREA - REFBERNEAR
RIEA_S-_=FRAA=+—HK
—ECZFXNAZT=ZHHRAE -

ARABM—ZZT-_=F XA NAESBA
BREFFBANEAEZRRE - &
ARRESFVEEEE (2T ==
FEXRATITB)EREH]) B
+T/ER - EEBRRESFEITZA
W=@FE (A -_Z_mFE+=-A+m
H) - THFHBEHNARRASHAT
To=FRNANBHRE -

MRS MR R

RAMBHRERER-_FT_=F7<A
T ERREREHAE RBERE -



Schedule of Principal Properties

EBYER

EEBREY T OEEN

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES REYE
Percentage
Category of held by
Address Lot No. the lease Use Lease expiry the Group
A %E
it R RS HEEH Jiike HHER iR
Portion of Guangze International N/A Medium-term lease Retail 2053 100%
Shopping Centre, NEA R E ZE “TR=F
135 Hunjiang Dajie,
Hunjiang District, The properties
Jilin Province, have a total gross
PRC floor area of
FRIEHE 75,065 5. m.
BIRE MFREEEER
BIIRHE135% 75,085 FJi K ©
BEEREYDOHBS
Car parking spaces of N/A Medium-term lease Car parks 2053 100%
Guangze International il RHHE FE5 “EhR=F
Shopping Centre,
135 Hunjiang Dajie, The properties
Hunjiang District, have a total gross
Jilin Province, floor area of
PRC 5,873 sg. m.
REENE NEREEERR
BIE 5873 F 7K
BIIAHE135%
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Schedule of Principal Properties

EBYER

PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT BRPYE
Estimated
gross Expected Percentage
floor area Stage of date of held by
Address (sq.m)  Uses Lease expiry completion completion the Group
B AREER st F5E
it (FHR) AR BHER TIRR ZIAH Fiisa
1. Changbaishan Ground Pine 676,497  Residential Residential: 2082 Construction in N/A 100%
Township International Resort and commercial Commercial: 2052 progress @A
(RELEZENMEERE R, (ncluding hotels) % : ZEN=F TgF
Guosong Village Donggang Town, FEREE [
Fusong County, (BIEEE)
Baishan, Jilin Province,
PRC
REERE
A LA
R
R ME
=1l
BERINE
BB B R
2. Guangze China House - Phase Il 32,181 Residential Residential: 2084 Construction in 2024 100%
(BEF=_H) and car parks Commercial: 2054 progress —EoME
North of National Highway 201, FEREES FE: ZF\mE TR
Hunjiang District,
Baishan, Jilin Province, PRC
hEENE
BIETE
201 Bt
BEERT_H
3. Guangze Jiuxi Red House - Phase Il 57,833 Residential Residential: 2090 Construction in 2024 100%
(BENERAFT=H) commercialand  Commercial: 2060 progress —“EomE
Xinli Vilage, car parks FE: ZENEE ERH
Jiujiao Street Office, - BER WE:ZTAEE
Jiutai District, e

Changchun, Jilin Province,
PRC

PEEMHE

RENGR

DR B SR LA
BENEAN_H
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COMPLETED PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE

FEHECHEAYE

Approximate
gross floor Percentage
area Year of held by
Address (sg. m) Uses Lease expiry Completion the Group
BH
BEEER rEHE
it (F5HXK) Jiike W TIFH PR
1. Portion of Guangze International 13,464 Residential Residential: 2083 2014 100%
Shopping Centre, and car parks FE:ZZN\=F ZT-WmF
135 Hunjiang Dajie, FER
Hunjiang District, BBl
Baishan, Jilin Province,
PRC
FEENE
HIEIE
BRI 135%
EEERBYTLED
2. Guangze China House Phase | 27,283 Residential and Residential: 2084 2019 100%
(EZH=—H) commercial Commercial: 2054 —Z—hHF
North of National Highway 201, FEREE FE: ZT\WEFE
Hunjiang District, ¥ —THMEF
Baishan, Jilin Province,
PRC
REEHE
BIEIR
201 B LA
EERE—H
3. Guangze China House Phase I(A) 969 Residential and Residential: 2084 2022 100%
(BEEH=—AH) commercial Commercial: 2054 ~ZE-—4F
North of National Highway 201, FERE%E % ZFN\mF

Hunjiang District,
Baishan, Jilin Province,
PRC

REENE

BB TE

201 EIE LA
EERZE—(AH

mE: —TANE
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Schedule of Principal Properties

EBYER

COMPLETED PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE
(continued)

Approximate
gross floor
area
Address (sg. m) Uses
BH
HEEER
it (F5HXK) R#

FEHECERYE (&)

Percentage
Year of held by
Lease expiry Completion the Group

A%
RHER RIEH  FEEMM

4. Guangze Red House Phase | 1,060 Residential,
(BRI —H), commercial
South of Gongyuan Road, and car parks
East of Jindalai e BER
North Street, Yanj, e
Jilin Province,

PRC

RE#EHE

TtE
REBEAREER
TR A
BRI

5. Guangze Red House Phase I 1,186 Residential,
(BRI —5), commercial
West of Jindalai, and carparks
North Street, *FE- BER
South of Lihua Road, (S
Yanxi Street, Yanji,

Jilin Province,

PRC

REEHE

&M

SERILE

7o RIE A A AL A
mfl

BEAAT 5

HUA YIN INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED 2 & BB 4% R A R A 7]

Residential: 2084 2016 100%
Commercial: 2054 —Z—~4F

fFx: ZEN\EF

[t il

Residential: 2085 2018 100%
Commercial: 2055 —Z—)\F

FE: ZZNREF

H¥: —THRF



COMPLETED PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE BFELESERWE (&)
(continued)

Approximate
gross floor Percentage
area Year of held by
Address (sg. m) Uses Lease expiry Completion the Group
BH
BEEER K5E
3t (F5HXK) R# it TIFH RS
6. Guangze Red House Phase Il and 2,685 Residential and Residential: 2085 2019 100%
Relocated District commercial Commercial: 2055 —ZF—F
(BRAN=BAEER), FEREE FE: ZEN\RF
East of Wenhua East Street, HE: —ZRhE
Yaniji, Jilin Province,
PRC
REENE
&M
XAv AR
BEAN=HMERER
7. Guangze Jiuxi Red House - Phase | 16,588 Residential 2090 2022 100%
(BENELF—H) = —TNEF —EC-CF

Xinli Village,

Jiujiao Street Office,

Jiutai District,

Changchun, Jilin Province,
PRC

REENE

RENGR

N ER BRI
BERLN—H
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Five-year Financial Summary

HFIMBHE

(Expressed in RMB million, (RBEESHD 28I Year ended 31 March
unless otherwise stated) ARBEERES) HE=A=1-HLEE
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
—E-=F -E-C kS “E-EF ey if:3
(Restated) (Re-presented)
(E51) (E51)
(note 1) (note 2)
(1) (Ftsz2)
Revenue W 394.1 1121 1563.3 242.7 654.5
Gross profit l0ss) EF(ER) 56.1 318 (84.5) (44.6) 1745
Profit (loss) for the year from REFBEERKL
continuing operations FERET (BB) 366.0 (57.0) (515.2) (1367.5) 16
Profit (loss) for the year from REBRILEEEH L
discontinued operations FERH (FE) - - - (416.9) 114
Profit loss) for the year EERN(ER) 366.0 (57.0) (515.2) (1,784.4) 23.0
Basic eamings (loss) from continuing ~~ REHELLEK 2 &R
operations per share (RMB cents) EAZF(BR)
(AE%S) 517 (0.84) (8.94) (25.99) 0.22
Total assets BEE 2,285.7 2,072.0 2,281.3 2,555.8 4,830.7
Total liabilties Bak 1,888.1 2,0275 2,246.2 2,103.9 2,502.4
Net assets FEE 397.6 445 35.1 4519 2,328.3
Net assets value per HREEFE
share (RMB) (AE%) 0.055 0.007 0.005 0.09 0.44

(1) The figures in respect of total liabilities, net assets and net assets value
per share were restated as certain repayments of loans from a controlling
shareholder during the year ended 31 March 2021 inadvertently recorded
in consolidated statement of other comprehensive income as exchange

differences on translation of foreign operations.

(1) B2 -_—F=ZA=+—HIFE A#
BAaE FEAERBREAEFEZHETEE
NA—EERBRRERZE TER  WHGE
AHMEERERBEINEAREGINEY
EEZERZSRE-

(2) The figures in respect of profit or loss items have been re-presented to reflect  (2) ARG FSEIBIEE B FLEET] - UK

the continuing and discontinued operations caused by the Fengrun Disposal.
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HUAYIN INTERNATIONAL

HUA YIN INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
EZEBRERERQH

Room1305, 13th Floor, China Resources Building,
No. 26 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong
BEE{FBEE265E B AE13121305F
Tel EiE: (852) 2209 2888 Fax {H#E: (852) 2209 2988
www.huayininternational.com
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